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behalf of Ricky Lovelien.

THE COURT:  Good morning.  

All right.  Before we begin, just a few comments to

remind everyone about the conduct that is expected in the

courtroom.  Please do remember that it is a courtroom and not a

sporting event; therefore, no indications of your opinions, no

matter how much you may agree or disagree with what is being

said, is permitted, meaning no verbal outbursts, no body

language, or distracting language, or other disrespectful

conduct is appropriate.  The marshals do have the authority to

remove anyone that displays such conduct.  

And as for the defendants, we do have a holding room

right next door in the hallway there that does have a speaker

system set up, so that if they cannot comply with the

requirements in the courtroom, then they can sit in the holding

room and still be able to hear what is going on in court even

if they cannot be physically present.

We also have a policy of no electronic devices, so,

this means iPads, iPhone, laptops cannot be in the courtroom.

Even if they are turned off or in the vibrate mode or privacy

mode, they still cannot be in the courtroom, so please take a

moment and double check and take them outside if you did

accidently bring one in.

We do not have any audio recording or video recording

in any of the federal courts; and, therefore, the electronic
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devices are not permitted.  The attorneys are permitted to have

electronic devices so that they can review their notes, present

evidence and so forth.  And the US Marshals and court security

officers are permitted to have electronic devices for the

purposes of communicating with each other to make sure we can

keep everything peaceful and orderly today.

All right.  So, let's go ahead and get started with

some of the questions that I have for you regarding the jury

instructions and verdict form, and then you tell me your

thoughts as well.

Last time we had the superseding indictment redacted

and provided to the jury in the redacted form.  So, I was

assuming, and I shouldn't assume anything, so I should probably

ask.  Is it still the case that the parties prefer to have the

redacted superseding indictment provided or the entire

superseding indictment?

MR. TANASI:  Redacted, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And --

MR. MARCHESE:  Parker joins.

THE COURT:  Mr. Leventhal, you agree?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Yes, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Perez?

MR. PEREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we can use the same one

that we used last time.
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Then on Jury Instruction No. 24, Drexler's name was

added.

On Jury Instruction 30, the stipulation doesn't

specify, and I wasn't sure if you wanted to specify by exhibit

number or any other language which tattoos belong to whom or

which firearms belong to whom, because that was the nature of

the stipulation, but I don't have a written stipulation.  It

was just spoken into the record.  So, if you wanted me to add

that, I need to know.

MR. TANASI:  Which one what was that, Your Honor?  I

apologize.

THE COURT:  Number 30 is the stipulation.

MS. CREEGAN:  That's correct, Your Honor.  It's

No. 30.  And from the government's perspective, it's not

necessary to lay it out.  We will point it out in our closing.

I think that the -- just alerting the jury how to consider a

stipulation is sufficient.

THE COURT:  All right.  Does defense agree or

disagree?

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I think that's sufficient.

MR. MARCHESE:  Yeah, no objection from Parker.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  No objection.

MR. MARCHESE:  I think the pictures speak for

themselves.

MR. PEREZ:  And no objection.
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THE COURT:  And then Jury Instruction No. 33 isn't a

verbatim from the model jury instructions, but the commentary

to the instructions say that that particular instruction has

been provided and written in that format to avoid the term

"expert" in the body of the instruction.

Now, the model jury instruction is entitled "Opinion

Testimony, Expert Witness," but I didn't know then if you

wanted to keep the term expert witness or just title it

"Opinion Testimony," or are we overthinking it.  

Or I just wanted to give you the opportunity to be

aware that that was the commentary for that particular

instruction.  But the instruction -- the body of the

instruction is written to avoid using the word expert, but then

the title includes the word expert.

So, if you have an objection to using the word

expert, we could just title it opinion testimony, if you think

it would be more helpful for the jury to figure out who

would -- you know, and have the term expert witness at the top,

I'm fine with that, too, but I wanted to give you the options.

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I think the instruction as

written is fine.  I think the language kind of flushes out the

difference that we were aiming for yesterday.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. MARCHESE:  Parker concurs.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Drexler joins.
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MR. PEREZ:  Lovelien joins.

MS. CREEGAN:  No objection from the government.

THE COURT:  All right.  And then I did find --

actually, I didn't.  Staff member.  I'll give them credit.

Found a typo on page 3 of the verdict form on line 8.  It

says -- all right.  So, page 3, line 8, where it says Count

One, it should say Count Two.

Were there any other typos that you all found?

MS. CREEGAN:  Not from the government.

MR. TANASI:  Not from the defense, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  And any other additions or

deletions that you want to bring to the Court's attention

before we finalize these?

MR. TANASI:  None from the defense, Your Honor.

MS. CREEGAN:  And not from the government.

THE COURT:  All right.  That sounds like we are ready

to go with just those changes, just the typo that's been fixed.

We're keeping the title.  We can use the redacted superseding

indictment from before.  And we added in the instructions that

were requested yesterday.

All right.  So then we'll bring the jury in at 10:00.

We do have the breakfasts there, so as they come in and gather,

they can get a quick breakfast.  And then we'll begin with the

government's closing.

Do you think that you'll be done before the noon
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break?

MS. CREEGAN:  I think it depends how long jury

instructions take.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MS. CREEGAN:  Our estimated time is a little under

two hours.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So then we'll take our

lunch break as soon as the government's done with its closing,

take an hour, and then the defense can begin with its closing.

Are you going in any particular order?

MR. TANASI:  I think we're still sorting that out,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. TANASI:  Depending kind of on how the

government's closing goes.

THE COURT:  All right.  And then the other question I

had was as to Friday and whether or not the jurors would be

deliberating on Friday.

And my common practice always is to leave it up to

the jury to decide whether or not they want to stay.  Sometimes

if they think they're close, they just want to get it done.

But other times they've already made plans.

In our schedule that they've -- that we've provided

to them and in the promise that I've made to them in court that

you've heard is that they will not ever be required to be in
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service -- in jury service for longer or for more days than

what is represented in the calendar that we provide to them,

with the caveat that sometimes they'll be here less than what's

in the calendar, but that way they could set up their schedule

with their family and work and so forth.

So, it's reasonable if they already have plans on

Friday and don't want to come in on Friday to deliberate, but

the room is available and I'm here, and there's no reason for

them not to if they decide that they want to.

So, remind me if I forget at some point to ask them

about that, so that they know if they need to be here or not,

so that you know if you need to wear a suit that day or not.

And so just make sure again that Aaron has all of your contact

information, so that if we do have jury questions or a verdict,

that we can contact you right away, and also so that we can

tell you when the jury arrives and when the jury leaves, so

that you know when you're on call and when you're not on call.

Anything else?  Any other questions that you have for

me before we break and then come back at 10:00 for jury

instructions?

MR. TANASI:  That covers it, Your Honor, I think.

MR. MARCHESE:  No, Your Honor.

MS. CREEGAN:  I'm sorry.  Nothing from the United

States.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Then we'll take our
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break and start back up at 1:00 a.m.

MR. TANASI:  Thank you.

(Recess, 9:23 a.m.  Resumed 10:07 a.m.  Jury out.)

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.  We are

back on the record.  Can we bring the jury in?

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, actually, I apologize.  We

had one issue that came up with respect to the jury

instructions that we were trying to kind of narrow down here,

and I apologize for it being so late in the game.

But with respect to Jury Instruction 13.1, I'm just

not -- collectively, we're just not seeing the model

instruction that that comes from.  And we think it goes a

little bit further than the model instruction with respect to

assault on a federal officer.  It's almost like a

anti-self-defense when self-defense has been ruled

impermissible.

MS. CREEGAN:  Your Honor, that's correct.  That's not

from the model instruction.  This was a stipulated instruction

both from the first trial and stipulated before.

The paragraph incorporates case law.  That

instruction comes directly from Span, and there's many, many

cases that an unloaded firearm is a dangerous weapon, including

a cell phone in a pocket pretending to be a firearm.  So it is
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a correct statement of law.

MR. TANASI:  And again, Your Honor has ruled that

Span doesn't applied in this case Feola doesn't apply in this

case.  There is no self-defense in this case.  And this

instruction again would kind of rebut the self-defense that

Your Honor has ruled is impermissible.

So, it seems like it goes kind of further than is

necessary for the scope of the evidence.

THE COURT:  I don't know what you mean by Span

doesn't apply in this case.  That's what we are applying is

Span, and that Span requires the extra proffer that wasn't met.

That's exactly what we're using is Span.

MR. TANASI:  And I understand that, Your Honor.  But,

again, this seems to refute -- if there were a self-defense

argument that were in the jury instructions, this would seem to

be a refute to that or a rebut to that.

THE COURT:  Span is a correct statement of the law.

The Court is bound to follow Span, and this jury instruction is

based on the information in Span and the law provided by the

circuit.

MR. TANASI:  Understood, Your Honor.  I just want to

object for the record.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. MARCHESE:  Parker joins.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Drexler joins.
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MR. PEREZ:  Lovelien joins.

THE COURT:  Anything else?

MR. MARCHESE:  No, Your Honor.

MR. TANASI:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's go ahead and call in the

jury.

(Jury in.)

THE COURT:  The jury may be seated.

All right.  Welcome back, ladies and gentlemen of the

jury.  We are going to go ahead first and have the counsel go

ahead and stand up and make appearances for the record, and

then I will read to you the jury instructions.

MR. MYHRE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Good morning

ladies and gentlemen.  Steven Myhre, Erin Creegan, Nadia Ahmed

on behalf of the United States.

THE COURT:  Good morning.

MR. TANASI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Thank you.

Good morning, folks.  Rich Tanasi for Steven Stewart.

Also with us at counsel table is Brian Glynn.  No long with us

is Tori Bakken.  She's off to school.

MR. MARCHESE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Good

morning, ladies and gentlemen of the jury.  Jess Marchese on

behalf of Eric Parker.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Good morning, everyone.  Todd

Leventhal on behalf of Scott Drexler.
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MR. PEREZ:  Good morning, everyone.  Shawn Perez on

behalf of Ricky Lovelien.

THE COURT:  Good morning.  

All right.  So, these are the jury instructions in

United States of America, Plaintiffs, versus O. Scott Drexler,

Ricky Lovelien, Eric J. Parker, Steven A. Stewart, Defendants,

in Case No. 2:16-cr-046-GMN-PAL.

This is the index.  I'm not going to go through and

read it, but you'll see here that each of the jury instructions

is titled and has a jury number which is listed, and the number

will be on the top right-hand corner of the jury instruction.

Jury Instruction No. 1.

Duties of Jury to Find Facts and Follow Law.

Members of the jury, now that you have heard all the

evidence, it is my duty to instruct you on the law that applies

to this case.  A copy of these instructions will be available

in the jury room for you to consult.

It is your duty to weigh and evaluate all the

evidence received in the case and, in that process, to decide

the facts.  It is also your duty to apply the law as I give it

to you to the facts as you find them, whether you agree with

the law or not.  You must decide the case solely on the

evidence and the law and must not be influenced by any personal

likes or dislikes, opinions, prejudices, or sympathy.  You will

recall that you took an oath promising to do so at the
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beginning of the case.

You must follow all these instructions and not single

out some and ignore others.  They are all important.  Please do

not read into these instructions or into anything that I may

have said or done any suggestion as to what your verdict --

what verdict you should return.  That is a matter entirely up

to you.  You cannot substitute your sense of justice, whatever

that means, for your duty to follow the law, whether you agree

with it or not.  It is not for you to determine whether the law

is just or whether the law is unjust.  This cannot be your

task.

Instruction No. 2.  

Charge Against Defendant Not Evidence.  Presumption

of Innocence.  Burden of Proof.

The superseding indictment is not evidence.  The

defendants have pleaded not guilty to the charges.  The

defendants are presumed to be innocent unless and until the

government proves the defendants guilty beyond a reasonable

doubt.  In addition, the defendants do not have to testify or

present any evidence to prove innocence.  The government has

the burden of proving every element of the charges beyond a

reasonable doubt.

Instruction No. 3.  

Reasonable Doubt Defined.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves
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you firmly convinced that the defendant is guilty.  It is not

required that the government prove guilt beyond all possible

doubt.

A reasonable doubt is a doubt based on reason and

common sense and is not based purely on speculation.  It may

arise from a careful and impartial consideration of all the

evidence or from lack of evidence.

If, after a careful and impartial consideration of

all the evidence, you are not convinced beyond a reasonable

doubt that the defendant is guilty, it is your duty to find the

defendant not guilty.  On the other hand, if, after a careful

and impartial consideration of all the evidence, you are

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant is

guilty, it is your duty to find the defendant guilty.

Instruction No. 4.

Separate Consideration for Each Defendant.  

Although the defendants are being tried together, you

must give separate consideration to each defendant.  In doing

so, you must determine which evidence in the case applies to

each defendant, disregarding any evidence admitted solely

against some other defendants.  The fact that you may have --

the fact that you may find one of the defendants guilty or not

guilty should not control your verdict as to any other

defendants.

Instruction No. 5.  

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 17

Separate Consideration of Multiple Counts and

Multiple Defendants.

A separate crime is charged against one or more of

the defendants in each count.  The charges have been joined for

trial.  You must decide the case of each defendant on each

crime charged against that defendant separately.  Your verdict

on any count as to any defendant should not control your

verdict on any other count as to any other defendant.

Jury Instruction No. 6.  

On or About Explained.  

The superseding indictment charges that the offenses

alleged were committed on or about certain dates.

Although it is necessary for the government to prove

beyond a reasonable doubt that the offenses were committed on a

date reasonably near the dates alleged in the superseding

indictment, it is not necessary for the government to prove the

offenses were committed precisely on the dates charged.

Instruction No. 7.

Count One - Conspiracy to Commit an Offense -

Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count One of the

superseding indictment with conspiring to commit an offense

against the United States, in violation of Section 371 of Title

18 of the US Code.  In order for a defendant to be found guilty

of that charge, the government must prove each of the following
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elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

First, beginning on or about March 28 of 2014, and

ending on or about March 2nd of 2016, there was an agreement

between two or more persons to commit at least one of the

following crimes charged in the indictment.

Number 1 is assault on a federal officer in violation

of Title 18 of the United States Code Section 111(a)(1) and

Section (b);

Number 2 is threatening a federal law enforcement

officer in violation of United States Code, Section 115(a)(1)

and (b); 

Number 3 is use and carry of a firearm in relation to

a crime of violence in violation of Title 18 of the United

States Code, Section 924(c);

Number 4 is obstruction of the due administration of

justice, in violation of Title 18 of the United States Code,

Section 1503; 

Number 5 is interference with interstate commerce by

extortion, in violation of Title 18 of the United States Code,

Section 1951; 

And Number 6 is interstate -- I should say; or

Number 6, interstate travel in aid of extortion, in

violation of Title 18 of the United States Code, Section 1952.

Instruction No. 7.1.

The Second Elements.  
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Second, the defendant became a member of the

conspiracy knowing of at least one of its objects and intending

to help accomplish it; and

Third, one of the members of the conspiracy performed

at least one overt act for the purpose of carrying out the

conspiracy.

A conspiracy is a kind of criminal partnership - an

agreement of two or more persons to commit one or more crimes.

The crime of conspiracy is the agreement to do something

unlawful; it does not matter whether the crime agreed upon was

committed.

For a conspiracy to have existed, it is not necessary

that the conspirators made a formal agreement or that they

agreed on every detail of the conspiracy.  It is enough -- it

is not enough, however, that they simply met, discussed matters

of common interest, acted in similar ways, or perhaps helped

one another.  You must find that there was a plan to commit at

least one of the crimes as I just listed as the object of the

conspiracy with all of you agreeing as to the particular crime

which the conspirators agreed to commit.

One becomes a member of a conspiracy by willfully

participating in an unlawful plan with the intent to advance or

further some object or purpose of the conspiracy, even though

the person does not have full knowledge of all the details of

the conspiracy.  Furthermore, one who willfully joins an
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existing conspiracy is as responsible for it as the

originators.  On the other hand, one who has no knowledge of a

conspiracy, but happens to act in a way which further some

object or purpose of the conspiracy, does not there therefore

become a conspirator.  Similarly, a person does not become a

conspirator merely by associating with one or more persons who

are conspirators nor merely by knowing that a conspiracy

exists.

An overt act does not itself have to be unlawful.  A

lawful act may be an element of a conspiracy if it was done for

the purpose of carrying out the conspiracy.  The government is

not required to prove that the defendant personally did one of

the overt acts.

Jury Instruction No. 8.

Count Two - Conspiracy to Impede or Injure a Federal

Officer - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Two of the

superseding indictment with conspiracy to prevent by force,

intimidation, or threats of violence federal law enforcement

officers from discharging the duties of their office under the

United States, and to induce by force, intimidation, and

threats federal law enforcement officers to leave the place

where their duties were required to be performed, in violation

of Section 372 of Title 18 of the United States Code.  In order

for a defendant to be found guilty of that charge, the
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government must prove each of the following elements beyond a

reasonable doubt.

First, beginning on or about March 28th of 2014, and

ending on or about March 2nd of 2016, there was an agreement

between two or more persons to do one of the following:

Number 1.  To prevent by force, intimidation, or

threats, federal law enforcement officers from discharging the

duties of their office under the United States; or

Number 2.  To induce by force, intimidation, or

threats any federal law enforcement officer of the United

States to leave the place where their duties were required to

be performed; and

Second, the defendant became a member of the

conspiracy knowing of at least one of its objects and intending

to help accomplish it.

Instruction No. 8.1.

Unlike Count One, the government does not have to

prove that one of the members of the conspiracy performed at

least one overt act for the purpose of carrying out the

conspiracy.

For a conspiracy to have existed, like in Count One,

it is not necessary that the conspirators made a formal

agreement or that they agreed on every detail of the

conspiracy.  It is not enough, however, that they simply met,

discussed matters of common interest, acted in similar ways, or
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perhaps helped one another.  You must find that there was a

plan to commit at least one of the alleged acts of the

conspiracy, with all of you agreeing as to the particular

object which the conspirators agreed to commit.

One becomes a member of a conspiracy by willfully

participating in the unlawful plan with the intent to advance

or further some object or purpose of the conspiracy, even

though the person does not have full knowledge of all the

details of the conspiracy.  Furthermore, one who willfully

joins an existing conspiracy is as responsible for it as the

originators.  On the other hand, one who has no knowledge of a

conspiracy but happens to act in a way which furthers some

object or purpose of the conspiracy, does not thereby become a

conspirator.  Similarly, a person does not become a conspirator

merely by associating with one or more persons who are

conspirators nor merely by knowing that a conspiracy exists.

Instruction No. 9.  

Conspiracy - Knowledge of and Association with Other

Conspirators.

A conspiracy may continue for a long period of time

and may include the performance of many transactions.  It is

not necessary that all members of the conspiracy join it at the

same time, and one may become a member of a conspiracy without

full knowledge of all the details of the unlawful scheme or the

names, identities, or locations of all of the other members.
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Even though a defendant did not directly conspire

with other conspirators in the overall scheme, the defendant

has, in effect, agreed to participate in the conspiracy if the

government proves each of the following beyond a reasonable

doubt that:  

Number 1.  The defendant directly conspired with one

or more of the coconspirators to carry out at least one of the

objects of the conspiracy;

Number 2.  That defendant knew or had reason to know

that other conspirators were involved with those with whom the

defendant directly conspired; and

Number 3.  The defendant had reason to believe that

whatever benefits the defendant might get from the conspiracy

were probably dependent upon the success of the entire venture.

It is not a defense that a person's participation in

a conspiracy was minor or for a short period of time.

Instruction No. 10.  

Knowingly - Defined.

An act is done knowingly if a defendant is aware of

the act and does not act through ignorance, mistake, or

accident.  The government is not required to prove that any one

of the defendants knew that his acts or omissions were

unlawful.  You may consider evidence of the defendant's words,

acts, or omissions, along with the other evidence, in deciding

whether each defendant acted knowingly.
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Instruction No. 11.

Proof of Intent or Knowledge.

The intent of the person or the knowledge that a

person possesses at any given time, may not ordinarily be

proved directly, because there's no way of directly

scrutinizing the workings of the human mind.  In determining

the issue of what a person knew or what a person intended at a

particular time, you may consider any statements made or acts

by that person and all other facts and circumstances received

in evidence which may aid in your determination of that

person's knowledge or intent.

You may infer, but you are certainly not required to

infer, that a person intends the natural and probable

consequences of acts knowingly done or knowingly omitted.  It

is entirely up to you, however, to decide what facts to find

from the evidence received during this trial.

Instruction No. 12.

Mere Presence.  

Mere presence at the scene of a crime or mere

knowledge that a crime is being committed is not sufficient to

establish that the defendant committed the crime of conspiracy.

The defendant must be a participant and not merely a knowing

spectator.  The defendant's presence may be considered by the

jury along with other evidence in the case.

Instruction No. 13.  
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Count Five - Assault on Federal Officer or Employee

with a Deadly or Dangerous Weapon - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Five of the

superseding indictment with assault on a federal officer in

violation of Section 111(b) of Title 18 of the United States

Code.  In order for the defendant to be found guilty of that

charge, the government must prove each of the following

elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

First, the defendant forcibly assaulted a federal

officer or employee;

Second, the defendant did so while the federal

officer or employee was engaged in or on account of his or her

official duties; and

Third, the defendant used a deadly or dangerous

weapon.

There is a forcible assault when one person

intentionally threatens another coupled with an apparent

ability to inflict injury on another which causes a reasonable

apprehension of immediate bodily harm.

A reasonable apprehension of immediate bodily harm is

determined with reference to a reasonable person aware of the

circumstances known to the victim.  Circumstances unknown to

the victim are not included.

The government is not required to prove that the

defendant knew the victim was a federal officer.  The
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government is also not required to prove that the defendant

intended to cause bodily injury.

Instruction No. 13.1.

A firearm, loaded or unloaded, is a dangerous weapon.

Federal officers acting in the good faith performance of their

duties may not be forcibly resisted by another.

Instruction No. 14.  

Count Eight - Threatening a Federal Law Enforcement

officer - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Eight of

superseding indictment with threatening to assault a federal

officer in violation of Section 115 of Title 18 of the United

States Code.

In order for the defendants to be found guilty of

that charge, the government must prove each of the following

elements beyond a reasonable doubt;

First, the defendants made a statement or did an act

that constituted a threat to assault a federal law enforcement

officer;

Second, the defendant intended the statement or act

to be a threat or made the statement or did the act knowing the

words or actions would be viewed as a threat;

Third, that a reasonable person making the statement

or doing the act would foresee that the statement or act would

be interpreted by those to whom the maker communicated the
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statement or act as a serious threat; and

Fourth, that the threat was made with the intent to

impede, intimidate, or interfere with the federal law

enforcement officer or to retaliate for the performance of his

or her official duties.

A threat is a serious statement expressing an

intention to inflict bodily injury at once or the future, as

distinguished from idle or careless talk, exaggeration, or

something said in a joking manner.

Instruction No. 14.1.

To determine whether or not statements or acts

constitute a threat, you should consider the circumstances

under which the alleged threat was made, including its context

with respect to surrounding events, the reactions of those who

heard the statements or saw the acts, the physical and mental

condition of the defendant, and whether the statements or acts

were conditional.

It is not necessary that the government prove that

the defendant intended to carry out the threat or that he had

the present ability to carry out the threat.  It is not

necessary that the government prove the exact words or actions

that constitute the threat.

The defendant need not communicate the threat

directly to the intended target.

The government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt
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that the victim was a federal law enforcement officer at the

time the threat was made, but the government does not have to

prove the defendant knew that he or she was a federal law

enforcement officer.

A federal law enforcement officer is any officer,

agent, or other employee of the United States government who is

authorized by law or by a government agency to engage in or

supervise the prevention, detection, investigation, or

prosecution of any violation of federal criminal law.

"Impede" means to stop the progress, obstruct, or

hinder.  "Intimidate" means to make timid or fearful, to

inspire or affect with fear, to frighten or to deter.  And

"interfere with" means to come in to collision with, to

intermeddle, to hinder, to interpose, or to intervene.  To

"retaliate" means to return for like, to act in reprisal for

some past act.

Instruction No. 15.  

Count Twelve - Obstruction of Justice - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Twelve of the

superseding indictment with obstruction of justice in violation

of Section 1503 of Title 18 of the United States Code.  In

order for a defendant to be found guilty of that charge, the

government must prove each of the following elements beyond a

reasonable doubt:

First, the defendant influenced, obstructed, or
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impeded, or tried to influence, obstruct, or impede the due

administration of justice; and

Second, the defendant acted corruptly, or by threats

or force, or by any threatening communication with the intent

to obstruct justice.

The government need not prove that the defendant's

sole or even primary intent was to obstruct justice, so long as

the government proves beyond a reasonable doubt that one of the

defendant's intentions was to obstruct justice.  The

defendant's intention to obstruct justice must be substantial.

The word "corruptly" as used in this instruction

means that the act must be done with the purpose of obstructing

justice.

Instruction No. 16.  

Count Fourteen - Hobbs Act Extortion - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Fourteen of the

superseding indictment with extortion by force, violence, or

fear in violation of Section 1951 of Title 18 of the United

States Code.  In order for a defendant to be found guilty of

that charge, the government must prove each of the following

elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

First, the defendant induced someone to part with

property by the wrongful use of actual or threatened force,

violence, or fear;

Second, the defendant acted with the intent to obtain
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property;

Third, commerce from one state to another was

affected in some way.

A defendant's claim of right to the property is not a

defense.

The word "fear" as used in this instruction means an

apprehension, concern, or anxiety about physical violence or

harm that is reasonable under the circumstances.

Conduct affects interstate commerce if it in any way

interferes with, changes, or alters the movement or

transportation or flow of goods, merchandise, money, or other

property in commerce between or among the states.  The effect

can be minimal.  It is not necessary to prove that the

defendant intended to obstruct, delay, or interfere with

interstate commerce or that the purpose of the alleged crime

was to affect interstate commerce.  Further, you do not have to

decide whether the effect on interstate commerce was to be

harmful or beneficial to a particular business or to commerce

in general.  You do not even have to find that there was an

actual effect on commerce.

Instruction No. 16.1.  

All that is necessary to prove this element is that

the natural consequences of the offense potentially caused an

effect on interstate commerce to any degree, however minimal or

slight.
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Instruction No. 17.

Count Sixteen - Interstate or Foreign Travel in Aid

of Extortion - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Count Sixteen of the

superseding indictment with violating Section 1952(a)(2) of

Title 18 of the United States Code.  In order for the defendant

to be found guilty of that charge, the government must prove

each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:  

First, that the defendant traveled in interstate

commerce or used a facility in interstate commerce, namely the

Internet or World Wide Web, with the intent to commit a crime

of violence in furtherance of an unlawful activity, namely

extortion in violation of Nevada law;

Second, after doing so, the defendant committed or

attempted to commit the violent crime in furtherance of the

unlawful activity.

Nevada Revised Statute Section 205.320, concerning

extortion, provides in pertinent part, that a person who, with

the intent to extort or gain any money or other property . . .

or to do or abet or procure any illegal or wrongful act,

whether or not the purpose is accomplished, threatens, directly

or indirectly, to injure a person or property, has committed

the offense of extortion.

You are instructed that assault on a federal officer,

Count Five, and threatening a federal officer, Count Eight, are
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crimes of violence.  It is for you to determine whether the

defendant traveled in interstate commerce or used a facility in

interstate commerce with intent to commit a crime of violence

in furtherance of the unlawful activity.

Instruction No. 18.  

Counts Six, Nine and Fifteen - Using, Carrying or

Brandishing a Firearm During and in Relation to a Crime of

Violence - Elements.

The defendants are charged in Counts Six, Nine, and

Fifteen of the superseding indictment with using, carrying, and

brandishing a firearm during and in relation to three different

crimes of violence in violation of Section 924(c) of Title 18

of the United States Code.  The crimes of violence are:

Count Five, assault on a federal officer, which is

the underlying crime for Count Six.  

Count Eight, threatening a federal officer, which is

the underlying crime for Count Nine, and

Count Fourteen, interference with interstate commerce

by extortion, which is the underlying crime for Count Fifteen.

In order for a defendant to be found guilty of any

one of these charges, the government must prove each of the

following elements beyond a reasonable doubt;

First, the defendant committed the underlying crime

as charged in Counts Five, Eight, or Fourteen of the

superseding indictment, all of which I instruct you are crimes
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of violence; and

Second, that the defendant knowingly used or carried

a firearm during and in relation to that crime.

Instruction No. 18.1.

A defendant used a firearm if he actively employed

the firearm during and in relation to the crime of violence.

A defendant carried a firearm if he knowingly

possessed it and held, moved, conveyed, or transported it in

some manner on his person or in a vehicle.

A defendant used or carried a firearm during and in

relation to the crime of firearm -- let me start that again.

A defendant used or carried a firearm during and in

relation to the crime if the firearm facilitated or played a

role in the crime as charged in that particular count of the

superseding indictment.

If you find a defendant guilty of using or carrying a

firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence in

violation of Section 924(c) of Title 18 of the United States

Code, as charged in Counts Six, Nine, or Fifteen of the

superseding indictment, you will be asked to find if the

government proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant

brandished the firearm during and in relation to the crime of

violence.

A defendant brandished a firearm if he displayed all

or part of the firearm, or otherwise made the presence of the
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firearm known to another person, in order to intimidate that

person, regardless of whether the firearm was directly visible

to that person.

Instruction No. 19.

The term "firearm" means any weapon which will or is

designed to or may be readily converted to expel a projectile

by the action of an explosive, or the frame or receiver of any

such weapon.  The government is not required to prove that a

firearm was loaded or operable.

Instruction No. 20.

Liability for Substantive Offense Committed by

Coconspirator.

Each member of the conspiracy is responsible for the

actions of the other conspirators performed during the course

and in furtherance of the conspiracy.  If one member of a

conspiracy commits a crime in furtherance of the conspiracy,

the other members have also, under the law, committed that

crime.

Therefore, you may find the defendant guilty of the

crimes as charged in Counts Five, Six, Eight, Nine, Twelve,

Fourteen, Fifteen, or Sixteen of the superseding indictment if

the government has proved each of the following elements beyond

a reasonable doubt:

First, that a person committed the crimes as alleged

in Counts Five, Six, Eight, Nine, Twelve, Fourteen, Fifteen or
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Sixteen of the superseding indictment;

Second, the person was a member of the conspiracy

charged in Counts One or Two or both; and

Third, the person committed the crime in furtherance

of the conspiracy charged in Counts One or Two or both.

Instruction No. 20.1.

The Fourth Element.

Fourth, the defendant was a member of the same

conspiracy at the time the offense charged in Counts Five, Six,

Eight, Nine, Twelve, Fourteen, Fifteen, or Sixteen were

committed; and

Fifth, the offense fell within the scope of the

unlawful agreement and could reasonably have been foreseen to

be a necessary or natural consequence of the unlawful

agreement.

Instruction No. 21.  

Aiding and Abetting.

A defendant may be found guilty of the crimes charged

in Counts Five, Six, Eight, Nine, Twelve, Fourteen, Fifteen, or

Sixteen of the superseding indictment even if the defendant

personally did not commit the act or acts constituting the

crime but aided and abetted in its commission.  To prove a

defendant guilty of a crime by aiding and abetting, the

government must prove each of the following beyond a reasonable

doubt:
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First, the crime was committed by someone;

Second, the defendant aided, counseled, commanded,

induced, or procured that person with respect to at least one

element of the crime; and

Third, the defendant acted with the intent to

facilitate the crime; and

Fourth, the defendant acted before the crime was

completed.  

It is not enough that the defendant merely associated

with the person committing the crime, or unknowingly or

intentionally did things that were helpful to the person, or

was present at the scene of the crime.  The evidence must show

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with the

knowledge and intention of helping that person commit the

crime.

Instruction No. 21.1.

A defendant acts with the intent to facilitate the

crime when the defendant actively participates in a criminal

venture with advanced knowledge of the crime and having

acquired that knowledge when the defendant still had a

realistic opportunity to withdraw from the crime.

The government is not required to prove precisely

which defendant actually committed the crime and which

defendant aided and abetted.

Instruction No. 22.  
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Conduct of Law Enforcement Officers.

The conduct, in other words, actions of the law

enforcement officers in this case is not at issue.  Under the

law, the conduct of the law enforcement officers in this case

cannot justify or excuse an assault, a threat, or an extortion

by force by another.  In your deliberations, you are not to

discuss or consider whether you agree or disagree with any

Court orders authorizing the impoundment operations, any

impoundment operations conducted by the Bureau of Land

Management, BLM, and National Park Service, NPS, or any actions

or inactions taken by BLM or NPS officers on April 12th of

2014.

Instruction No. 23.

Defendant's Decision Not to Testify.

A defendant in a criminal case has a constitutional

right not to testify.  You may not draw any inference of any

kind from the fact that the defendant did not testify.

Instruction No. 24.

Defendant's Decision to Testify.

One of the defendants, Mr. Drexler, has testified.

You should treat this testimony just as you would the testimony

of any other witness.

Instruction No. 25.

What is Evidence?  

The evidence you are to consider in deciding what the
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facts are consists of:  

Number 1.  The sworn testimony of any witness; and

Number 2.  The exhibits received in evidence; and

Number 3.  Any facts to which the parties have

agreed.

Instruction No. 26.

What is Not Evidence?  

In reaching your verdict, you may consider only the

testimony and exhibits received in evidence.  The following

things are not evidence and you may not consider them in

deciding what the facts are:

Number 1.  Questions, statements, objections, and

arguments by the lawyers are not evidence.  The lawyers are not

witnesses.  Although you may consider a lawyer's questions to

understand the answer of a witness, the lawyer's questions are

not evidence.  Similarly, what the lawyers have said in their

opening statement, or will say in their closing statements and

at other times, is intended to help you interpret the evidence,

but it is not evidence.  If the fact as you remember them

differ from the way the lawyers state them, your memory of them

controls;

Number 2.  Any testimony that I have excluded,

stricken, or instructed you to disregard is not evidence.  In

addition, some evidence was received only for a limited

purpose; when I have instructed you to consider certain
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evidence in a limited way, you must do so; and

Number 3.  Anything you may have seen or heard when

the Court was not the session is not evidence.  You are to

decide the case solely on the evidence received at the trial.

Instruction No. 27.

Direct and Circumstantial Evidence.

Evidence may be direct or circumstantial.  Direct

evidence is direct proof of a fact, such as testimony by a

witness about what that witness personally saw or heard or did.

Circumstantial evidence is indirect evidence, that is, it is

proof of one or more facts from which you can find another

fact.

You are to consider both direct and circumstantial

evidence.  Either can be used to prove any fact.  The law makes

no distinction between the weight to be given to either direct

or circumstantial evidence.  It is for you to decide how much

weight to give to any evidence.

Instruction No. 28.  

Charts and Summaries in Evidence.

Certain charts and summaries have been admitted in

evidence.  Charts and summaries are only as good as the

underlying supporting material.  You should, therefore, give

them only such weight as you think the underlying material

deserves.

Instruction No. 29.
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Evidence for a Limited Purpose.

During trial, you were advised that Exhibit 102, one

of the Facebook posts by Mr. Parker, was admitted only for the

limited purpose of intent, absence of mistake, or motive.  Also

during trial you were advised that Exhibit 129, page 5,

Mr. Parker's forearm tattoo, was admitted only as to

Mr. Parker, and that Exhibit 131, page 4, Mr. Drexler's forearm

tattoo, was admitted only as to Mr. Drexler.  So, you must

consider that -- this evidence only limited as to that purpose

and for that defendant.

Instruction No. 30.

Stipulations of Fact.  

The parties have agreed to certain facts that have

been stated to you.  You should therefore treat these facts as

having been proved.

Instruction No. 31.  

Jury Consideration of Punishment.

The punishment provided by law for this crime is for

the Court to decide, and you may not consider punishment in

deciding whether the government has proved its case against the

defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.

Instruction No. 32.  

Credibility Of witnesses.

In deciding the facts in this case, you may have to

decide which testimony to believe and which testimony not to
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believe.  You may believe everything a witness says, or part of

it, or none of it.

In considering the testimony of any witness, you may

take into account:  

Number 1.  The witness's opportunity and ability to

see, or hear, or know the things testified to; 

Number 2.  The witness's memory; 

Number 3.  The witness's manner while testifying;

Number 4.  The witness's interest in the outcome of

the case, if any;

Number 5.  The witness's bias or prejudice, if any;

Number 6.  Whether other evidence contradicted the

witness's testimony;

Number 7.  The reasonableness of the witness's

testimony in light of all the evidence; and

Number 8.  Any other factors that bear on

believability.

The weight of the evidence as to a fact does not

necessarily depend on the number of witnesses who testify.

What is important is how believable the witnesses were and how

much weight you think their testimony deserves.

Instruction No. 33.

Opinion Testimony - Expert Witness.

You have heard testimony from Erich Smith who

testified to opinions and the reasons for his opinions.  The
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opinion testimony is allowed because of the education or

experience of this witness.  Such opinion testimony should be

judged like any other testimony.  You may accept it or reject

it and give it as much weight as you think it deserves,

considering the witness's education, and experience, the

reasons given for the opinion, and all the other evidence in

this case.

Instruction No. 34.

Statements by a Defendant.

You have heard testimony that a defendant made a

statement.  It is for you to decide:  

Number 1.  Whether a defendant made the statement,

and

Number 2.  If so, how much weight to give to it.

In making those decisions, you should consider all

the evidence about the statement, including the circumstances

under which a defendant may have said it.

Instruction No. 35.

Witness Pretrial Preparation.  

It is proper for an attorney to interview any witness

in preparation for trial.

Of course, in the process of trial preparation, a

party may not suggest that the witness depart from the truth.

You have also heard testimony that a witness read or

reviewed certain materials pertaining to the case before the
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witness testified at trial.  The law permits a witness to do

so.

Instruction No. 36.  

Government's Use of Undercover Agents.

You have heard testimony from an undercover agent who

was involved in the government's investigation in this case.

Law enforcement officials may engage in stealth and deception,

such as the use of undercover agents, in order to investigate

criminal activities.  Undercover agents may use false names and

appearances.

Instruction No. 37.  

When you begin your deliberations, elect one member

of the jury as your presiding juror who will preside over the

deliberations and speak for you here in court.

You will then decide -- discuss the case with your

fellow jurors to reach agreement if you can do so.  Your

verdict, whether guilty or not guilty, must be unanimous.

Each of you must decide the case for yourself, but

you should do so only after you have considered all the

evidence, discussed it fully with the other jurors, and

listened to the views of your fellow jurors.

Do not be afraid to change your opinion if the

discussion persuades you that you should.  But do not come to a

decision simply because others think it is right.

It is important that you attempt to reach a unanimous
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verdict but, of course, only if each of you can do so after

having made your own conscientious decision.  Do not change an

honest belief about the weight and effect of the evidence

simply to reach a verdict.

Instruction No. 38.

Consideration of Evidence - Conduct of the Jury.

Because you must base your verdict only on the

evidence received in the case and on these instructions, I

remind you that you must not be exposed to any other

information about the case or to the issues it involves.

Except for discussing the case with your fellow jurors during

your deliberations:  

Do not communicate with anyone in any way and do not

let anyone else communicate with you in any way about the

merits of the case or anything to do with it.  This includes

discussing the case in person, in writing, by phone, or

electronic means, via email, text messaging, or any Internet

chat room, blog, website, or other feature.  This applies to

communicating with your family member, your employer, the media

or press, and the people involved in the trial.  If you are

asked or approached in any way about your jury service or

anything about this case, you must respond that you have been

ordered not to discuss the matter and to report the contact to

the Court.

Do not read, watch, or listen to any news or media
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accounts or commentary about the case or anything to do with

it.  Do not do any research, such as consulting dictionaries,

searching the Internet, or using other reference materials, and

do not make any investigation or in any other way try to learn

about the case on your own.

Instruction No. 38.1.

The law requires these restrictions to ensure the

parties have a fair trial based on the same evidence and that

each party has an opportunity to address -- has had an

opportunity to address.  A juror who violates these

restrictions jeopardizes the fairness of these proceedings, and

a mistrial could result that would require the entire

process -- trial process to start over.  If any juror is

exposed any outside information, please notify the Court

immediately.

Instruction No. 39.  

Use of Notes.

Some of you have taken notes during the trial.

Whether or not you took notes, you should rely on your own

memory of what was said.  Notes are only to assist your memory.

You should not be overly influenced by your notes or those of

your fellow jurors.

Instruction No. 40.

Communication with Court.

If it becomes necessary during your deliberations to
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communicate with me, you may send a note through the court

security officer, signed by any one or more of you.  No member

of the jury should ever attempt to communicate with me except

by a signed writing, and I will respond to the jury concerning

the case only in writing or here in open court.  If you send

out a question, I will consult with the lawyers before

answering the it, which may take some time.  You may continue

your deliberations while waiting for the answer to any

question.  Remember that you are not to tell anyone --

including me -- how the jury stands numerically or otherwise on

any question submitted to you, including the question of the

guilt of any defendant, until after you have reached a

unanimous verdict or have been discharged.

Instruction No. 41.

Verdict Form.  

A verdict form has been prepared for you, and after

you have reached unanimous agreement on a verdict, your

presiding juror should complete the verdict form according to

your deliberations, sign it, and date it, and advise the court

security officer that you are ready to return to the courtroom.

This is the verdict form.

Verdict.  

We, the jury, in the above-entitled case, upon our

oaths, do say:  

Count One.  
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As to Count One of the superseding indictment

charging conspiracy to commit an offense against the United

States, we, the jury, unanimously find as to:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty, and

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty, and

Steven A Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

If you find any of the defendants guilty of Count

One, you must also indicate which particular object the

conspirators agreed to commit, and you may choose all that

apply.

Number 1 is assault on a federal officer in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 111(a)(1) and (b).  

Number 2 is threatening a federal law enforcement

officer, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

115(a)(1)(B).

Three is use and carry of a firearm in relation to a

crime of violence in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 924(c).  

Number 4 is obstruction of the due administration of

justice in violation of Title 18 of the United States Code

Section 1503.

Number 5 is interference with interstate commerce by

extortion, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1951.
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And 6 is interstate travel in aid of extortion, in

violation of Title 18 of the United States Code, Section 1952.

Count Two.  

As to Count Two of the superseding indictment

charging conspiracy to impede or injure a federal officer, we,

the jury, unanimously find, as to:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.  

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

If you find any of the defendants guilty of Count --

that should be Count Two.  

If you find any of the defendants guilty of Count

Two, you must also indicate which particular object the

conspirators agreed to commit, and you may choose all that

apply.

So, Number 1.  To prevent, by force, intimidation, or

threats, federal law enforcement officers from discharging the

duties of their office under the United States; or

Number 2.  To influence by force, intimidation, or

threats, any federal law enforcement officer of the United

States to leave the place where their duties were required to

be performed.

Count Five.  

As to Count Five of the superseding indictment
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charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of assault on a federal officer, we, the jury,

unanimously find the Defendant:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.  

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.  

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.  

Count Six.  

As to Count Six of the superseding indictment

charging the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of use and carry of a firearm during and in relation

to a crime of violence, which relates to Count Five, assault on

a federal officer, we, the jury, unanimously find as to:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Six

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Six

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.
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Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Six

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Six

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Count Eight.  

As to Count Eight of the superseding indictment

charging the defendant committed or aided and abetted the

commission of threatening a federal law enforcement officer,

we, the jury, unanimously find the defendant:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

Count Nine.  

As to Count Nine of the superseding indictment

charging the defendant committed or aided and abetted the

commission of use and carry of a firearm during and in relation
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to a crime of violence, and this refers to Count Eight,

threatening a federal law enforcement officer, we, the jury,

unanimously find as to:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Nine

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No, or yes.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Nine

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.  

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Nine

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count Nine

of the superseding indictment, the jury must also answer the

following questions:  
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We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Count Twelve.  

As to Count Twelve of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed, or aided and abetted,

the commission of obstruction of the due administration of

justice, we, the jury, unanimously find the Defendant:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.  

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

Count Fourteen.  

As to Count Fourteen of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendant committed, or aided and abetted,

the commission of interference with interstate commerce by

extortion, we, the jury, unanimously find the defendant:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.  

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.  

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

Count Fifteen.  

As to Count Fifteen of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendant committed, or aided and abetted,

the commission of use and carry of a firearm during and in

relation to a crime of violence -- the crime of violence
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related to this count is Count Fourteen, interference with

interstate commerce by extortion -- we, the jury, unanimously

find as to:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.

And if the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count

Fifteen of the superseding indictment, the jury must also

answer the following question:  

We, the jury, find unanimously that the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.  

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count

Fifteen of the superseding indictment, the jury must also

answer the follow question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find that the firearm was

brandished.  No, or yes.

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count

Fifteen of the superseding indictment, the jury must also

answer the following question:  

We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No, or yes.  

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.  

If the jury finds the defendant guilty of Count

Fifteen of the superseding indictment, the jury must also

answer the following question:  
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We, the jury, unanimously find the firearm was

brandished.  No or yes.

Count Sixteen.  

As to Count Sixteen of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed, or aided and abetted,

the commission of interstate travel in aid of extortion, we,

the jury, unanimously find the Defendant:  

O. Scott Drexler, not guilty or guilty.  

Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty or guilty.  

Eric J. Parker, not guilty or guilty.  

And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty or guilty.

So say we all.  Dated this blank day of blank, 2017,

and signed by the jury person.

All right.  So, those are the jury instructions and

the verdict form, and you will be provided a copy of those

along with the superseding indictment, all the evidence that's

been admitted, and an index of the evidence that's been

admitted.  

So, we'll go ahead and start with the government's

closing argument.

Does anybody need a bathroom break or a stretch break

or anything yet?  It's okay if you do.

All right.  Then we'll go ahead and proceed.

GOVERNMENT'S CLOSING ARGUMENT 

MS. AHMED:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Good morning,
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ladies and gentlemen.

Thank you on behalf of the United States, Mr. Myhre,

Miss Creegan, and myself.  We want to say thank you first for

the time that you've spent or the past month and a half

listening to this case.  It is not an easy thing to set aside

your own lives to consider the facts and evidence that we've

presented.  But in addition to that, we've seen how attentive,

inquisitive, and open you've been to the evidence, and we want

to let you know that we really appreciate that.

Now, we also know that it's not an easy thing to be a

juror; to have the task of sitting in judgment of another human

being.  But the truth is today, your task is not to judge

another person.

Your Honor, may we publish our PowerPoint?

THE COURT:  Yes, you may.

MS. AHMED:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Aaron, can you turn that on, please?

MS. AHMED:  Thank you.  

Your task is not to sit in judgment of another human

being.  Your task is to judge the evidence that's been

presented and apply the law to that evidence in determining the

defendants' guilt, whether they're guilty or not.

Now, as humans, of course, we have our own life

experiences that we bring with us anywhere we go.  And so I

present this jury instruction that Her Honor just read to you
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just to highlight one important part.

That in deciding this case, again, you look to the

evidence and the law, and you must not let yourself be

influenced by personal likes or dislikes, sympathies, world

views, political views, views of the attorneys, or anything

else.

You must look at what was presented and you must

apply it to the law.  And in doing so, you must honor the duty

that you committed to doing when you accepted your position as

a juror in this case.

Now, Her Honor's just read many jury instructions to

you, so what I what to do this morning with you is talk about

what we've charged, the evidence that we've presented, and how

it clearly establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant

Parker, Defendant Drexler, Defendant Stewart, and Defendant

Lovelien are guilty of the crimes that they have been charged

with.

So, first, what are those crimes?  

Count One charges conspiracy to commit an offense.  

Count Two charges conspiracy to impede or injure a

federal officer.  

Count Five, assault on a federal officer.  

Count Eight, threatening federal law enforcement

officers.  

Count Twelve, obstruction of the due administration
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of justice.  

Count Fourteen, extortion.  

Count Sixteen, interstate travel in aid of extortion.  

And Counts Six, Nine and Fifteen charge using,

carrying, brandishing firearms during and in relation to a

crime of violence.  

And finally, all of the counts, except for the two

conspiracy counts, charge aiding and abetting.  

And basically, what these counts mean, an easy way to

understand them, is that they break down into three different

ways in which you can find and will find that these defendants

are guilty.

First, they did it.  They committed the assault.

They themselves committed the threatening.  They committed the

obstruction of justice.  They extorted.  They traveled in

interstate in aid of extortion, and they used, carried or

brandished a firearm during or in relation to the assault,

threats, or the extortion.

The second way you can find them guilty is that they

helped each other do it.  That's the aiding and abetting.

And finally, the third way is that they agreed with

each other to do it.  

There was a conspiracy to commit the offense, as

outlined in Count One.  There was a conspiracy to intimidate --

to impede or interfere or injure.  And finally, under
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conspiracy, if you find that they joined the conspiracy, they

are also liable because in joining that conspiracy, they are

responsible for their coconspirator's actions.  

So, I want to take each of these three different

routes to guilt one by and walk you through the evidence.  But

before I do that, I want to just establish the base framework

of the story as we know it, beginning with four court orders.

Four court orders directing Cliven Bundy to remove

cattle from public lands.  These are Exhibits 1, 2, and 3 and

4.  Exhibits 1 and 2, issued in 1998 and 1999, permanently

enjoined Mr. Bundy from grazing his cattle on public lands.

July -- in July 2013, there was that third order

issued by Judge Lloyd George, in which he stated that the BLM,

if Cliven Bundy didn't do so, was authorized to remove, to

impound, the trespass cattle.

Now, on October 2013, there was the fourth order that

what -- that repeated the previous orders but went another step

further.  And it was issued by Judge Hicks of this Court.  And

Judge Hicks said, in furtherance of that order, that Cliven

Bundy shall not physically interfere with any seizure or

impoundment operation authorized by that order.

What we also know, of course, that in April of 2014,

the BLM did, in fact, begin to impound the trespass cattle that

had not been removed by Mr. Bundy.

Here you see Exhibit 134, and you heard witness Guss
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Warr talk about the impoundment of these cattle, the processes

that they took with cattle, and how the cattle once impounded

became the possession of the United States Government.

You also learned that the Bundys took steps to stop

the impoundment.  Specifically, they joined forces with a man

named Ryan Payne, co-founder of Operation Mutual Aid.

You saw then that Bundy and Payne began to recruit

not just protesters, but other people, specific people,

militia, 3 Percenters, individual freedom fighters.  They were

recruiting them to their cause, which was to stop the BLM

impoundment.

You also know, of course, that on April 12, 2014,

Cliven Bundy and his family held a rally at their staging area

both with protesters and militia present.  And at that rally,

the sheriff spoke, Cliven Bundy spoke, and then he spoke again.

And in that second speech, he told the people that were

present, the militia, the individual freedom fighters, and the

protesters to go to the BLM's impoundment site, to shut down

the freeway, to go specifically to Toquop Wash, and to get his

cattle.

We've also seen evidence that the defendants -- seen

and heard evidence that the defendants, traveling in Defendant

Lovelien's vehicle, did, in fact, make that 5-mile journey,

from the staging area near Bundy's ranch, to the BLM

impoundment site.
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And you also, of course, know, having sat through

this trial for the past six weeks, that these defendants then

took positions on the Interstate 15 northbound lanes and on the

bridge where they were positioned with firearms.

You also know that the officers that were present,

holding their post, which was the BLM impoundment site, were

down in a wash or up at Post 1, and that they could see that

their positions were surrounded.

We know that in light of the situation and in fear of

violence, the BLM withdrew.  And that after they withdrew, our

four defendants remained.  And eventually, the cattle were

released that had been impounded and were the property of the

United States Government.

So, this is the general framework of the events.

This isn't a case where you have to figure out what happened in

terms of the central step-by-step process of the story.  You

know what happened.

But the question is, are they guilty of the crimes

with which they have been charged?  So, let's start with they

did it.  So, I want to walk through these specific offenses and

how these individuals themselves committed them.

I want to start with the threatening federal law

enforcement officer which is Count Eight.  Now, as Her Honor

read to you, there are four elements which you have to find to

find these defendants guilty.
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First, the defendant made a statement or did an act

that constituted a threat to assault a federal law enforcement

officer; 

Second, that the defendant intended that statement or

act to be a threat or made the statement or did the act knowing

the words or actions would be viewed as a threat.

Third, that a reasonable person making the statement

or doing the act would foresee that the statement would be

interpreted -- or act would be interpreted by those to whom the

maker communicated the statement as a threat.  

And fourth, that the threat was made with the intent

to impede, intimidate, or interfere with federal law

enforcement officers, or in retaliation for the performance of

their duties.

Now, it is important to remember, in looking at the

evidence, that a threat, of course, is distinguished from idle

or careless talk, exaggeration, or something done in a joking

manner.  It is expressing an intention to inflict bodily injury

at that time or at some point in the future.

So, here it's also important to know what you don't

have to find in determining that there was a threat.  First,

there doesn't need to be any kind of verbal communication.

These defendants didn't have to tell the officers that they

intended to harm them.  It can be an action.  And the

government's not required to prove the exact action that is the

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 62
Government's Closing Argument

threat.

It is also important to know that it does not need to

be observed by the recipient of the threat.  So, here, it isn't

necessary that you find that the BLM officers, who were down in

wash, or the park service officers that were there, that they

observed a threat to themselves.  A third party, another

person, other witnesses could have seen the defendants' conduct

and understood their actions to be a threat to those officers.

Now, in turning to the individual elements, I submit,

of course, a small sample of the photographs and evidence that

you've seen.  And I've tried to identify for you on the screen

the exhibits so that you know where to look during your

deliberations.  Excuse me.

So here you see, of course, Defendant Parker as he's

prone with his rifle pointed between the gaps of the concrete

barrier.  Looking at the image on the left, Exhibit 195, you

can see the individual that's pointing in the blue shirt, and

you know, from this case, that that is witness Trey Schillie,

who was driving through the area when he came upon the scene.

And you heard specifically from Mr. Schillie that

seeing this defendant's posture, seeing him with the rifle,

seeing where it was pointed, and seeing officers down in the

wash, he understood this to be a threat.

You also heard from the officers themselves who

observed this defendant, before he went down into this
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position, and, of course, Officer Martinez, who could see

movement behind the gap during -- when he was in this

position -- when Parker was in this position, and those

officers also, based on their training and experience, looking

at the demeanor, the tactical clothing, the tactical movements,

and the presence of an assault rifle, and understood the

superior position that Mr. Parker had taken over them, to be

communication of a threat to inflict physical injury to them

and their co-officers.

You have also seen evidence of the same from

Mr. Drexler.  Mr. Drexler was also observed by officers with

the tactical vest, with an assault rifle, and taking tactical

position, an overhead position on the northbound bridge above

the officers, and doing sneak and peek moves, coordinated

tactical movements with Mr. Parker.  And based on those

officers' training and experience, they understood his actions

to be a threat.

You have also seen evidence of Mr. Stewart's actions

on the bridge on April 12, 2014.  That he was sometimes

standing, sometimes kneeling, moving his firearm, pointing his

firearm at the officers, and that the way that he moved and the

way that he had a long gun with him sent a message to those

officers as well that he intended to harm them, a threat.

And you also heard, of course, about Mr. Lovelien,

who dressed from head to toe in camouflage clothing, on the
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Interstate 15 freeway, stood in that tactically superior

position over those officers and over the other gunmen on the

bridge or near the bridge -- excuse me -- and appeared to be

commanding that area and patrolling that segment of the

northbound freeway.

And that they could see him from the wash, and that

they could see him from post -- that intermediate position

between Post 1 and Post 2.  And specifically, you heard from

Ranger Burke who said that she saw him pointing his firearm

from the low ready position.

Now, the question then isn't if they committed an act

that could be perceived as a threat, because the evidence is

there.  You've seen the pictures.  And although we've, of

course, asked you to set aside your prejudices and your

potential political views or your sympathies, one thing you do

not have to set aside and you must not set aside, and the

reason we ask you to come and be jurors, is your common sense.

It's critical in looking at this evidence that you

rely on your reason and your sense of common sense.  And in

doing so, in looking at those photographs, and the videos, and

the evidence, you'll see that that was a threatening action

that each one of those -- that they took several threatening

actions.  That their presence on the bridge, their presence on

the northbound freeway, that those defendants were threatening

the officers.  But the question, of course, then becomes what
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was their intent?  

Now, you're instructed in a couple of places in the

jury instructions about how you are to determine intent.

Instruction No. 11 provides that the intent of a

person or the knowledge that a person possesses at any given

time may not ordinarily be proved directly, because there is no

way of directly scrutinizing the workings of the human mind.

And in this case, we have not gone into the mind of

each of these four defendants and presented to you their exact

admissions of guilt, but we've presented many things to allow

you to infer their intent.

We know that they committed a threat on a federal

officer.  And how do we know they did it?  Because you do have

some of their words.  They told you in their words.  They

showed you with their actions, and then they celebrated or

glorified or participated in subsequent operations or sought an

opportunity to do it again.

Now, in determining their intention, it's important

to start with the information that they had on April 12, 2014,

and prior to that, in some occasions.  But looking here at the

screen before you, we know for sure that all four of these

defendants attended a rally on the morning of April 12, 2014,

where they were informed that the BLM was leaving, was going to

leave, and that the impoundment operations had been ceased.

And that is Sheriff Gillespie's speech which is

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 66
Government's Closing Argument

Exhibit 21.  Can we go ahead and play?

(Exhibit 21 played.)

MS. AHMED:  Can we stop it there?

Now, you just heard the sheriff's speech, as these

defendants heard the sheriff's speech.  He said he was there to

keep an emotional issue safe and that the BLM was going to stop

the impoundment.  They were no longer going to gather cattle.

They were going to be removing their assets.

You have seen, through the course of this trial, that

those assets included, in addition to the cattle,

infrastructure, including trailers, and vehicles, and equipment

that had been brought in for this impoundment.  And that they

needed to have time to remove all of that.  But in any event,

the sheriff was there to tell these people that this

impoundment was done.

When he also referenced the assets, he said that they

needed to facilitate the removal of those assets in a safe way.

And then the sheriff was done, and the crowd, of course, as you

just saw, pressed him on the cows.  And he said the cows were

where they have been the past few days, and that was what he

needed to talk to Cliven Bundy about, appearing to refer back

to the safe removal of the BLM assets.

So, you also, having heard the speech, that these

defendants speech [sic], you also, of course, know that Cliven

Bundy then responded to the sheriff.  Can we continue to play?
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(Exhibit 21 played.)

MS. AHMED:  Now, having seen both of those speeches,

it's apparent that whatever the demands that Cliven Bundy was

making of the sheriff, two things are clear from that speech.

One is that he had no interest in what the sheriff

had to say about the cattle.  He clearly had his own plan about

the cattle.

And two, we know that having heard that speech, heard

the demands that the sheriff made -- excuse me -- that Cliven

Bundy made of the sheriff, these four defendants stayed.  They

stayed where they were.  They stayed with the Bundys.

So, they stay.  They wait that hour.  In that time,

although they did not have their firearms with them, while

doing security at that rally, they retrieved those firearms at

some point, but they are there when Cliven Bundy gives his

second speech.  The speech that's directed to them, Exhibit 22.

Can you play?

(Exhibit 22 played.)

MS. AHMED:  Now, again, this is a speech that the

evidence shows these four defendants heard, were present for.

And during this speech, Cliven Bundy didn't say that the BLM

were releasing the cattle.  In fact, no one had said that.

Instead -- instead, what he told these defendants to

do was to go to the compound.  That all they needed to do was

open the gates.  But they need safety.  So, they are going to
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block the freeway.  He says, block the freeway, and then the

horses will meet in the Toquop Wash.  And these defendants hear

the speech, and they get in Defendant Lovelien's vehicle, and

they go to the BLM's compound.

Now, again, you know from the evidence that they

drove the distance, approximately 5 miles, from the staging

area to the BLM ICP.  You know from the testimony and from what

you've seen, that they do not go into the wash with, quote, the

protesters, to extent that there are protesters in that wash.

They stay on the northbound lane of the I-15, Defendant Parker,

Drexler, and Stewart, taking tactical positions on the bridge

over Post 2, and Defendant Lovelien taking a tactical position

on the 15 in between Post 1 and Post 2.

From the photos, you know that they don't have flags.

They don't have signs.  They have firearms.  And again, these

are firearms that they had not had with them, at that staging

area, during that speech, but they went to get before they went

to the BLM impoundment site.  

And they used that position on the bridge and on the

freeway to do just what Cliven Bundy had told them to do; to

shut it down; to block the freeway.  And then they proceed to

use the travelers, who are stuck there, and the people in the

wash, to prevent the officers from taking any law enforcement

action to eliminate them as a threat.  They create the safety

to get the cattle back that Cliven Bundy had told them they
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needed.

Now, again, you know their intent from their

statements and from their evidence that we put in, really, to

Facebook posts and the like.  So, with Defendant Lovelien, you

know that through his Facebook activity, he becomes friends

with Ryan Payne on Facebook.

On Facebook, he also likes the OMA page, and that he

uses social media to recruit other militia to help the Bundys.

You also know, and we'll get to this a little bit later, the

exhibits for this, but you know that he had received from OMA,

from Payne, the objectives for this operation, which included

obtaining the cattle, getting the cattle back, and getting the

BLM off of the public lands.

So, knowing those things, here are two examples of

how Defendant Lovelien viewed what he was doing on April 12,

2014.  And again, from the evidence, you know that he refers to

himself as Captain Rick Lovelien, Regional Codefendant --

Codirector of the Montana State Defense Force.

And here, sharing information with the Montana State

Defense Force Facebook group, he says, "Pass this along.

Alert.  This is not a drill.  All Oath Keepers and militia in

proximity need to move into Def Con 1 mode."  That's

Exhibit 74.  To him, this is a military exercise that he's

going into on April 12, 2014.

And then again, when it's over, Exhibit 80, on
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April 14th, he says, "Just a heads up.  I have just returned

home for the time being from the Bundy Ranch.  I will update

what I can as I can.  The operation is still ongoing in

Southeast Nevada.  And although the federal agents have

surrendered their position and withdrew, the area is still

active and we still have boots on the ground.  Security is our

top priority as always."

So you know from these kinds of statements that

Defendant Lovelien, what he's doing in Bunkerville, Nevada, on

April 12, 2014, had nothing to with the protesters and

everything to do with the military-style operation to help the

Bundys get their cattle.  And how they are going to do that is

through a show of force.

You also know that on Facebook, in communicating with

somebody, another Facebook user after the event, at Exhibit 85,

someone asks him, "What you been doin'?"  And Ricky Lovelien

says, "Chasing off federal agents in Nevada," and includes with

that message a photograph of federal agents -- excuse me -- a

federal agent standing next to a cattle trailer.

So again, you know from his statements that to him

what he's doing on the northbound freeway on April 12, 2014, is

about helping the Bundys get the cattle, and it's about chasing

off federal agents.  And the way he's going to do that is

through communicating a threat to those officers.

You also know, from the steps he takes on April 12,
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2014, his intent.  Exhibit 137, a photograph of Ricky Lovelien

at the rally on the morning of April 12, 2014.  Juxtaposed to

the right with Exhibit 66, a photograph of Ricky Lovelien

wearing full military-style camouflage clothing, a tactical

vest, and carrying his assault rifle, on the northbound bridge,

standing with another individual wearing tactical clothing,

taking a tactical position with a firearm.

And you know from the officers that they could see

this.  And you can infer from the steps he's taken from the

morning rally to the time he gets to that location, that he is

intending to show force, and that's the threat.

Now, we also have the dash camera from the NHP

officers.  You heard from -- excuse me -- NHP Sergeant Serena,

who spoke about his observations about Defendant Lovelien.  And

you yourself can see, from the dash cam, his moments and how

his movements are consistent with what the officers, Serena,

Ranger Burke, and Ranger Whitteaker, their observation that he

appeared to be patrolling or in command of that area on the

Northbound 15.

And if we could play this video, but moving forward

to 12:21 approximately.  Right there.

(Exhibit 32A played.)

MS. AHMED:  You can stop it there.

Again, this is Exhibit 32A, and it continues --

Mr. Lovelien's movements continue in that area into Exhibit 33.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 72
Government's Closing Argument

And for more than that 10-minute period and beyond that, he

continues to stand in that area, moving back and forth,

sitting, looking at the NHP officers, looking into the wash,

moving his position, but in command of that area.  

And he goes straight up to the individual that you've

learned in this trial is coconspirator Todd Engel, where he's

talking to the NHP officers.  And he steps, not just up to that

conversation dressed in full camouflage clothing with his

firearm hanging off his side, but he steps right into the

middle of it.  And you heard from Sergeant Serena that it

appeared that that had a chilling effect on Todd Engel in terms

of his communication to the officer when Defendant Lovelien

came.

Now, you also know, again, the officers see him

pointing and carrying.  And therefore, you can infer that he

was, in fact, pointing and carrying.  You see him yourself

carrying his firearm.  But you can infer and you can rely on

the credible testimony that Ranger Alexandra Burke gave when

she sat on the stand and spoke to you about this event.

And in that testimony, she said that she observed

Lovelien pointing his firearm in a low ready hold.  And she saw

him moving with another individual, and she took a separate

picture of that individual, which is at Exhibit 155.

Here you see the picture she took of Defendant

Lovelien later, after she had had an opportunity to safely
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approach to take the picture.  This is Exhibit 156.  And so she

took pictures of individuals, when it was safe to do so, that

she had observed pointing firearms either in the direction of

the officers in the wash or in her -- her area, at the officers

in her area.

Now, it's really important that you understand, in

your deliberations, the value of the evidence regarding these

defendants pointing their firearm.  As you've heard from the

instructions, we are not obligated to prove and you are not

obligated to find that these defendants pointed a firearm at

federal officers in order to find them guilty of the offenses

that they have been charged with.

The pointing helps you understand their intent, but

it is not something that you must conclude that they did in

order to find them guilty.

Here, there's evidence that Defendant Lovelien

pointed his firearm.  And you've heard that, from these

officers, that based on their training and experience, and just

through use of firearms generally, that you don't aim at what

you are not prepared to shoot at.  And so they saw his actions,

and they understood that to be a threat.  And you can do so as

well.

THE COURT:  All right.  We're going to go ahead and

take our noon lunch break here.

Please remember, jury, that you are still to not
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discuss this case with anyone.  We are close, but we are not

there yet.  So, please do not talk about this at lunch with

your fellow jurors nor with anyone else, and please do not

read, or listen to, or view anything that touches upon this

case in any way, nor attempt to perform any research or

independent investigation.  And please do not form an opinion

yet until after you have heard closing arguments in complete.

We will go ahead and stand for the jury so they may

be excused.  We will welcome them back at 1:00.

(Jury out.)

THE COURT:  All right.  The jury has exited the room.

I'm sorry, Miss Ahmed, for interrupting you there,

but one of the jurors was giving me the time out, like sports

event time out sign with his hands.  He really needed to have a

bathroom break.

So, we will go ahead and be back at 1:00, and then we

can resume.

MS. AHMED:  Thank you, Your Honor.

(Recess, 11:55 a.m.  Resumed 1:23 p.m.)

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.  Is

everyone back?

Let's go ahead and get the jury, please, Aaron.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

(Jury in.)
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THE COURT:  Jury may go ahead and take a seat.

Everyone else may be seated as well.

And Miss Ahmed, you may continue your closing

argument on behalf of the government.

MS. AHMED:  Thank you, Your Honor.

Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.  When we last

left off before the break, we were discussing how it is you

could tell that defendants' intent to commit a threat and the

other offenses, with which they are charged, on April 12, 2014.

And I submit to you that looking at their words and their

conduct, on April 12th and after, that intent is clear.

We discussed Defendant Lovelien, and now I'll turn to

Defendant Stewart.  As you can see on the screen in front of

you, these are images you have seen before.  Defendant Stewart

was on the northbound bridge on April 12th, 2014, overlooking

the officers in the wash.  

You heard testimony from Agent Whitteaker about his

visibility and the fact that he was pointing his firearm toward

the officers, and you heard testimony from Ranger Martinez

about the way in which Defendant Stewart was moving his

firearm.

I submit to you that the descriptions that they

provided, that he was moving it up and down, that he was

fidgeting with his firearm is demonstrated in Exhibit 166B in

that very, very quick segment where you see him moving up and
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down and is consistent with the officers' description of how

they saw him with his firearm on April 12th.

Can you play it again?  

(Exhibit 166B played.)

MS. AHMED:  It's up and it's down.  And you'll see

other images, as you can see in the image to the right of that,

where he himself is up kneeling and leaning over the barrier.

You also see him standing up, holding his firearm in the ready

position, consistent with Agent Whitteaker's description.

Excuse me.  Ranger Whitteaker.

He described Defendant Stewart as Shotgun Guy based

on the appearance of his firearm.  You heard from our expert,

Erich Smith, that this firearm could be mistaken for a shotgun

given its appearance.  And again, you heard from Ranger

Martinez as well about how he was moving his firearm.

And I would submit that his movements on April 12th,

on that bridge and in that tactical position, were meant to

convey to the officers his ability to imminently injure them

and conveyed that threat.

You also have his words on April 12th, while on the

bridge at the ICP.  He was also updating his Facebook page.

And Eric -- Steven Stewart said, "First they said they were

going to release everything and leave.  Then they held the

gates to Gold Butte and threatened us with chemicals.  Then we

pushed forward, and they had to back off.  They are releasing
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the cows now.  BLM is leaving."

It's clear from this post that Steven Stewart

understood himself to be a part of this effort to force the BLM

to leave.  You also have the video that he posted to his

Facebook page in which he celebrates the departure of the BLM

and in which he comments on that NHP officer on the bridge.

(Exhibit 119B played.)

MS. AHMED:  We also have Defendant Drexler on the

bridge on April 12th.  And as with Defendant Lovelien, I would

juxtapose his attire and his equipment at the rally on the

morning of April 12th, as you can see on the left of your

screen, where he appears to only have his T-shirt and no rifle,

with how he's attired and positioned at the BLM ICP, in the

image on the right, wearing a tactical vest and with his

assault rifle in the low ready in his hands.

And as with the other -- as you'll see with Defendant

Parker and with the other defendants, here you can see that

Defendant Drexler's intent is also evident, not just because

we're showing you pictures of him with a rifle, but what the

sequence of those pictures shows on at the ICP on April 12th.

Like Eric Parker, he continued to improve his firing

position while he was on that bridge.  And as you're

deliberating, I ask that you would turn to Exhibit 182, which

is a time line that we put into this case, and see the

development of their positions and see for yourselves how they
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improve upon their firing position.  And here's just a small

sampling of that.

On the left, Exhibit 169D, you see Defendant Drexler

crouched behind the Jersey barrier overlooking the wash.  Then

12:29, like Eric Parker, he goes over to the gap to Eric

Parker's right.  And then at a later point than that -- the

time is cut off here, but you can see in Exhibit 182, he

acquires a blanket that stabilizes his position.  All which --

all of which aid him in improving his firing position and in

being able to threaten those officers with force.

You also have Defendant Drexler's words about his

intent on April 12, 2014.  He posts on Facebook, in response to

a comment by another user, "Careful.  Bridges are choke

points," in reference to the picture that he put as his profile

picture of himself on the bridge holding a rifle.  And

Defendant Drexler's explanation back was, "That's why we use

them to shut down the highway" -- excuse me -- "the freeway,"

which is precisely what Cliven Bundy told him to do.

And in Exhibit 124, on April 15th, days after the

standoff, Defendant Drexler posts an article discussing how the

government released the cattle and the family was claiming a

victory.  And Defendant Drexler adds the comment, "But it looks

like we may have to go back."

This wasn't an accident that he ended up on the

bridge in the position that he ended up.  He intentionally put
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himself there, and he was prepared to go back and make sure

that what they did on April 12th remained a success.

You also have Defendant Drexler's own testimony,

which you heard yourself yesterday.  He came for a show of

force.  He came with his firearm to impact the officer's

conduct.  In his words, "To make them more civil."  He brought

250 rounds of ammunition with him, and he told you that he went

prone with his rifle in the gap on the bridge so that the

officers would not see him as threat.  

And what's implicit in that, is that he understood

perfectly well, that when he was on that bridge, attired the

way he was, moving the way he was, with the firearm that he

had, that those officers would see him, and based on their

training and experience, would know him for the threat that he

was.

He also told you that while he was at that gap, he

had a position of firing power over the officers the whole

time.  And he also admitted that he previously said that when

the cows were released, he did what he had come to do.  He had

achieved what he had come to do.  Again, in his own words and

actions, you can see that the intent to threaten the officers

is clear.

And then you have Defendant Parker.  As with the

other defendants, he comes to the bridge openly with his rifle,

in his tactical vest, and he's up, and he's down, up and down
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over the course of the time that he's on that bridge.  And you

have heard from the officers that they observed him doing

exactly that.

And like Defendant Drexler, in the course of that

time period that he's at the ICP, he continues to make

decisions to put himself in a position to harm those officers,

and he continues to improve that position over the course of

time.

Again, this is just a sampling of that.  You saw him

come to the bridge.  First he was crouching or kneeling, and

then he goes prone behind that gap.  And then while he's prone,

you can see that he's overlooking the officers.  And then to

help himself, he turns his hat backward, which you heard from

Agent Swanson he observed that the hat was now backwards and

understood that to be done so that he could see better.  And he

also acquired a backpack, which Steven Stewart brought for him,

so that he could stabilize his firing position.

And ladies and gentlemen, I also submit that he

improved his ability to threaten those officers by asking

Steven Stewart to serve as his spotter, which I will get to in

the aiding and abetting section.

You also heard from our expert, Mr. Smith, with what

he observed from photographs of Eric Parker's position on the

bridge on April 12th.  And looking at these two photographs, he

was able to see to determine, based on his experience and
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expertise, that Defendant Parker's rifle was in -- the selector

switch was moved forward indicating it was in the firing

position.  In other words, when he's in this position on the

bridge, all it takes is the pull of a trigger to fire on those

officers.

MR. MARCHESE:  Objection.  Misstates the witness's

testimony.

THE COURT:  The jury's memory of the facts are what

they should use to make their determination.

MS. AHMED:  Your Honor, may I proceed?

THE COURT:  Yes, you may.

MS. AHMED:  Thank you.

Now, you also have Defendant Parker's words in many

Facebook posts, which you've seen, which you'll also be able to

review in the jury room.

And here are two posts that I highlight for you that

go to help you understand his intent on April 12th.  The first

is a conversation he had with another individual on that day on

Facebook.  That person asked before the standoff, "Feds got

scared when you got there and backed off?"  And Eric Parker

responds, after the standoff, with a thumbs up, and then says

"It took a standoff."

And then looking at Exhibit 110, over a year and a

half later, about a year and half later, in talking about BLM

and forest service officers, a question posed to him about
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them, Eric Parker says, "I reach out to as many of the LE

branches that I can, especially in my local area, shake their

hand, look them in the eye, let him know I don't want to kill

him.  And I don't want him to kill me, hopefully -- and I don't

want him to kill me.  Hopefully it will never have to get to

the point it did in Nevada ever again."

Ladies and gentlemen, I submit to you that

Exhibit 110, as with the other Facebook posts that we've put

into evidence in this case, clearly go to the intent that

Mr. Parker had on April 12th, when he was on the bridge, as he

himself references in this post talking about Nevada.

But you also have his words -- excuse me.  You also

have his words that we put into evidence through Agent Seyler

from a previous hearing.  And those also help you understand

that he intended to threaten those officers.  He admitted that

he traveled to Bunkerville with Defendant Stewart and Defendant

Drexler, and that he took extra magazines and body armor.  And

he brought the rifle that he brought, because "a Kalashnikov is

better in the dirt."  And he took two extra magazines.

He stated he brought a firearm to match force with

the officers.  He also stated he knew about the Court orders

before he went.  He testified under oath that the morning of

April 12th, he attended a meeting with other leaders in where

the Arizona State Militia were present.

After that meeting, did he crowd control at the rally
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and specifically was told to find someone with an earpiece if

he saw an issue.

He testified that when the sheriff gave his speech

that the BLM was going home, that the impoundment was over, he

thought he had came a long way for nothing.  He also testified

at that previous hearing that Lovelien was his -- Defendant

Lovelien was there, his neighbor at the militia camp where he

camped, and that the other defendant rode over with him to the

ICP.

He also testified at that hearing that he had

30-round magazines for his rifle with him on the bridge and

plates in his tactical vest.  And he also testified that

Defendant Stewart went back to get Parker's backpack and water.

Now -- I apologize.  He continued to post on Facebook

about the April 12th events for quite some time, and these

comments also, again, go to his intent on April 12th.

Going from left to right, Exhibit 115, in February of

2016, he posted an image of the officers in the wash at the

ICP, and he wrote with the words on the image "The reason

Nevada went so well, the dicks were there when we got there."

And if it isn't abundantly clear who the dicks are, well, all

the officers have been circled and the word "dick" has been

written over them.

And users commented on his post.  "Yes, always let

your opponent take the field first.  That's one of the arts of
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war."  And Eric Parker responded, "Same idea.  I just wrote

down a little different."  Another user said, "I always thought

one would want to pick the ground they fight from."  And Eric

Parker responds, "That's the hard part.  Pick the battlefield,

but let them take it first."

And, of course, I know that you know, having sat in

this trial, that the BLM officers were there first.  They were

at their ICP, which was their makeshift police station,

guarding their -- the civilians that worked there as well and

guarding the cattle.  And Defendant Parker, Defendant Stewart,

Defendant Drexler, and Defendant Lovelien came to them.

Now, going to Exhibit 116, the middle image, again,

to Eric Parker, what happened on April 12, 2014, was not an

accident.  He celebrated it for a long time to come.  I mean,

there's T-shirts of his image from April 12th with the word

"Resist" superimposed or imposed behind that silhouette of him

pointing his rifle through the gap.

Finally, looking at Exhibit 101, he also shared a

photo of himself on the bridge on April 12th with the words

"You give peace a chance, and I'll cover you."  There's no

mistake, there's no innocent reason for the position that he

took on April 12, 2014.  He took it for the express purpose of

threatening those officers.

And again, not just in Facebook, but in an interview

from April 12th, 2014, he explains to you what he thought was
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achieved when he was on the bridge on April 12, 2014.  And here

it is in his own words.

(Exhibit 14 played.)

MS. AHMED:  He says "Get on a bridge.  Show 'em

force," and he encourages other people to do the same.  Again,

ladies and gentlemen, I would submit that his intent, when he's

in that position, the various positions that he's in on

April 12th on the bridge are for the express purpose of showing

those officers force, threatening them, in other words, with

force.

Now, in sum, for these defendants' intent, as I've

said with all of these defendants and these slides, the

purpose, the intent is to threaten.  How?  Through a show of

force.  Why?  Because they know the officers will have to

choose.  Either they stand their ground, risk a firefight, risk

unarmed people getting hurt, or surrender their ground, back

down, and give up the cattle.

And again, how do you know?  Because of their words,

their attire, their positions, and their decisions.  And you

heard from Defendant Drexler himself yesterday on the stand.

Now, you also have a jury instruction, Instruction

No. 10, that also explains what knowledge means, knowledge of

the act done, which goes to intent.  And an act is done

knowingly if the defendant is aware of the act and does not act

through ignorance, mistake, or accident.
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But one of the ways in which you can understand that

there was no mistake or action in ignorance or that this was an

accident is the evidence of their efforts to continue this,

what happened on April 12, 2014, or their efforts to do it

again.

Here you saw evidence that Defendants Parker and

Drexler participated in through their -- first joined the Idaho

3% militia group in Idaho, and then participated through their

membership in the 3% of Idaho in two additional operations,

Operation Gold Rush at the Sugar Pine Mine, which is depicted

in Exhibit 45A.  And you can see Defendant Parker with his

assault rifle aloft.

And Operation Big Sky, which took place in Montana in

August of 2015, which is depicted on the top image on the

right-hand side where you see Defendant Drexler and Defendant

Parker both with their assault rifles and tactical gear.

And then you also see the image at the bottom of

Defendant Parker and Defendant Stewart conducting tactical

training in a field wearing what appear to be Idaho 3%

T-shirts.  And all of these, as you all know, came from the

"Idaho 3%, an Overview" training video.  Or, excuse me,

recruiting video.

The point is, is that as Agent Draper explained, that

these operations were done to show force to public lands

agencies, to BLM officers, to forest service officers who are
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trying to do their job and enforce those regulations.  And they

show them force to make them stand down and stop what they are

doing just as they did on April 12, 2014.

MR. MARCHESE:  Your Honor, I'm going to object.  Once

again, it mischaracterizes the testimony.

THE COURT:  The closing arguments are for arguments.

It's not evidence, and the jury and their memory is what they

should use and rely upon in determining what the facts were as

they find them.

MS. AHMED:  And you also saw posts, Facebook posts

posted by these defendants where they continued to look for

other endeavors, similar endeavors.  Defendant Drexler posted

to Facebook in December of 2014 about Utah, the state, planning

on taking land back from the federal government.  And Defendant

Drexler wrote, "Looks like New Year's will be about time to go,

Eric," tagging Eric Parker.

Eric Parker and the Steven Stewart both respond.  And

Mr. Stewart says, "Don't be trying to go without me."  And

Mr. Parker responds, "Wouldn't dream of it."

And you also saw evidence of what exactly happened at

White Hope Mine when Defendant Drexler and Defendant Parker

went there in a brief video clip that depicted them on the

scene in Montana.

(Unidentified video exhibit played.)

MS. AHMED:  And ladies and gentlemen, you know that
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what they did on April 12th was intentional, because the

evidence is that it's a part of their movement.  Defendant

Lovelien, in a message to the OMA co-founder Jerry Bruckhart,

said, days after the April 12th standoff, "Hi, Jerry.  I would

like to talk to you about taking a more active role in the

OMA," and he shared his phone number.  

And I commend to your attention the mission statement

of OMA, which we've put into evidence, as well as other posts

about what OMA was about.  And, of course, you know what OMA

achieved in April 12th of 2014.  And so far from backing off of

what had happened in April of 2014, Defendant Lovelien wanted a

bigger piece of it.

Similarly, Eric Parker posted, in December of 2015,

about one of the April 12th participants, one of his

coconspirators, Schuyler Barbeau.  He said that the FBI and US

Marshals had kidnapped him.  And describing Mr. Barbeau,

Defendant Parker said, "He helped stand down the BLM at the

Bundy Ranch, the BLM at the mine in Oregon, the USFS at the

mine in Montana," all of which are operations that Defendant

Parker participated in.

Now, in sum, looking at the instructions that you

have been given about the intent and knowledge, looking at the

evidence that we've submitted to you those points, I would

submit to you all that the intention of these four defendants

is clear; that they intended to convey a threat to the
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officers, to -- a threat that they would physically harm them

imminently.

So, turning to Count Five, Assault with a Deadly or

Dangerous Weapon.  Here the elements require that the defendant

was forcibly assaulted -- excuse me -- that defendant forcibly

assaulted a federal officer or employee.

Second, that the defendant did so while the federal

officer or employee as engaged in or on account of his or her

official duties.  

Third, that the defendant used a deadly or dangerous

weapon.  

And the jury instruction explains that there's a

forcible assault when one person intentionally threatens

another coupled with an apparent ability to inflict injury on

another, which causes a reasonable apprehension of immediate

bodily harm.

Well, again, ladies and gentlemen, I would submit

that the evidence is clear as to the threat.  And so I would

also submit that the next instruction, continuing off of the

assault instruction, a firearm, loaded or unloaded, is a

dangerous weapon.  Federal officers acting in the good faith

performance of their duties may not be forcibly resisted by

another.

Again, the law has been given to you, and your role

as jurors is to look at the evidence and understand if a crime
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has been committed.  So, in these parameters, within the

parameters of the law that I have just read and which Her Honor

had already read to you, and which you will have during your

deliberations, I would submit that the evidence is clear as to

the threat.

The evidence is also clear that the officers observed

the defendants, which is necessary for an assault.  Unlike a

threat where the threat does not have to be conveyed directly

to the victim, here, with an assault, it does need to be

conveyed to the defendants -- excuse me -- to the victims.

So, again, Exhibit 156 was Ranger Burke's photograph

that she took of Defendant Lovelien.  She described what she

saw him doing, which included pointing a weapon.  You can also

see, from Exhibit 32A, which there's a screenshot on the right,

that he's clearly visible with his tactical gear, his

camouflage clothing, and his firearm from waist up above the

barrier.

You can also see, from these photographs, that

Defendant Stewart, and from the others that we have shown you

before, was also visible to the officers in the wash at times

as was Eric Parker, even when he was kneeling, as was Defendant

Drexler.

And again, looking at the other individuals in this

video, both in the wash and behind these defendants, and

matching them up with the photographs that have been put into
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evidence, you can see that this -- at this point, what's

depicted in Exhibit 166C is happening while the officers are in

the wash.  And this is what the officers could see, and this is

what they testified to in terms of how the defendants appeared

to them; how the defendants presented themselves to them.

Go ahead and play.

(Exhibit 166C played.)

MS. AHMED:  Men, wearing tactical vests, holding

firearms slung in front in the low ready, in a tactically

superior position over the officers.

You heard from Ranger Burke, Officer Cox, Special

Agent Swanson, and Ranger Whitteaker.  You heard from these

witnesses that Ranger Burke saw Defendant Lovelien pointing his

firearm, special Agent Swanson saw Defendant Parker pointing

his firearm, Ranger Whitteaker saw defendants Drexler and

Stewart pointing their firearms.

And again, the pointing goes to their intent.  It's

evidence of the assault, but it's not something that you must

conclude that happened in order to find them guilty of the

assault.

Now, lastly, I put reasonable officer under those

circumstances, because you heard from these officers.  They

were consistent.  They were credible.  They are corroborated by

what you see from the footage that you have on the screen,

but --
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MR. MARCHESE:  Object.  Bolstering.

MR. TANASI:  Stewart joins, Your Honor.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Drexler joins.

MR. PEREZ:  Lovelien joins.

THE COURT:  Again, this is closing arguments, and

that's the purpose of the closing arguments is for the

attorneys to tell the jury how they believe that the testimony

that's been presented should be viewed and interpreted.

You may continue, Miss Ahmed.

MS. AHMED:  But your duty is not necessarily to

decide that, yes, Ranger Burke was afraid for her life; or,

yes, Officer -- Special Agent Swanson was afraid for his life,

although they told you that they were based on what they saw

these defendants doing.

The question that you must decide, in your

deliberations, is whether a reasonable officer, under those

circumstances, would have been afraid, placed in immediate

apprehension for their physical safety, given the conduct of

these defendants.  And I submit that the answer is yes.

Now, Count Twelve, Obstruction of the Due

Administration of Justice.

First, the defendant influenced, obstructed, or

impeded, or tried to influence, obstruct, or impede the due

administration of justice.  

Second, the defendant acted corruptly or by threats
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of force -- threats or force.  Excuse me.  Or by any

threatening communication with the intent to obstruct justice.

Now, I would submit that having established the

threat, that it is clear also, from the evidence in this case,

first, that here you have Court orders.  The impoundment thus

is done pursuant to the Court orders, and the Court orders are

the due administration of justice.  So, that's how the Court

orders play into Count Twelve.

Here you have the defendants using threat of force in

order to obstruct and prevent and stop the officers from

keeping the impounded cattle -- excuse me -- and thereby

enforcing the Court orders.  And you also have evidence that

the defendants knew or reasonably should have known of those

Court orders.

In Exhibit 121, just a couple of days or a few days

after the April 12th event, Defendant Stewart shared a post on

his Facebook page about Judge George, the July 2013 -- the

author of the July 2013 order.

There's also evidence in the case that the BLM

announced that there were Court orders repeatedly as they asked

the crowd to disburse and move back, and that others on the

bridge could hear these announcements.  And, again, you have

Eric Parker's testimony from a previous hearing that he could

hear the announcement saying there were Court orders, and he

knew of the Court order before he came to Nevada.
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And here is one video, which is in evidence,

Exhibit 9A, where you can hear Court orders, and that you can

see that other individuals on the bridge could also hear Court

orders.

Sorry.  What did I do?  Did I do that?  

Exhibit -- slide 64.  Excuse me.

(Exhibit 9A played.)

MS. AHMED:  And, of course, you can see that Eric

Parker was walking behind that individual on the bridge just as

he was screaming "Your Court orders don't apply."

Now, Count Fourteen charges the Hobbs Act, Extortion,

in which we must prove that, first, the defendant induced

someone to part with property, by the wrongful use of actual or

threatened force, which again here we have threatened force,

violence or fear.

Second, the defendant acted with the intent to obtain

property.  

And third, commerce from one state to another was

affected in some way.  And the defendant's claim of right to

the property is not a defense.

Well, these defendants, there's -- knew that this was

cattle that had been impounded by the federal government.  And

you've heard testimony that it was thus property of the United

States Government.

And you also have seen evidence that they were there
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to help the Bundys get the cattle back, to thus extort the

federal officers who were protecting those cattle, pursuant to

the Court order, to extort them into giving up that cattle.

Exhibit 85, on the top left, is a post from Ricky

Lovelien to another Facebook user where the user asks, "What ya

been doing?"  And Defendant Lovelien responds, "Chasing off

federal agents in Nevada."  And he shares a photograph of a

federal officer standing next to a cattle trailer.

Exhibit 93, Eric Parker's Facebook page, when the

cows are released on April 12, 2014.  "We have cows, happy

cows, free cows, American cows raised in an open range not a

cage," celebrating the release of the cattle.

Exhibit 120, Steven Stewart's Facebook where he's

talking to other people on Facebook and says, "Guys, I only

went for the weekend.  We helped Cliven Bundy get his cattle

back.  Straight there.  Straight back.  Two hours of sleep in

between."  

And then you have Exhibit 124, Defendant Drexler's

Facebook post, where again, he's sharing that article talking

about how the federal government released the cattle after a

standoff with hundreds of armed protesters.  And he says, "But

it looks like we may have to go back."

So, these defendants knew that the cattle were in the

custody of the federal officers, and their goal was to show

threatened force so that the officers would be extorted into
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giving up the cattle.  

And you also heard, of course, testimony from

Mr. Warr, again, that these cattle were to be transported to

California for sale after their impoundment.  And in extorting

these officers, they thus interfered in that interstate sale.

And then you have Count Sixteen, which is interstate

travel in aid of extortion.  First, the defendant traveled in

interstate -- interstate commerce or used a facility in

interstate commerce -- here, namely, the Internet -- with the

intent to commit a crime of violence in furtherance of an

unlawful activity, namely, extortion, in violation of Nevada

law.

Second, after doing so, the defendant committed or

attempted to commit the violent crime in furtherance of the

unlawful activity.

Well, here there's evidence that all four of these

defendants traveled from other states to Nevada, that they

brought with them firearms, and that Defendant Lovelien,

Defendant Parker, Defendant Drexler brought with them tactical

vests.  And that they did so in order to threaten force and

then with the express purpose of extorting the officers for the

cattle.

You also have evidence that Eric Parker and Ricky

Lovelien used the Internet, namely Facebook and social media

and email, to correspond and communicate with others to connect

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 97
Government's Closing Argument

with militia, to recruit people in order to further this

extortion.

Now, you also have Six, Nine and Fifteen, which all

charge using, carrying, and brandishing a firearm during and in

relation to a crime of violence.  And, of course, Her Honor has

read the instruction to you which explains what these various

terms mean.

Here, again, I would just emphasize that if you find

them guilty of the preceding count, then when you come to this

question, it isn't necessary for you to find that they pointed

their firearm at federal officers; but that they pointed -- the

evidence that they pointed at the officers goes to proving up

that, yes, they used, they carried, and they brandished

firearms during and in relation to a crime of violence.  And

almost every picture you've seen of the defendants at the ICP

on April 12, 2014, shows them doing exactly that.

Now, we talked about how the defendants did it.  They

themselves did it.  But they are also guilty, because they

helped each other do it.  Under Instruction 21, which is aiding

and abetting.  

First to prove aiding and abetting, the crime was

committed by someone.

Second, the defendant aided, counseled, commanded,

induced, procured that person with respect to at least one

element of the crime.
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Third, the defendant acted with the intent to

facilitate the crime.  

And fourth, the defendant acted before the crime was

completed.

Now, here there are various ways in which the

evidence shows that these defendants aided and abetted each

other.  Defendant Lovelien acted as the equivalent of a getaway

driver, so to speak.  Here he took them to the crime.  No

different than the driver in a bank robbery.  He takes them to

where they commit their crime.

There's also evidence that the Defendant Lovelien

acted as a lookout.  Evidence suggests that he sat on those NHP

officers, that he maintained a presence near them, and that by

doing so, he distracted the officers from going further down

the bridge and seeing what Defendants Drexler and Parker and

Stewart were doing.

You can see from the left, Exhibit 32A, that at

12:21, he comes straight to those officers to the east of the

bridge -- excuse me -- to the west of the bridge.  And that at

12:21, Defendant Parker is prone and Defendant Drexler is

crouched behind the Jersey barrier on the bridge.

You can see from this next slide, Exhibit 17, this

arrow -- aerial, that Defendant Lovelien kept the NHP officers

further away from the bridge at 12:31.  He's there with them

away from the bridge.  And at 12:30 -- excuse me -- at 12:29,
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it's the same, and he's watching those officers, as you can see

from his body language.  And while he's doing so, Defendant

Drexler and Defendant Parker are prone on the bridge.

You also have evidence of Steven Stewart's guilt by

aiding and abetting, and that Stewart acted as Defendant

Parker's spotter at some point on April 12.  

Exhibit 50, you see Defendant Parker prone with his

rifle through the gap, and then you see Defendant Stewart to

his right.  Well, you also have their statements where

Defendant Parker posted on Facebook "That's what I kept saying

when people are calling me the Bundy sniper.  My buddy, Steven

Stewart, had to relate to me what was going on through

binoculars.  Not much good at that distance with open sights.

Now, Steven, he's got balls, head up above the concrete,

telling me exactly what they were doing after the snipers had

been greenlighted."

Steven Stewart also said, "It's been a long day.

What's up?  Why I have a little earlier with a really

high-powered scope.  Show me.  Awesome."

Exhibit 32A, you have Steven Stewart acting as

Defendant Parker and Drexler's runner.  You see from 32A, the

video, Steven Stewart dash across the highway away from the NHP

officers.

Then you see in Exhibit 143, that he's now provided

Defendant Parker with a backpack.  Again, to help secure his
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position, to help him being more comfortable on that bridge,

the middle of the day on April 12th, to help him focus and aim

in on those officers.  And in looking at Exhibit 32A, when you

watch that portion at 12:19 and you see the way Steven Stewart

avoids NHP officers, I would submit that's consciousness of

guilt that he avoids those officers.

Defendant Stewart, in procuring the backpack, also

provides Defendant Drexler with the red blanket.  You can

adduce from the evidence and in doing so, again, helps

facilitate Defendant Drexler's firing position.

Now, you also have Defendant Parker and Drexler

coordinating cover, and improving each other's positions, and

the effect that they have on the bridge.  You heard again from

the officers that they were going up and down.  Defendant

Drexler's up when Defendant Parker's down.  And then Defendant

Parker shows Defendant Drexler that, in fact, he should get his

own gap, and improve his cover, and also help improve Defendant

Parker's firing range, the effect that both of them have

together.

The gunmen on the bridge also aid and abet Bundy.  By

being on the bridge in the position that they are in, they help

Bundy facilitate obtaining his cattle, because they distract

the officers from what's in front of them in the wash.

You also know that there's evidence that the gunmen

on the bridge helped Bundy, because they do exactly what he
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said to do.  Again, coconspirator Todd Engel posts on Facebook,

after Cliven Bundy gives his speech, that he's headed out to

block the freeway and take back the cows.  He also says,

"Leaving out to shut the freeway down by force of arms."

That bottom post, by Defendant Parker, says, "Bundy

gave the sheriff one hour to disarm the BLM.  He did not reply.

We are now going to free the cattle by any means.  The sheriff

claimed that the BLM is standing down but offered no proof.

This is when Mr. Bundy gave him the do it or else.  We will not

be lied to.  We will not be lied to."

And then, of course, you have Defendant Drexler again

saying "That's why we used the freeway" -- excuse me -- "the

bridge to shut down the freeway."  Again, they are doing what

Defendant Bundy -- excuse me -- what Cliven Bundy asked him to

do.  And in doing so, they are aiding and abetting him in

getting his cattle.

Now, you also have, of course, the third way in which

you can find them guilty, which is that they agreed to do these

offenses with others.

So, Count One, conspiracy to commit an offense, and

you can see that there's all the enumerated offenses that have

been charged; the assault, the threat, the use and carry of a

firearm in relation to a crime of violence, obstruction of the

due administration of justice, interference with interstate

commerce by extortion, and interstate travel in aid of

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 102
Government's Closing Argument

extortion.  So, the question is, did they agree to do this?

You also have Count Two, conspiracy to impede or

injure a federal officer.  First, beginning on or about

March 28th and ending on or about March 22nd -- excuse me --

March 2nd, 2016, there's an agreement between two or more

persons to do one of the following:  To prevent by force,

intimidation, or threats federal law enforcement officers from

discharging the duties of their office under the United States. 

Or, 2, to induce by force, intimidation, or threats,

any federal law enforcement officer of the United States to

leave the place where their duties were required to be

performed.

And then second, the defendant became a member of the

conspiracy knowing of at least one of its objects and intending

to help accomplish it.

So, in Count One, you need to find that they joined

the conspiracy with at least one of the objects that's

identified.  And we'll go over the verdict form where you have

to identify which object they agreed to.

In Count Two, you don't have to prove that one of the

members of the conspiracy performed an overt act, but you do

have to agree as to which of these two objects they agreed to.

Well here, we would submit that the evidence shows

that these defendants agreed to this conspiracy for both; to

prevent by force, intimidation, or threats the officers from
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discharging their duties.  That is protecting the impounded

cattle.  And also by using that same threats and force,

intimidation to force the officers to leave the place where

their duties were required to be performed.

Now, here the evidence of the conspiracy is

substantial.  Again, Ryan Payne offered and explained the

services of OMA to Cliven Bundy.  He arrives, and he becomes

the militia coordinator for the Bundy family.  That's

Exhibit 53.

On Facebook, the Bundys announce that they are -- the

Operation Mutual Aid coordinator is here with us now, and then

they ask help from militia groups, including OMA, 3%ers,

Freedom Fighters, and others.

And what is the agreement?  Well, we don't have to

prove that -- we don't have to present in evidence, for you to

find that there was an agreement, any written document.  But

here there is a written document demonstrating the agreement,

which are the objectives circulated by Operation Mutual Aid.

They sent an email, which you can see to left, goes

to Captain Rick Lovelien.  And then that email -- those

objectives are then circulated by Defendant Lovelien's sister

to the Montana State Defense Force Group.  And those objectives

are:  Secure the Bundy family from government incursion, which

includes protection of all personnel -- personnel responding in

support of the Bundys, i.e., protesters, extended family, and
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friends. 

Two, return the confiscated Clark County Nevada

property currently blocked by federal personnel to its rightful

stewards, the people of Clark County Nevada.  

Three, to secure and return to Mr. Bundy's ranch the

mounting number of cattle which have been confiscated by BLM

agents or private contractors.  These objectives are in

cohesion with Cliven Bundy and the Bundy Ranch.

Now, how will they achieve these objectives?  We know

from the evidence of Defendant Parker -- excuse me -- Ryan

Payne's messages, that have been put into evidence, that he

intends this to be achieved through violence.

Now, Exhibit 56, through an exchange with other

Facebook user -- another Facebook user, that user says, "How

much ammo will be needed?"  And Ryan Payne says, "Can go with

two mags of 30 rounds.  Bring what's needed to play.

Possibility of extended operations depending on aggression of

the other side."

And, of course, you know from the testimony that was

read into the record, that Defendant Parker did, in fact, bring

two mags of 30 rounds.

And in Exhibit 57, again, you see that they are

recruiting specific kinds of people; militia.  They need

militia.  They have protesters, but they need militia.  And

Cliven Bundy says -- the person says, "What -- what the updated
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with the ranch?  What's the update?"  And Ryan Payne says,

"Needed every man willing at the request of Cliven Bundy.  I am

on the ground.  Have the family secured.  Campsite secured on

private property.  There's a patriot checkpoint to receive

direction."  All consistent with the evidence you've heard

about what these defendants do, Parker, Drexler, and Stewart,

when they come.  They check in at the patriot checkpoint, and

then they camp at the militia camps.  

And finally, in that conversation, Ryan Payne says,

on the April 9th, "No militia yet.  Protesters and close

friends and family.  Many are in the process of mobilizing."

The point here is that there's two groups.  There's

protesters, and there's militia.  And they recognize it, and

the evidence shows it that this conspiracy depends on the

presence of both of those groups on April 12, 2014, at the ICP,

because the officers are prevented from taking action as to the

militia were showing force because of the presence of the

protesters.  And the militia, thus, can capitalize on those

protesters in taking those tactical positions unchecked.

Now, we previously put into evidence Exhibit 189,

which walks through all of the exhibits, Facebook, and phone,

and some other exhibits to show you how this conspiracy comes

together over the course of April 7th to April 12th.

So you see on April 7th, the Parker, Stewart, Drexler

in Idaho.  Lovelien, Payne in Montana.  Cliven Bundy in Nevada.
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Now, the conspiracy begins, at least in terms of the

evidence that we have on this page.  At 9:17 a.m., Ryan Payne

calls Cliven Bundy's home phone.  And the phone records can be

found in Exhibit 185 for Payne and Bundy.  9:30, Ryan Payne

calls Cliven Bundy's cell phone.  12:11, Ryan Payne calls

Cliven Bundy's cell phone again.  12:15, Payne messages Rick

Lovelien to call him.  12:16, Defendant Lovelien calls Ryan

Payne.

12:30, on Facebook, Lovelien tells militia leaders

"Contact info to coordinate groups, Ryan Payne OMA."  And he

provides Payne's phone number and then says, "They have made

live contact.  Are setting up security ops."

8:50 p.m., Payne calls Cliven Bundy's cell phone.

9:57 p.m., on Facebook, Jerry Bruckhart co-founder of OMA

messages Carol Bundy that significant units will likely be

coming.  And at 4:30 p.m., earlier that day, Lovelien had

communicated with Randy Eaton, Montana State Defense Force,

that he had been in contact with Ryan Payne re this --

regarding this operation.

Now, on April 8th, 2014, you see that Ryan Payne is

now moving toward Nevada.  At 10:12 a.m., Facebook user James

Lardy messages Ricky Lovelien.  He says he's going to Nevada

with Ryan Payne's West Mountain Rangers.  He says, "Going to

fight with them and is off to war."

At 10:28 a.m., Rick Lovelien calls Ryan Payne.  At
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10:40 a.m., on Facebook, Lovelien messages Ryan Payne, "Do we

have an exact location?"  At 10:43 a.m., Ryan Payne calls

Cliven Bundy's cell phone.  At 10:53 a.m., on Facebook,

Lovelien messages James Lardy.  "We are coordinating our

efforts to get all units together when they get there."

And although I'm not saying them, you can see each of

these is from a specific exhibit, and the exhibit is identified

on the screen.

At 11:22 a.m., on Facebook, Ryan Payne messages

Lovelien the coordinates for the Bundy Ranch.  At 2:01 p.m.,

Ryan Payne calls Cliven Bundy's home phone.  At 2:26, Ryan

Payne calls Cliven Bundy's home phone again.  At 8:37 p.m., OMA

emails mobilization alert to over 200 supporters providing

directions to the Bundy Ranch, and that email goes to Cheyenne

Miller, Ricky Lovelien's sister.

At 7:22 p.m., Eric Parker posts a link to the Nevada

militia page stating, "What are you going to do when the

shooting starts?"  At 11:20 p.m., Payne tells another Facebook

user that he just got off the phone with Cliven.  Cliven knows

we're coming.  OMA is moving.

On April 9th, you see at 6:17 a.m., that Ryan Payne

calls Cliven Bundy's home phone.  At 11:08 a.m., on Facebook,

Rick Lovelien searches for and liked Operation Mutual Aid's

Facebook page.  And if you go to Exhibit 64 and Exhibit 65,

you'll see where he's liked that page.  And then going to
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Exhibit 65, you can see what it is he would have seen on

Facebook of the Operation Mutual Aid page, including their

mission statement.

At 11:59 a.m., on Facebook, Payne messages Lovelien

to, "Give me a ring ASAP."  At 11:59 a.m., Ricky Lovelien calls

Ryan Payne.  At 12:18 p.m., on Facebook, Lovelien posts to MTDF

group, "We are now in direct contact with personnel at the

Bundy Ranch.  I will be heading out shortly.  There was a

direct request made by Mr. Bundy."

At 12:33 p.m., on Facebook, Carol Bundy issues public

status update.  "The Bundy family has requested help from

militia groups, including Operation Mutual Aid, 3%ers Club, and

Freedom Fighters."  At 12:34 p.m., on Facebook, Carol Bundy

issues a public status update.  "The Operation Mutual Aid

coordinator is here with us now."  

At 12:36 p.m., on Facebook, Lovelien messages Nic

Whiting to coordinate his travel down to Nevada.  Late in the

afternoon on April 9th, the Las Vegas Review Journal releases

an article and a video interview of Ryan Payne.  "Militias

Mobilizing to Support Embattled Clark County Rancher in Clash

with Federal Rangers."  And that video is Exhibit 37.

At 7:30 p.m., Lovelien calls Nic Whiting from a

Missoula cell tower.  You can see that Defendant Lovelien is on

the move from Montana to Nevada.

Now, earlier that day, at 1:53 p.m., Eric Parker
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posts on Facebook, "Does anyone know anybody in the Nevada

militia?"

Now, an April 10th, Ryan Payne and Rick Lovelien are

now both in Montana -- excuse me -- both in Nevada with Cliven

Bundy.  Defendants Parker, Stewart, and Drexler are still in

Idaho.  But at 1:55 a.m., OMA issues its objectives, which we

just saw.  And he -- and the email reflects that those

objectives, again, are in cohesion with Cliven Bundy and that

they include the return to Mr. Bundy's ranch the mounting

number of cattle which have been confiscated by BLM agents.

Again, that's the agreement.

At 2:02 a.m., on Facebook, Rick Lovelien's sister,

Cheyenne Miller, posts the OMA objectives to the MTF group, and

we see that in Ryan Payne's email.

At 9:31 a.m., on Facebook, Eric Parker shares a

public link to the Las Vegas Review Journal article and the

video -- the link that takes you to that video of Ryan Payne

entitled "Militias Mobilizing to Support embattled Clark County

rancher in Clash with Federal Rangers."  

At 9:48 a.m., now in Nevada, Ricky Lovelien calls

Ryan Payne.  At 11:00 a.m., on Facebook, Cheyenne Miller posts

to MTF group Rick Lovelien as, "On-site at the Bundy Ranch."

At 12:24, on Facebook, Ryan Payne messages Texas militia

leader.  "Montana has the most guys.  Utah, Nevada unorganized.

Idaho.  Many more en route.  I'm designated liaison for militia
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via Cliven Bundy.  All information disseminated is vetted by

him."  

At approximately 3:30 p.m., the Bundy Ranch Facebook

posts, "Attention all militia groups.  The Bundy family has a

militia coordinator.  His name is Ryan Payne."

And this is Exhibit 37, that video that was shared --

the video that was linked to that Las Vegas Review Journal

article, the link to which Defendant Parker posted on his

Facebook page.

(Exhibit 37 played.)

MS. AHMED:  Now, April 11, 2014, 10:22 a.m., on

Facebook, Defendant Lovelien's sister, Cheyenne Miller, tells

the MTDF group, "Ricky Lovelien is running the security detail

at the protest site on the Bundy Ranch."

At 6:38 p.m., Mountain Time, on Facebook, Defendant

Parker publicly shares the article, "Armed Militias Head to

Nevada Ranch as Populous Showdown with Federal Government

Tears -- Teeters on the Brink of Violent -- Violence,

Bloodshed."

At 7:30 p.m., approximately, on Facebook, We Support

Cliven Bundy page posts "Bundy's cattle will be taken to Euclid

Stockyards," and gives contact phone number for that stockyard.

At 7:36 p.m., Eric Parker makes a telephone call to

the Euclid Stockyards.  And his telephone, from the phone

records, which can be found at Exhibit 184, page 13, are using
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a Nevada cell tower.  And as you can see, Eric Parker, Steven

Stewart, and Scott Drexler are now on their way from Idaho to

Nevada.

Now, that night, either 8:30 or 9:30 -- 8:30 that

night probably -- or, excuse me -- approximately, Eric Parker

sends message to the "Support Cliven Bundy Facebook page"

stating, "We are going to be showing up tonight.  Is that okay?

At around 11:30 p.m."  Excuse me.  "At around 11:30."  And, of

course, you know from the evidence that Eric Parker does travel

with Scott Drexler and Steven Stewart to Bunkerville, Nevada.

April 12th, Cliven Bundy is now joined in Nevada by

Ryan Payne, Ricky Lovelien, Eric Parker, Steven Stewart, and

Scott Drexler.  At 7:32 a.m., on April 12th, Ryan Payne calls

Cliven Bundy's home telephone.  At 9:40 a.m., approximately,

Cliven Bundy meets Sheriff Gillespie on the stage and tells him

to disarm federal agents at the compounds in one hour.

At approximately 11:00 a.m., Cliven Bundy speaks to

the crowd, including defendants -- including Ryan Payne, who

was on stage with him, and Defendants Lovelien, Parker, Stewart

and Drexler, about shutting down the freeway and going to get

the cattle.

At 11:24 a.m., on Facebook, Eric Parker posts the

status update.  "Bundy gave the sheriff one hour to disarm the

BLM.  He did not reply.  We are now going to free the cattle by

any means.  The sheriff claimed the BLM is standing down but
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offered no proof.  This is when Mr. Bundy gave him the 'do it

or else.'  We will not be lied to."

At 12:58 p.m., on Facebook, Steven Stewart posts a

status update.  "It's been a really long day.  What's up?  Why

I have a little earlier with a really high-powered scope.  Show

me F... awesome."

At 1:02 p.m., on Facebook, Steven Stewart posts a

status update.  "First they said they were going to release

everything and leave.  Then they held the gates to Gold Butte

and threatened us with chemicals.  Then we pushed forward, and

they had to back up.  They are releasing the cows now.  BLM is

leaving."

At 2:59 p.m., on Facebook, Eric Parker posts status

update.  "We have cows, happy cows, free cows, American cows

raised in an open range not a cage."  At 4:07 p.m., Eric Parker

sends the Facebook message, "It took a stat off -- standoff,"

after being asked if the feds got scared when he got there and

backed off.

On April 17th, 2014, Scott Drexler's posts a message

on Facebook regarding a picture of him on the bridge on

April 12, 2014.  And in a response to a comment that bridges

are choke points, he responds, "That's why we use them to shut

down the freeway."

You can see through the interaction of these Facebook

posts and phone calls and -- excuse me -- Facebook posts, and
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phone records, and the events that happen on April 12

themselves, how these defendants are tied in to each other, and

how they are tied in to Cliven Bundy and Ryan Payne in this

conspiracy.

And then you know again from the evidence in this

case, that on 4/12 of '14 -- excuse me -- on April 12, 2014,

they go to the staging area rally.  Parker attends and meets --

attends a meeting and meets members of Arizona State Militia,

who are then in front of the stage when Cliven Bundy is giving

his speech.  We know also that Defendant Lovelien drives the

other three defendants to that rally from the militia camp.

We know at the rally, that Defendant Lovelien, who,

according to his sister's posts, is doing the -- heading the

security at the staging area.  He appears to continue to do

security and is pictured with an earpiece in his ear.

Defendant Parker is also doing security or crowd control, per

his previous testimony.

You also know, from both Parker and Drexler -- or,

excuse me -- from Defendant Drexler's testimony, that the

defendants left their firearms in Defendant Lovelien's truck.

Again, from the videos here this is a screenshot from

Exhibit 6A.  You can see that those same people, that were at

the meeting in the morning, the Arizona State Militia, that

Eric Parker met, are now lined up in front of the stage where

Cliven Bundy is speaking.
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Again, you know what he says in his speech.  And

after he gives that speech, Todd Engel posts this post that

you've already seen at Exhibit 122.  "Headed out to block

freeway and take cows back."  He also posts, in that same

exhibit, shortly thereafter, "Leaving now to shut the freeway

down by force of arms."

And again, consistent with Cliven Bundy's speech and

with these posts made by Todd Engel, Eric Parker -- this is his

post at Exhibit 93 -- says, "Bundy gave the sheriff one hour to

disarm the BLM.  He did not reply.  We are now going to free

the cattle by any means.  The sheriff claimed that the BLM is

standing down but offered no proof.  This is when Mr. Bundy

gave him the 'do it or else.'  We will not be lied to."

You've seen, in Exhibit 182, as well as in

Exhibit 31A, the screenshot of Defendant Lovelien's truck in

which Steven Stewart is in the back heading to the BLM

impoundment.  And you've seen, again in Exhibit 182, the

screenshot taken from Exhibit 8 of that same Todd Engel who

posted to those messages on Facebook "Arrives at the ICP," with

his tactical vest, his assault rifle as well.

Now, we also put into evidence Todd Engel's Facebook

messages from Exhibit 122, where he added a video.  But more

importantly, he posted a message "Armed standoff."

And, of course, you know, from Exhibit 182 and the

images that have been put into -- and video that have been put
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into evidence, the tactical positions that these four

defendants take on the northbound bridge.

THE COURT:  I think that was 162?  I think I heard it

say 182 but it was 162?

MS. AHMED:  So, this image is from Exhibit 162.  Your

Honor is correct, but Exhibit 182 is that time line.  So,

either one, you'll see this image, but 182 will walk you

through the events on the bridge -- excuse me -- at the ICP.

Now, again, Steven Stewart's post afterward

celebrating the events that had unfolded consistent with what

you know happened.  And Ammon Bundy also made statements about

what happened on April 12th in referencing the plan that

occurred that day.

(Unidentified video exhibit played.)

MS. AHMED:  Keep playing.

(Unidentified video exhibit played.)

MS. AHMED:  Now, Ammon Bundy gave that speech or that

interview, rather, while standing in the wash at the BLM

impoundment site.  And we know that after the BLM withdrew from

that area in Post 2, that the defendants stayed up on the

bridge as the "West has now been won sign" was hung over the

freeway.

And at Exhibit 122, Todd Engle also posts, "BLM lost

and has backed down due to overwhelming force of the people and

our arms.  We win.  Cattle being released as we speak.  If they
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don't, trouble will start again.  It was very, very close to an

exchange of gunfire.  We rushed their barricades with armed

people and cowboys on horseback.  Crazy."

And then the BLM, of course, withdrew, and Eric

Parker, Scott Drexler, and Steven Stewart were there to watch

them leave as was Defendant Lovelien.  And then the cattle were

released.  And all of these slides again come from Exhibit 182

which takes them from the source which is listed there.

Eric Parker posted on his Facebook post "Celebrating

the release of the cattle."  And Defendant Lovelien returned to

the Bundy staging area to continue conducting security at that

site.  And here you see him pictured at approximately 4:00 p.m.

on April 12th again with that earpiece in his ear.

Now, you also have Ammon Bundy, Cliven Bundy's son,

giving an interview that same day as well, commenting on --

here commenting on the plan.

(Unidentified video exhibit played.)

MS. AHMED:  Now, ladies and gentlemen, of course you

have heard from Sheriff Lombardo who was the assistant sheriff

at the time, who testified on the stand that when he got to

ICP, it was clear that all they could do was work to order the

release of the cattle in order to prevent this from being a

violent event.

But what's significant, in this video, in Ammon

Bundy's comments, is his comment that they had militia and
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weapons, and the officers didn't know if they were going to be

fired upon, because that was the point.  That was how the plan

worked on April 12th at that standoff.  Because it was the

threat of violence, the potential for violence, the fatal

funnel, as Ranger Whitteaker described it, that the officers

were placed in that basically forced their hand and forced them

to retreat.  And Ammon Bundy says as much when he makes that

comment in his video.

Now, in addition to generally conspiracy, joining in

the conspiracy and that there's an agreement, which we submit

the evidence shows that these four defendants did join in that

conspiracy and did agree to commit all of the offenses that are

listed in Count One.  

Under conspiracy liability, you can also find the

defendant who joined into the agreement guilty of the actual

substantive offenses, meaning Eric Parker joined in the

agreement, and Scott Drexler assaulted those officers on

April 12th.  Well, by joining in this agreement, this

conspiracy together, they become liable for each other's

reasonably foreseeable criminal actions.

And so Defendant Lovelien, even if you concluded,

against the evidence in this case, that he didn't himself

assault the officers on April 12th, by joining in the

agreement, in the conspiracy with these other defendants, he is

liable, under coconspirator -- coconspirator liability, for
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their conduct.  He is thus liable.  It's as if he did it

himself.  When you join the agreement, you are all responsible

for each other's actions.

And, so, here again, once the defendant joins, he's

responsible for the other defendants' actions.  That means

Lovelien is responsible for Parker, Drexler, and Stewart's

actions on the bridge.  Stewart is responsible for Parker and

Drexler.  They are responsible for each other.  They are all

responsible for each other in joining in this conspiracy

together, because in joining the conspiracy to commit the

offenses that are listed in Count One, and to interfere with

and impede federal officers, it is reasonably foreseeable that

this conspiracy is going to be achieved through the use of

force, threats, assault, and violence.

And, so, because it's reasonably foreseeable that

that's going to happen, when they join this agreement together,

they are -- under the law, it is as if they committed the

offense themselves.

And, so, when you look at this verdict form, and if

you find these defendants guilty of Count One; and, in doing

so, identify what they agreed to commit, you should also find

them guilty of the substantive offense under that coconspirator

liability.  Meaning if they are guilty of conspiring to commit

assault, then because it is reasonably foreseeable, in joining

that conspiracy, that the assault is going to happen, that it's
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as if they all committed the assault themselves, even if --

here we have evidence that they all did it themselves.  But

even if you didn't believe that the evidence was there for one

of them, under that coconspirator liability, finding guilty for

them as to Count One means you would, for example, under the

assault also find them guilty of committing Count Five.

So, guilty as to Count One means you would go to

Count Five and also find them guilty there.

Separately, as we've already stated, for all of these

offenses, the Count Five, Six, Eight, et cetera, if you find

that they aided and abetted, they are also guilty and equally

liable as if they did it themselves.

So, in looking at this verdict form, the question is,

as to Count One -- let me go back to Count One.  Did they --

did you -- Do you find that the evidence shows that they

conspired to commit?  They agreed.  There was an agreement to

assault federal officers.  Which we submit that the evidence

shows that there was, then they're guilty, and you would check

number one.

You would again, under that coconspirator liability,

which I believe is actually Jury Instruction 21, you would then

go to Count Five, and you could find them guilty there.

So, in sum, ladies and gentlemen, the point is that

you can -- looking at this verdict form, thinking about the

evidence and the law that you have been given, these defendants
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are guilty of all the crimes with which they've been charged,

because they did it themselves, they helped each other do it,

and they agreed to do it.

Now, I know that is a lot of information that I've

just gone over in a very short amount of time, or probably what

seems like a very long amount of time, but the point here is

that the evidence and the law lead you inexorably to the

conclusion that these defendants are guilty as they are

charged.

Now, after I'm done speaking, of course, the defense

attorneys will have an opportunity to present their arguments

to you.  And in addition to the tool that you have of common

sense and reason, in looking at the evidence and in listening

to their closing arguments, think about the evidence in terms

of credibility, corroboration, and consistency.

And ask yourselves if the arguments that are

presented to you are consistent with the evidence or ask you to

explain away the evidence.  Use your common sense and your

reason to look at the law and the evidence, and apply the law

as the Judge has given it to you.  And I will ask that you

listen to their arguments, with that framework, knowing also

that Mr. Myhre will have an opportunity to come back up here at

the end and address what they've said you to here again before

we are done.  

But I would ask that basically, you think about the
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events of April 12, 2014.  It's a date that we've heard said

hundreds of times over the past month and a half.  And for us,

it's a moment in time.  But for the officers who testified to

you about what they felt, you saw for yourselves the impact

that event had on them and the impact that these four

defendants had on them.  

And it is clear from the evidence that they did it

with every intention of threatening, assaulting, extorting

those officers and getting that cattle.  And they conspired to

do it, and they did do it, and they helped each other do it.

So, in light of that, ladies and gentlemen, we ask

that you ultimately, when you go back to your deliberations,

fill out that verdict form, that you find them all guilty on

all counts.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's go ahead and take our

afternoon bathroom break.

I do remind the jury again.  Please do not discuss

this case with anyone, not even your fellow jurors, not yet.

Please do not permit anyone to discuss it with you.  Do not

read, or listen to, or view anything that touches upon this

case, nor attempt to perform any research or any independent

investigation.  And please do not yet form any opinions.

It's 3:00.  We'll go ahead and take -- Aaron, 15?

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  That should be plenty, Your

Honor.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 122

THE COURT:  All right.  Let's go ahead and take a

15-minute break.  So we will stand and excuse the jury and

welcome them back at 3:15.

(Jury out.)

THE COURT:  All right.  We are off record.

(Recess, 3:00 p.m.  Resumed 3:29 p.m.  Jury out.)

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.  You may

go ahead and be seated, or go ahead and call in the jury.

(Jury in.)

THE COURT:  All right.  The jury may go ahead and be

seated.  Everyone else may be seated as well.

All right.  So now defense may make its closing

argument.  Who would like to go first?

MR. TANASI:  Thank you, Your Honor.  At this time,

Steven Stewart and I have no closing argument.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Marchese.

MR. TANASI:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you.  At this

time, Eric Parker has no closing argument.

THE COURT:  Mr. Leventhal.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  On behalf of Mr. Drexler, we have no

closing argument. 

THE COURT:  And Mr. Perez.

MR. PEREZ:  On behalf of Mr. Lovelien, we have no

closing argument.

THE COURT:  Does the government wish to make a
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rebuttal argument?

MR. MYHRE:  May we have just a moment, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yes, you may.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

MR. MYHRE:  Well, Your Honor, in light of the fact

that they have made no closing, we have no rebuttal.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

So, at this time, we are going to go ahead and excuse

the jury, the 12 jurors to go begin their deliberations.  The

alternate jurors are numbers 13, 14 and 15.  So, we will be

separating you out.

The deliberating jurors will begin deliberations in a

different jury room than the one that you have been in.  So,

we'll let you go and gather up your things and move into the

different jury room that is used for deliberations.  

The alternate -- the three alternate jurors, you'll

be given instructions by Mike or Aaron as to -- because you are

going to be split up into two; so, actually, I didn't check to

see who gets which, but I think that Mike will have to get the

deliberation group, and Aaron will stay with the alternate

jurors, so that we can make sure we have everybody's contact

information and so forth.

So, at this time, I'll ask Aaron, please, if you are

sworn in.  I know technically you were already sworn in before

at the beginning, but for deliberation purposes, we will go

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 21 - 124

ahead head and do that as well.

(Court Security Officer sworn.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we'll have Jurors No. 1

through 12, go ahead and stand up, and you can exit with Mike.

And then as soon as they have exited, then Aaron if you will

please take Jurors 13, 14 and 15.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And we will be in recess while they

deliberate.

(Jury out.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we are in recess.  If you

didn't get a chance already to give Aaron your contact

information, please make sure that you do that, so that he can

give you a call and let you know what time the jury goes home

today.  Because we've been having court till 5:00, that's what

I expect is that they will stay until 5:00.  

And then we'll let you -- Aaron will also call you to

let you know if they are going to be starting right up again at

9:00 a.m. tomorrow morning, which I do expect that they would

be at least putting in 9:00 to 5:00, and also whether or not if

it's necessary to come back on Friday, if they choose to come

back on Friday.  Or if they already had plans for Friday, they

may not want to come back on Friday, and not be able to, and

they might come back on Monday.  

So, in other words, step by step we will keep you
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abreast of what's going on, so that you know whether you need

to be at the ready with a suit on or not.

MR. TANASI:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And also if we have a jury note, we'll

also call you right away to come back to court in your suits,

so that we can discuss that jury note as well.

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, may we make a record before

we recess?

THE COURT:  You know, probably better if you just

file it.  Do it that way instead.

MR. TANASI:  Okay.

THE COURT:  All right.  We'll be in recess.

(Recess, 3:37 p.m.  Resumed, 4:02 p.m.  Jury out.)

THE COURT:  All right.  We are back on the record,

and go ahead and be seated.  We are outside the presence of the

jury.

I did write down a few things that I noticed and

continued to try to look at to see whether I can corroborate

what I thought that I saw.

Juror No. 12, when she walked in, gave -- not 12.  2,

the top one.  The one that wears the gray sweater up top.

Juror No. 2, when she walked in, she winked -- first

she smiled and then winked over at the defense table when she

walked in.  Then she proceeded to look over to the right, and

make eye contact with somebody, and then was looking back over
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at defense table.  And when she smiled, she then quickly looked

at me, and we locked eyes.  And then she quickly looked down.

And now I've also been told that other individuals in

the courtroom witnessed her blowing a kiss to defense table as

she was exiting the courtroom.  So, I'm going to have her

brought in and ask her questions.  And I want to give both

parties an opportunity to tell me what questions you would like

me to ask in determining whether there is good cause to excuse

her.

Demonstrated bias, by communicating with the

defendant, his family, or his attorneys, can constitute good

cause to dismiss the juror under United States versus

Vartanian, V-A-R-T-A-N-I-A-N.  

And, so, that is my concern at this point, but I want

to give you the opportunity to tell me what questions, if any,

you want me to ask her or if you just agree.  I don't know if

you've also seen the same.

MR. MYHRE:  Your Honor, we did notice that -- and I

didn't -- I couldn't see, from my vantage point.  But when

Defendant Parker was leaving the witness stand -- 

THE REPORTER:  Please speak into the microphone.

MR. MYHRE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  

When Defendant Parker was leaving the witness stand,

it appeared, at least to some on our team, that he made eye

contact or made some sort of facial gesture and connected with
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Juror No. 2.

I saw the turn, and I saw that he was making some

facial gesture.  I didn't see -- and I saw her, but I didn't

see that their eyes necessarily locked.  But I saw that she was

visibly emoting based on him leaving the witness stand on that

Thursday when that occurred last week.

THE COURT:  And also, when she left today, after the

defense stated that they were not going to be making a closing,

she seemed visibly upset, and Juror No. 1 was comforting her.

But that didn't bother me as much as -- just to add to the

concern that had already been made.

So, was there anything else that you or your teams or

staff or other individuals saw, so we can make sure that we can

ask her about everything?

MR. MARCHESE:  In reference to the things that may or

may not have been seen, personally, I haven't seen her make eye

contact with me or in our direction at any point in time.

I will say I did see what the Court saw when she was

leaving with the kiss.  How I construed it was that it was to

the alternates, given the fact that they would now be split up.

I don't know who it was to, but it definitely was not

in our direction.  It was more in the vicinity of alternates,

so that's how I viewed it.  But I've never seen her -- locked

eyes with her or anything like that that I felt to be out of

the ordinary or odd.
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I mean, it does periodically happen.  You look up,

and you happen to be looking at a juror.

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Well, and no offense.  I know that

it wasn't aimed at you, because you were always looking at your

laptop, because I was looking to see if I could figure out who

it was that she was locking eyes with.  And I had narrowed it

down to Parker or Tanasi from my point of view.  

But I had ruled it out, because you were never

looking back at her.  You were looking down at your laptop, and

so I -- I believe you when you say you never saw her doing

anything else, because you weren't really looking in that

direction.  

Anything else from the government?

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I'm not making eye contact

with her.  I would like to put that on the record as well.  I

have this screen, which is the screen I look at.  And, I mean,

maybe she's behind the screen.  But I make a very good point

not to sit and stare or make eye contact.

Obviously, from time to time, you look over there.

You are looking at reactions.  But for this very reason, I am

not going to sit there and look into her eyes and gaze at her.  

Again, I feel like I'm kind of in the position of

arguing a negative right now, because it didn't happen.

THE COURT:  And maybe I should clarify that I'm not

accusing any of the defense counsel of doing anything like
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that.  And I think you notice that you and I kept looking at

each other.  Maybe you were wondering why does the judge keep

looking at me, because I was trying to figure out who it was

that she was looking at, and whether it was you or Mr. Parker.  

And I -- from my vantage point, again I'm in between

both of you.  I didn't think that it was any of the other

counsel back there either.

You wanted to say something?

MR. MYHRE:  Your Honor, just I did have a report that

at one of our sidebars during Defendant Parker's testimony,

that No. 2 was smiling at Mr. Parker during -- while we were at

sidebar.  So --

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, the only, I guess, response

that I would offer is why does that come up now?  We have had

no sidebars today.

MR. MYHRE:  I believe it was during the sidebar

during Defendant Parker's testimony.

THE COURT:  All right.  And any questions that you

want me to ask?

MR. MYHRE:  Nothing further, Your Honor, from --

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I guess what did you intend

to ask?  Just essentially whether she did or didn't do it?  I

don't have any specific questions.  I guess we'll see how they

go.

THE COURT:  Well, I don't feel I need to ask her
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whether she did or didn't do it, because I saw her do it.  So,

my concern is why she did it and whether there's an innocent

explanation for it that is convincing to me or not.

MR. TANASI:  Okay.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  What are we referring to why she did

what?  The kiss to somebody on that side?  What -- is that

what --

THE COURT:  The smile, the wink, and the kiss.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Smile, on the same occasion or

different occasions?

THE COURT:  Today.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Yeah, but at different times?

THE COURT:  The smile and the wink were at the same

time when she walked in.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Oh, okay.

THE COURT:  And the blowing the kiss with the hand

gesture was on the way out.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Okay.

MR. MARCHESE:  So, it would have been when we were

making our appearances this morning with the smile, or wink, or

whatever?

THE COURT:  It was actually coming in after lunch.

MR. MARCHESE:  Okay.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Does the Court know where she was

focused when she did the smile and the wink?
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THE COURT:  Yes, defense area.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Oh, this area?

THE COURT:  Oh, yes.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Okay.  But the Court indicated that

you found -- or the Court indicated that you thought the kiss

was towards this area as well?

THE COURT:  The kiss was definitely towards this

area, but the -- what caused me concern was the constant eye

contact that continued, and her looking over to the right, and

then looking over to the defense.

So, I'm going to ask her some questions, but I want

to give you an opportunity to ask questions as well.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I think, at this time, I don't have

any questions.  Maybe there might be some follow-up questions,

if that's okay with the Court.  I mean, at this point, I didn't

see it, so I don't know.

MR. MARCHESE:  And one thing I would say, Your Honor,

and Mr. Parker brings up a good point to me today.  Obviously,

the Court is configured a little bit differently due to the

closing arguments.  And the way the podium is situated, she

can't see Mr. Parker from her vantage point.

THE COURT:  All right.  Anyone else in the courtroom

that saw anything?

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.  Just that it was

reported that one of the agents saw her actually lean to look
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around the podium to see Mr. Parker at one point today.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  That's not possible with the podium

where it's at.  It hasn't moved, and the seat No. 2, there's no

way she can lean around and see Mr. Parker, if the Court

would --

MR. MYHRE:  It's possible someone could lean in their

chair.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  The way that I'm facing, which I'm

directly behind Mr. Parker right now, is that there is no way

that someone could lean around and see Mr. Parker from that

chair.

MR. MYHRE:  I'm just reporting, Your Honor, that she

leaned and to look around the podium at Mr. Parker.

THE COURT:  All right.  And did the marshals also

receive reports from other individuals in the courtroom that

Juror No. 2 was exhibiting behavior that is not common?

MARSHAL:  That is correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And what was the behavior that was

reported?

MARSHAL:  The same behavior that you stated yourself.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, let's go ahead then.

Thank you.  We'll call her in.

(Juror No. 2 entered the courtroom.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

THE COURT:  You can go ahead and have a seat.  Juror
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No. 2 is joining us now on the record outside the presence of

the rest of the jury.

I have a couple of questions for you.  The first one

is to find out why it is that I have been seeing certain

behavior from you.  First of all, when you came in, you were

smiling in the direction of the defense, and I saw you give

them a wink.

Can you explain what that was about?

JUROR NO. 2:  For starters, I don't ever wink.  If

anything, that was misread.  I try to smile at whoever I make

eye contact with, and it is natural to look at the defense,

because they are directly across from me.

THE COURT:  And then when you were leaving, you

seemed upset that the defense did not make a closing argument,

and Juror No. 1 was comforting you.

And then you turned over to the defense counsel table

again and blew them a kiss.

JUROR NO. 2:  Oh, no.  My fellow No. 14, 15 -- my

fellow juries is who I blew a kiss to.  Verna has been the

sweetest lady, and it saddened me that I didn't think I'd get

to see her again.

THE COURT:  During Government's closing, at various

points, it looked like you were making eye contact with defense

table specifically with Mr. Parker.

JUROR NO. 2:  I do try to look at people in the face,
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and, you know, it's a very interesting court case, like reading

facial expressions, looking at emotion.  But I do the same

wherever I look.  I'm sorry if it was misconstrued as some

signal, because it is not.

THE COURT:  Have you been crying today?

JUROR NO. 2:  No, but I do wear contacts, and I am

sleepy.

THE COURT:  All right.  Any follow-up questions?

MR. TANASI:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  No, Your Honor.  

MR. MYHRE:  No, thank you, Your Honor.

MR. MARCHESE:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

(Juror No. 2 left the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, does anybody wish to make

a motion?

MR. MYHRE:  I'm conflicted, Your Honor, because I'm

not -- it sounds like you saw the wink, so I believe the Court

saw the wink, and then she denied the wink.  So, I'm concerned

as to whether she's telling the truth or not.  That's where I

am.  And --

THE COURT:  She did admit she blew the kiss.

Mr. Marchese saw her blow the kiss, and Juror No. 2 said that

she was blowing the kiss to one of the alternate jurors, which

was what Mr. Marchese believed he saw as well.
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MR. MYHRE:  So, I'm just conflicted, because she's

obviously sat through the whole -- the whole trial.  Your

Honor, I didn't catch her last answer when you asked her

whether she was crying.  Did she say she has problems with her

contacts?

THE COURT:  She says she wears contacts, and she's

sleepy.

MR. MYHRE:  Well, Your Honor, I think I'm going to

move to strike her, just because I'm concerned about her answer

in response to your question about the wink.

If she -- unless the eye -- that's my sole concern

here, is if she's not telling the truth about that.  The Court

saw it.  And I -- I didn't see it, but if -- if it's an eye

issue, if she had a problem with that, I -- you know, I am

willing to, you know, accept that.  But if she's not telling

the truth about that, I have concerns.

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else from the

defense that you want to --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I think she obviously told the truth.

It was corroborated by Mr. Marchese on the one answer.  And if

she said she's sleepy, and she's got contacts, maybe she was

just blinking.  

I didn't notice anything on this side.  I'm right

behind Mr. Parker.  You know, I look at the jurors once in a

while just like we all do.  You indicated that it might have
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been Mr. Tanasi, but he's not made any eye contact.  

So, I think she's been very forthcoming with the

Court.  She told you exactly who she blew the kiss to, and I

think that was the most -- probably the most flagrant thing.

If there's an eye issue, and she's sleepy, and she wears

contacts, there's a reasonable explanation.  And I don't think

it's grounds to dismiss her, since she sat through this trial

for a month and a half now or almost.  

I think we are all tired and sleepy.  And I don't

wear contacts.  If I do, then I might have some irritation

coming in in the morning.  I don't think it's anything more

than that.

THE COURT:  And Marshal, what was it that was

reported to you, so that I can see if it is consistent or not

with what I believe that I saw?

MARSHAL:  The only things that were reported to me,

Your Honor, was the -- the blowing the kiss, staring to the

right all day today, and then -- and also the wink.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. PEREZ:  Your Honor, just to clarify, he said

staring to the right.  Would that be to the prosecution?

THE COURT:  Well, and that's why I wanted to look at

the case law, because the Vartanian case includes communication

with the defendant, his attorney, or his family.

And so that was my concern with whether she was
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looking at any individuals that were family.  I did look at

Mr. Parker's wife, and she was not making eye contact with

Mr. Parker's wife.  At least to my satisfaction, I didn't think

that that was going on.  And there were some other people that

I was trying to figure out if she was making contact with.

So, like I said, I had narrowed it down to where it

seemed that where she was always looking as to either

Mr. Tanasi or to Mr. Parker, and not to the people that I think

I know are Mr. Parker's family.

Obviously, I don't know who all of Mr. Parker's

family are, but the individuals that I've seen here over and

over again that I believe I think I know are his family, I

didn't think that -- that that was the case.

So, I'm not going to excuse her based on the

information that we have and her responses.  That doesn't mean

I'm not concerned.  I am still concerned, and so if there is

something else that comes up, I think that's probably going to

be more than enough.  But, wow.

If we hear of anything else, I -- I know what I saw,

but I don't want to be the only one.  And I appreciate that

people are reporting it also to the marshals, which is why I

wanted to bring it to everybody else's attention.  

Her responses are that she did not wink.  That she

just smiles at everyone that she looks at, and that -- which

wasn't true, because she's very frowny-faced during the
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information today as well, but I don't want to consider that,

except maybe in evaluating her credibility.

But I think it's too thin to excuse her based on the

record we have now.  Maybe it will prove out to be a mistake

later, but --

MR. MYHRE:  Does the Court want to inquire of her

what she was looking at to the right, or is the Court satisfied

she wasn't making eye contact with family members?

THE COURT:  She said she looks around and smiles at

everybody.  Which is not necessarily what I saw, because she

didn't smile at everyone and look around at everybody.  But --

yeah, nobody -- it's sort of the nature of this case, I

suppose, that nobody else wants to be identified as seeing what

they saw.

But, you know, feel comfortable reporting to it the

marshals, which obviously gets to my attention at some point.

And I had already spoken to my staff and had told them to look,

and my staff saw a couple of the things that we verified.  But

if it's -- if the motion by the government is only based on

what I saw, and she's saying that she smiles at everyone, and

that the blowing of the kiss was to the alternate jurors and

not to Mr. Parker, or Mr. Tanasi, or whoever else it might have

been, if I misunderstood, but I know it was someone in that

direction.

If there's nothing else that anybody else saw, then I
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think that's probably better just to leave her on.

All right.  So did -- Aaron, did they indicate to

you, when you talked to them, whether they were going to be

leaving at 5:00, or are they leaving and just not even

starting, because sometimes they don't even want to start.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  They are still here, Your

Honor.  I do not believe we have a time that they are quitting.

I would imagine 5:00.  

THE COURT:  Yeah.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  We have not talked about

it.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Your Honor, can we take a moment?  I

know we all waived our closings, and I know Mr. Tanasi asked --

on a different note, Mr. Tanasi asked if we could just put

something on the record.  

Could we have our clients, just on the record, say

that they waived -- they agreed to the waiving of the closing?

I believe that case law requires either written notice that we

do that or on the record.  So --

THE COURT:  That's why I think it's better that you

provide a written notice.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Okay.  So, I'll provide a written

notice.

THE COURT:  Okay.
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All right.  So, with that, we'll be in recess.

(Recess, 4:28 p.m.)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )
                            )   Case No. 2:16-cr-00046-GMN-PAL 
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SCOTT DREXLER(12), RICHARD )
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(Monday, August 21, 2017, 1:50 p.m.) 

--oOo-- 

P R O C E E D I N G S 

(Jury out.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  This is the time set for

Jury Trial, Day 23, in Case No. 2:16-cr-046-GMN-PAL, United

States of America versus Eric Parker, Steven Stewart, O. Scott

Drexler, and Ricky Lovelien.  

Counsel, please make your appearances for the record.

MR. MYHRE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Steven Myhre,

Erin Creegan, and Nadia Ahmed on behalf of the United States.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. TANASI:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Rich Tanasi

with Steven Stewart who is present.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. MARCHESE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Jess

Marchese on behalf of Eric Parker.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Todd

Leventhal on behalf of Scott Drexler.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. PEREZ:  Good afternoon.  Shawn Perez on behalf of

Ricky Lovelien.
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THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

All right.  Before we begin, just a quick reminder

that this is a courtroom and not a sporting event.  So, we're

going to be conducting a hearing today, and we don't want any

distractions or any inappropriate language or body language

during the proceeding.

We do have security here authorized to remove anyone

who makes inappropriate remarks.  The defendants are aware

there is a holding cell right outside the door there with a

speaker system set up, so that if any of the defendants cannot

comply with the behavior that is expected in a courtroom, then

they can still at least continue to hear the proceedings from

the cell if it is necessary to have them removed from the

courtroom.

Likewise, we are not permitted to have any electronic

devices in the courtroom.  So, if you do have one, please take

a moment to step outside and drop it out there.  No cell phones

are permitted, iPads, laptops, things of that nature.  We do

not permit any audio or video recording in any of the federal

courts, and so that is why we can't have the devices.

We do have computer monitors and such, and the

attorneys and the security officers are permitted to have their

electronics so that they can review their notes and prepare

accordingly for today as well as communicate for security

reasons.
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All right.  So, I have received two jury notes that

were shared with counsel, and I'm prepared to hear argument or

suggestions as to what responses should be provided.  I realize

I didn't number them for you, so I'll tell you now that the one

that starts off with the words "On Thursday," we'll refer to

that as Jury Note No. 143.  So, if you want to write that on

the top of your copy.

And then the next one starts "We the jury," that one

will be numbered 144.

All right.  So, does the government wish to suggest a

response to Note No. 143?

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.  The -- first of all, we

note our general concern that the Court's instruction requires

that any notes not only be in writing but be signed by a juror.

We note that none of these are -- either 143 or 144 appear to

be signed, and so we note that as well.

With respect to 143 in particular, we would just

suggest that the Court refer them back to Instructions 1 and 37

in terms of their duties to deliberate, but anything with

respect to -- what appears in 143 is that this is a juror who's

opining as to another juror's potential bias.

And they reference, apparently, a statement that was

made outside the deliberation room, but then it appears to be

going into this juror's opinion formed as a result of

deliberations.
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We believe any questioning of this juror or of even

the juror that -- that this juror's alluding to would violate

the secrecy of the deliberations.  And therefore, we -- we see

no further need to inquire into this, because it all goes to

the sacrosanct aspect of the jury deliberations and secrecy of

those jury deliberations.  So, that's with respect to 143.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, just let me back up

there.  So, you said you think the response should be to refer

them to Jury Instruction No. -- did you say 1 and 37?

MR. MYHRE:  1 and 37.  Just as the -- just their

duties to deliberate, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  And no further inquiry.

MR. MYHRE:  And no further inquiry, yes, Your Honor.

And I'm prepared to address 144 as well, unless you want to

just do one at a time.

THE COURT:  Well, let's do one at a time, so we

don't -- don't get confused.

So, Mr. Tanasi, do you wish to be heard on Juror Note

143, or Mr. Marchese, you are going to speak first or for

everyone?

MR. MARCHESE:  It's fine, Your Honor.  We've all

spoken.  And, of course, Mr. Leventhal and Mr. Tanasi I'm sure

can fill in the blanks on anything that I leave out.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MARCHESE:  The defense is very concerned about
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No. 143, particularly based upon the questionnaires and the

voir dire process.  This was not anything that was elicited

through the questionnaires or the voir dire process --

THE COURT:  Yes, it was.  She -- she told you.  She

said that her husband was employed.

MR. MARCHESE:  Oh, yes.  That was.  We are aware of

that.

THE COURT:  Oh, okay.

MR. MARCHESE:  That's not what we have the concern

with, however, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, what was not elicited

then?

MR. MARCHESE:  The fact that this individual has had

a gun pointed at her in the past.  This is very concerning to

us collectively, because that's basically the genesis of this

charge.

You know, we understand and we agree with the

prosecution that there should be secrecy in the deliberation

process, but we're very happy that this was brought to our

attention, because we need honest jurors as well.

And if this is not elicited and told to us, I mean,

we surely -- I know myself, I can't speak on behalf of the

everyone else, but we -- I surely would have moved to have this

juror stricken for cause based upon the fact that it's clear

that she cannot be fair and impartial based upon her past.
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THE COURT:  So, how would this information have been

elicited?  Was there a question asked that would have elicited

this?  Because I'm not --

MR. MARCHESE:  The question was --

THE COURT:  -- aware of one.

MR. MARCHESE:  -- have you ever been the victim of a

crime?  If you have a gun pointed at you, that's an assault.

So, based upon that --

THE COURT:  I thought it wasn't.  I thought that was

your argument is that it wasn't, but okay.  So, you're saying

that she was a victim of a crime, and that that should have

been elicited in the questionnaire?  Is that --

MR. MARCHESE:  Well, she should have said, "Hey" -- I

don't know.  You know, this is a very vague response.  It's

something about having a gun pointed at her in the past, and

that this note indicates that this individual has gun issues,

and that she's personalizing the events.  So, it's twofold.

I think it comes, number one, "Have you ever been the

victim of a crime?" but also, just the general question, which

is "Can you be fair and impartial?"  So, based upon that, we

believe that she's been dishonest with the Court and to the

defense in particular in her responses.

So, that's -- it's just very troubling to us that

she's made it this far, and now she has corrupted the process.

We're three days into jury deliberations, and we don't know
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what else has been said.

Obviously, there's some contention, at least with

this one juror and whoever wrote this note, and then the one

juror who we feel has not been forthcoming to the -- to the

Court.  So, we -- we are very concerned that she's corrupted

the process.  I mean, these men are -- have the right to a fair

and impartial jury, and we believe that this juror is anything

but.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, are you asking for a

mistrial then?

MR. MARCHESE:  Yes, we --

MR. TANASI:  That's correct, Your Honor.

MR. MARCHESE:  We move for a mistrial, Your Honor,

based on this.

MR. TANASI:  And just for the record, I would just

add with specificity that the question -- the questionnaire,

it's Question No. 30 on page 24 of 27.  "Have you or anyone

closely associated with you been a victim of a crime involving

a firearm?"  

"No" was the answer.  And then I'd also add, just for

the record, in terms of authority, Your Honor, it's the Warger

versus Shauers case.  I'm not sure if I'm pronouncing it

properly.  The citation, Your Honor, is 135 -- it's a US

Supreme Court case, 135 Supreme Court case 521.

That case is -- the procedural posture is a little
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bit different, but I think the notion carries through.  If a

juror was dishonest during voir dire and an honest response

would have been provided -- would have provided a valid basis

to challenge that juror for cause, the verdict must be

invalidated.  And that case goes on to cite another Supreme

Court case, McDonough, 464 US 556.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Leventhal, did you want

to add anything else?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  The only thing I would add is that on

Question No. 9 of the jury questionnaires asked if anybody was

afraid of firearms.  And the answer was "No."  And there was a

follow-up.  "If yes, please explain."  And on this particular

juror's questionnaire, "Are you afraid of firearms?" she put

"No."

And if she's saying that here, "Well, if you ever

knew what it was like to have a gun pointed at you, I've had a

gun pointed at me, and I don't know what I would do."  So, it

went just beyond whether or not there was a crime, and it went

beyond whether or not someone in her family -- or it goes to

her personalization of having guns.  And she answered in the

negative, which apparently she's talking outside of

deliberations, and that question should have been answered in

the affirmative.

THE COURT:  Mr. Perez.

MR. PEREZ:  Yes, Your Honor.  We've all conferred,
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and I concur with counsel here as well.

THE COURT:  All right.  And what's the government's

reply?

MR. MYHRE:  The government's response is, Your Honor,

those answers are not inconsistent with what's been reported

here.  What's been reported here is not that she was subject to

a crime, or was the victim of a crime, or that she's even

afraid of firearms or not afraid of firearms.

All that's reported here is a quote, which query the

accuracy of the quote, but that until you've had a gun pointed

at you, you don't know what you're likely to do.  None of those

are -- they are responsive. 

In fact, it's a true -- it's true and accurately

recorded, which we don't know, is inconsistent or contradicts

or contravenes the answers given in the jury questionnaire.

So, there's no -- we -- we've skipped about five

steps of logic here to get to the point that this person said

this.  Now we're at mistrial.  They lied.  There's a whole

bunch of intervening steps there.

Is, A, was it said, first of all.  B, when it was

said, does it contradict the answers given in the

questionnaire?  Based on this, it doesn't.

So, for those reasons, we don't think there's any

issue here that requires a mistrial.  There is no evidence that

this juror was less than forthright during voir dire or during
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answering the questioning -- answering the questionnaires that

were provided.

There would also have to be an issue based on cause,

which this -- that doesn't go to cause.  It may be the basis

for a peremptory challenge, but it wouldn't be the basis for

requiring the juror to be excused for cause.

That is if that response -- if the response in the

questionnaire was "I had a gun pointed at me," that would not

be the basis for challenging the juror for cause.  It may be

some other reason they want to exercise peremptory.  But the

bottom line here is that there's no evidence that this juror

was less than forthright in his or her answers to the

questionnaire.

MR. MARCHESE:  And, Your Honor, we can only go off of

what the information --

THE COURT:  All right.  Now, I understand.  I'm going

to have jury -- Juror No. 6 come in so I can question her.

Let's talk about now Jury Note No. 144.

MR. MYHRE:  Again, Your Honor, with respect to the

first part of that question of 144, we would suggest that the

Court respond that working within the court system or being

married to a court security officer does not create a conflict

of interest for a juror, to the extent that there's a response

required for number one.

For number two, again, we would refer the jurors
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again to Nos. 1 and 37 of the jury instructions.  To go beyond

that, as to which way a juror is voting or to explain the

position for voting, again, would reveal the deliberations and

would require the Court to -- to inquire into the juror

deliberations.

There's nothing wrong with a juror taking a position

during voting, and that is not to be revealed, especially

during the deliberation process.  And also, the -- there's

nothing from question two that suggests that the juror has

either failed to deliberate or refuses to deliberate.

The question posed by number two here is whether or

not she needs to reveal the basis for her vote.  Again, it's --

that's not -- that's not exclusive of deliberations and would

require the Court to actually delve into the juror

deliberations to go beyond what's represented here on the

second part of question 144.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Leventhal, do you want to

go first?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Yes, Judge.  I just would note that

sort of the semantics of this indicates the juror has stated

three times that she works within the court system.  That's not

past tense.  That's not she worked.  It's she works.

And that becomes an issue based upon the

questionnaires.  We asked all of the jurors if they've any

involvement, and I think we had Judge Koppe's clerk was here.
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We asked everybody, "Have you" -- I know we had a city

attorney's wife here.

We asked everybody if they are working, and that

response would counter to what anyone else said.  If she had

worked in the court system, that's a different answer.  Or if

her husband did, I would agree with Mr. Myhre, but it says here

that she said three times that she works, meaning she's doing

it now.

And nowhere on any of our questionnaires did we get

that response.  Because, obviously, that would go into if

you're working in the state court -- I mean, the three of us

appear in the state court routinely.  I think that

Mr. Marchese, Mr. Tanasi, and myself, and Mr. Perez, we all

are -- we know the state court judges very well.  And so that

would obviously be a question; if they work in the back; what

position they are in.

And, so, if there's -- that's my problem with it is

whether she works now currently or if this was in the past.

The rest of it, I agree with Mr. Myhre that I don't know one

way or another.  This is -- it does not indicate which way or

doesn't have any indication on where she's at.

So, my only issue is if she's working within the

courts, what is her capacity, and why didn't she tell us what

her capacity within the court system is if she's currently

doing that.  But to suggest that we're asking, you know, which
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way she's leaning, that's not what we're asking for.  The

second paragraph has no bearing on my analysis of -- for the

first paragraph.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anyone else want to add?

MR. MARCHESE:  No, Your Honor.  I would concur with

what Mr. Leventhal just said.

MR. PEREZ:  Your Honor, just --

MR. TANASI:  I would join as well, Your Honor.

MR. PEREZ:  -- one question with respect to "is not

open to any discussion."  I'm wondering if that's just doesn't

want to deliberate, I mean, which would certainly be an issue.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, Jury Instruction No. 7

does state that each of you must decide the case yourself, but

you should do so only after you've considered all the evidence,

discussed it fully with the other jurors, and listened to the

views of your fellow jurors.

So, I agree that referencing that might be helpful to

just remind them.  So, I agree that we should bring these two

jurors in to see if the person who sent us these jury notes --

as the government points out, whoever that may be, because we

don't know, because they are not signed, so we don't know if

someone's being truthful about what they have heard or whether

they are making trouble.

But, in any case, I think that it's necessary for the

record that we do question these two jurors to determine
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whether or not these claims -- these allegations about them are

true or not.

So, Aaron, if you'll please ask Juror No. -- let's

see -- 6.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Your Honor, before we bring them

back, I just -- I'd like the Court to be aware that we've asked

the jurors to bring to the Court's attention anything that, you

know, may have happened outside of deliberations.

And obviously, the first question happened outside.

So, we just -- the Court has asked the jurors to go ahead, and

if anything happens or if anything's said or anyone reaches

out, that we ask them to do this.

So, I just remind the Court that that's what we ask

of the jurors to do this, to bring that to the Court's

attention one way or another.  And so if something's being done

outside of deliberations or making statements, then that's --

that's what we ask of them.  It's in the jury instructions to

do so.

MR. MYHRE:  And we also ask them to identify who they

are by their signature.  And just these random notes, I think,

are violative of those instructions.

But, Your Honor, with respect to the -- just so I --

I'm on -- I understand for 144 for Juror No. 9, I guess are we

just simply asking as to whether the person works in the court

system or not?  Because I don't -- I don't recall that being
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asked specifically during voir dire or even the jury

questionnaire, where someone, if they worked in the court

system or not.  That's --

THE COURT:  In the questionnaire, it did ask where

they were employed or how they were employed, where they were

employed.  And then also, if they were retired, what was their

last employment.  And likewise for the spouse, where was your

spouse -- where does your spouse work.  And if your spouse is

retired, what was their last employment.

MR. MYHRE:  So, I guess my question was, is that what

we're going to ask Juror No. 9?

THE COURT:  Yeah, I was doing No. 6 first.

MR. MYHRE:  Oh, I'm sorry.

THE COURT:  But, yes.  That would be -- we'll get to

that.

MR. MYHRE:  I apologize, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Yes, that's what we want to know is

whether or not she works within the court system as represented

by the person who wrote this jury note.

So, it sounds like we might be putting the cart

before the horse.  But sounds like what the government is

saying -- and you tell me if I'm understanding your position

correctly, because I think it's multifaceted here -- is that

first you want the juror who provided these notes to sign the

jury note; is that correct?
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MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And I'm referring to Jury Instruction

No. 40, which is titled "Communication with Court."  And says,

"If it becomes necessary during your deliberations to

communicate with me, you may send a note through the court

security officer signed by any one or more of you.  No member

of the jury should ever attempt to communicate with me except

by a signed writing," and so forth.

So, that was the instruction that they are supposed

to sign it, and this was not signed.  So, I guess to be clear,

what I'll do is have Aaron take these two notes back folded.

By the way, they were folded.  So, take the two notes back

folded to our security officer who is guarding the door of the

deliberation room, and just ask him to provide it to them and

say, "If you want the judge to consider these notes, you need

to sign them consistent with Jury Instruction No. 40."

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  And again, if it was just one, then

I -- then I would understand it.  But if it was more than one,

that's sort of what the jury -- the -- what the --

THE COURT:  Well, there are two notes, but they are

both typed, and they have written in ink -- I guess it's ink --

the numbers of the jurors that they are referring to with the

same color pen and such.  So, I was --
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MR. LEVENTHAL:  Well --

THE COURT:  -- because of the formatting and the font

and all that, I was assuming they were more likely than not

written by the same person, even though there's two notes.

But, you know, we're just not going to know until we ask.

So --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Right.  And so -- and I would note

that 144 starts out "We the jury.  We the jury."  So, if Aaron

goes back and says "Who wrote this," the --

THE COURT:  That's not what he's going to say.  He's

going to say, "If you want the judge to consider this, then it

needs to be signed consistent with Jury Instruction No. 40."

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Okay.

THE COURT:  Which, by the way, says "signed by any

one or more of you."  And I'm not going to have him read it,

but they can read it themselves.  And also, I don't want to put

him in the position of paraphrasing.  You know, we want them to

actually read the instruction, so that they get word for word

what we agreed is the correct instruction.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  So, we will do that.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Do you want to go

ahead and show it to counsel?  We'll make you a copy, but for

now so you can see.
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(Pause in the proceedings.)

THE COURT:  All right.  Thanks.

Now, Aaron, you're going to get your exercise.  Can

you please ask Juror No. 6 to join us.  And if I could also

have you tell them that the judge says they need to pause their

deliberations while Juror No. 6 is gone.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  They are currently on a

break, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Great.  Okay.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

(Juror No. 6 entered the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  All right.  Everyone may be seated.  We

are joined by Juror No. 6.  Good afternoon.

I just have a couple of questions for you that have

come up.  And I've discussed some things with the attorneys,

and we have some questions that we can't answer without asking

you.

So, we are not trying to embarrass you.  We just need

to find out some information from you, so that we know what

action we can -- need to consider and whether or not to take

that.

So, my first question is, have you been a victim of a

crime?

JUROR NO. 6:  Not directly.  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  And are you afraid of
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firearms?

JUROR NO. 6:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, when you say that you've

not been a victim of a crime, have you had a firearm pointed at

you?

JUROR NO. 6:  As a child.

THE COURT:  Okay.

JUROR NO. 6:  But -- but right now, I mean, it's not

going to necessarily affect what my opinion would be at this

point.  I think I just overstepped and misspoke when I should

have not said anything.

THE COURT:  Okay.  When you say that -- that when you

were a child, that there was a firearm pointed at you, was

anyone charged or any -- anything come of that?

JUROR NO. 6:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  I think that answers the

questions that we have.  Thank you very much.

JUROR NO. 6:  Okay.  Like I said, I lost my temper,

and I didn't mean to, because it was a personal thing that

should not have ever have been.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh.

(Juror No. 6 left the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  All right.  Could we have you bring Juror

No. 9?
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COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

(Juror No. 9 entered the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  All right.  Everyone may be seated.

Good afternoon to Juror No. 9.  Back in your old seat

there.  Okay.  So, we've got a couple questions for you,

because some issues have come up, and I'm trying to decide what

to do.  The attorneys and I have some questions.

So, we need to ask you regarding your current

employment.  So, where do you currently work?

JUROR NO. 9:  I'm retired.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And what was your last position?

JUROR NO. 9:  I was a senior claims manager.

THE REPORTER:  Hold the microphone like this.

JUROR NO. 9:  I was a senior claims manager for a

large commercial insurance company.

THE COURT:  All right.  And have you ever worked in

the court system?

JUROR NO. 9:  Yes, I was a worker's comp legal

secretary for a judge in California.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, would that be like an

administrative law judge or what kind of a judge?

JUROR NO. 9:  Administrative law.
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THE COURT:  You said that was in California.

JUROR NO. 9:  Yes.

THE COURT:  California.  How long ago was that?

JUROR NO. 9:  Let's see.  I left that job in the year

2000.

THE COURT:  And how long did you hold that job?

JUROR NO. 9:  18 and half years.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I think that answers our question.

Thank you very much.  You can go ahead and be excused, and the

jury may go ahead and continue its deliberation, Aaron.

(Juror No. 9 left the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, as to Juror Note No. 143,

does anyone have anything else you wanted to add?

MR. MYHRE:  Just, Your Honor, that her responses in

the -- to the Court's inquiry, again, shows nothing

inconsistent with what she revealed on her jury questionnaire.

She's consistent, forthright, and does not form a basis for

either a mistrial or to relieve the juror for -- for cause.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Defense wish to be heard?

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I think it -- it just

provides additional grounds for the defense original motion.

I -- again, I know she said that maybe it wasn't pointed

directly at her, but the question was "Have you or has anyone

closely associated with you been a victim of a crime involving

a firearm?"  
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You know, having a firearm pointed as you, as

Mr. Marchese pointed out, is a crime.  That's what this case is

almost entirely premised on.  So, had we known that and had we

had the chance to dig in deeper, we probably would have struck

her for cause.  Strike that.  We would have struck her for

cause or at least moved.

And with respect -- can we move on to number 144 yet,

Your Honor?

THE COURT:  No, let's do one at a time.

MR. TANASI:  Okay.

MR. MARCHESE:  And if I may, just briefly, just chime

in.  In reference to our thoughts, you know, I agree with

everything Mr. Tanasi said.  But, in addition, clearly she's

personalizing it.  She said "As a child."  I don't know, you

know, at what age this event transpired.  But, you know, she's

obviously a little bit older.

So, obviously, this event, whatever happened, however

many years ago, she is still holding it with her.  So just the

fact that whether she says things out of emotion or whatnot, I

think that there's clearly still something there.  She still

remembers it, and I believe that it impairs her ability to be a

fair and impartial juror.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  And I would agree.  I -- I don't know

if it would have gotten to the level of for cause, but

certainly we would have utilized one of our peremptory
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challenges on her without a question.

MR. PEREZ:  It concerns me, Your Honor, with respect

to her saying, you know, "I showed my anger."  I mean, you

know, I'm sure that the debate can be pretty heated at times,

but to be angry for something for so -- you know, that she may

have been harboring for years is concerning to me.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, the Court is satisfied

that Juror No. 6 has provided truthful answers.  She explained

that she was not a victim of a crime, that there was no crime

charged, and she was young.  That she is not afraid of

firearms.  And therefore, the answers that she's previously

provided do not appear to be untruthful.

So, as to the response to Jury Note No. 143, the

question is whether there is a concern because of her husband's

job.  And I'll note for the record that the juror who signed

the note mischaracterizes the position of the juror as being

the same as the jury security officer, which is not what she

said during voir dire.  But it's a common mistake for someone

who is not involved in the court system to sort of lump

everyone together and think that everybody works for the

courts, and, therefore, is in the same position.

So, I think the appropriate response here would be to

say "The employment of jurors and their spouses were disclosed

during voir dire, was known by the parties, and no concerns

were raised," and just leave it at that, so that kind of covers

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 23 - 26

everybody.

And for the second part of the question about whether

or not there's the ability to draw on life experiences, the

commentary to the Ninth Circuit Model Jury Instruction 3.8

regarding direct and circumstantial evidence specifically says

that the Court should consider giving this language, which we

didn't give, and maybe, you know, would have been helpful, but

is not a required part of the language, which is that jurors

are to consider all the evidence in light of reason,

experience, and common sense.

So, I think that is the second part that I will add

to that response, is that in reference to Jury Instruction

No. 27, in our case, which is direct and circumstantial

evidence defined, the response would be that evidence may be

direct or circumstantial.  Jurors must consider all the

evidence in light of reason, experience, and common sense, and

then have them refer to that Jury Instruction No. 27.

Another applicable jury instruction would be No. 32,

which states, "In deciding the credibility of witnesses, you

may take into account," and it lists several factors.  And the

eighth factor says, "any other factors that bear on

believability."  So, I'm going to include that in the reference

to Jury Instruction 32 being factor number eight.

All right.  So then for Jury Note No. 144, what's the

government's position there?  I think we stated already before
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that the position of an employer or employment, but here the

question is someone who works within the court system.  And the

juror stated that she did not work currently.  I think -- I

don't remember if it was Mr. Leventhal or Mr. Perez who pointed

out that the way that the Jury Note No. 44 [sic] was styled

said -- claimed that Juror No. 9 had stated three times that

she works within the court system, grammatically indicating

current time period as opposed to in the past.

But Juror No. 9 has come into court and stated that

she does not currently work in the court system, and that

before this, she worked as a claims manager in an insurance

company.  Senior -- senior claims manager in an insurance

company.  And that she did work in the court system from

2000 -- the year 2000 -- well, that doesn't make sense, does

it?  

She said from the year 2000 and for 18 and half

years, so that would mean 2018 and a half.  This is 2017.  So,

she might have been very nervous.  But regardless, she worked

in the court system as a legal secretary for an administrative

law judge handling Workmen's Compensation cases in California.

And that was not a question that, you know, she was

required to disclose in the voir dire.  The voir dire asked

"Where do you work now, and if you have been retired, what was

your last job?"

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor.  And it's the
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government's position that there's nothing, again, inconsistent

in her answers or contradicted by her answers in her

questionnaire.  And with respect to, as the Court notes, this

juror questionnaire states that she -- that the juror stated

currently works in the court system.  And as the juror

indicated, she's retired currently, and her last place of

employment had nothing to do with the court system.  It was --

she had worked for an administrative law judge up to the year

2000, so it was 18 years ago, 17 and half years ago, whatever.

So, again, nothing false in her responses.  Nothing

to indicate she's been less than completely forthright with the

Court.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  We would -- we would agree with that,

that her answers were clear that it was 18 years ago.  So, the

only suggestion that I think the defense would make is that --

I'm not sure which jury instruction it is, but it's duty to

deliberate would be addressing the second paragraph.

The first paragraph we are satisfied that she -- it

wouldn't have been a question.  And I don't even think it would

have been something that had she even answered that, something

that would have fell on our radar to peremptory or -- so, we

have no problem with that given her answer.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, I agree that as to Jury

Note No. 144, my response will be to -- and it's numbered, you

know, number one and two -- two questions on Jury Note No. 144.
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So, the first question on 144, I will respond with --

well, do you want me to point out the mistake in the assumption

by the juror that she doesn't currently work there, or do we

just -- do you want me to just say it's not a conflict of

interest merely because a juror currently works or may have

worked in the past in the court system?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I'm not sure even answering that

question is necessary other than just the duty to deliberate,

getting on to the second one, because clearly this person

either got it wrong or heard something or maybe she said it

and -- because it indicates -- it says it was said three times.

So, maybe she's saying it back there that -- that she

works, and it's done three times.  So, I don't want to call

anybody out on it.  So, maybe if we just -- I don't think it's

necessary to answer that question on whether or not she does or

she doesn't, because she said she doesn't.  That's fine.  And

just go on to the second question and just a duty to

deliberate.  Because it's not just one time.

THE COURT:  Well, the Court's concern is that if this

juror believes that Juror No. 9 has a conflict of interest,

they might use that as an excuse to not listen to her or, you

know, sort of dismiss her opinion instead of everybody, you

know, listening to everyone with an open mind, and either

agreeing or disagreeing based on whether it's a logical

argument or not, as opposed to just because they think that
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someone has a conflict of interest when we all know they don't.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Right.

THE COURT:  So, that was my reason for thinking we

probably should address it, so that it goes away, so that it

doesn't interfere with their ability to deliberate and have

a -- otherwise, if I don't address it, I'm afraid there's a

lingering question there whether or not there's a conflict of

interest.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  That's --

THE COURT:  Although maybe they would know that since

we didn't kick her off the jury, that there must not be a

conflict of interest?  I guess it could go either way.

MR. MYHRE:  And our inquiry is I -- I understood it

was different from what this juror's inquiry was.  The inquiry

here is whether working in the court system creates a conflict

of interest, not whether the juror answered the question during

voir dire in an untruthful manner.

So, I -- I would go back to our original suggestion,

perhaps, Your Honor, saying either working within the court

system does not create a conflict of interest for a juror.  And

that -- that answers the specific question there without

getting into the separate inquiry that the Court has made as to

whether there was something untoward during voir dire said.

THE COURT:  All right.  And so my thought was I could

have the same response as the other one.  The employment of a
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juror or a juror's spouse does not --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  By itself does not create the

conflict.

THE COURT:  A conflict of interest does not arise

merely because a juror or their spouse works in the court

system, or something to that effect.  So I think that's what

I'll do.

And then for the second part of the question, asking

about whether or not jurors need to explain their position, I

think it's appropriate just to have them refer to Jury

Instruction No. 37, which specifically says, "Each of you must

decide the case for yourself, but you should do so only after

you have considered all the evidence, discussed it fully with

the other jurors and listened to the views of your fellow

jurors."

So, that's referring back to Mr. Perez and his

concern that there might be a question as to what the duty to

deliberate really means, and the -- the requirement that they

need to discuss and listen.

So, those will be the -- those are the answers that

I'll provide, and then counsel will have a copy of those

answers as well.  And then we'll have you stay on call -- you

don't have to stay here, but I mean Aaron will let you know

what time they leave if they decide -- it's what, 2:30 now?

So, I think 4:00 is what they've been doing.
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COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  4:00?

THE COURT:  If they leave before 4:00, Aaron will

call to let you know.  Or if they decide to stay past 4:00,

we'll let you know, too.  Okay?

MR. TANASI:  Thank you.

MR. MARCHESE:  Thank you.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Thank you.

(Recess, 2:36 p.m.)

--oOo-- 

COURT REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE 

 

I, KATHERINE EISMANN, Official Court Reporter, United 

States District Court, District of Nevada, Las Vegas, Nevada, 

certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript from the 

record of proceedings in the above-entitled matter.  

 

Date:  August 22, 2017. 

                             /s/ Katherine Eismann 
 
                             Katherine Eismann, CSR CRR RDR 

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 24 - 1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA  
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )
                            )   Case No. 2:16-cr-00046-GMN-PAL 

Plaintiff,        )  
                            )   Las Vegas, Nevada 

vs.  )   August 22, 2017 
 )   2:20 p.m. 

ERIC J. PARKER (11), O. )
SCOTT DREXLER(12), RICHARD )
LOVELIEN (13), and STEVEN A. )
STEWART (14), )

 )    
          Defendants.       )   Day 24 
____________________________) 
 

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS 
BEFORE THE HONORABLE GLORIA M. NAVARRO 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT CHIEF JUDGE, AND A JURY 

 

APPEARANCES: 

For the Government:  
 
STEVEN W. MYHRE, AUSA 
ERIN M. CREEGAN, SAUSA 
NADIA JANJUA AHMED, AUSA 
United States Attorney's Office 
District of Nevada 
501 Las Vegas Boulevard South, Suite 1100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 
Appearances continued on next page. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Court Reporter:  Katherine Eismann, CSR, CRR, RDR 

       (702)431-1919 ke@nvd.uscourts.gov 
 
Proceedings reported by machine shorthand, transcript produced 
by computer-aided transcription.   

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 24 - 2

APPEARANCES CONTINUED: 

For the Defendant Eric J. Parker (11): 
 

JESS R. MARCHESE, ESQ. 
Law Office of Jess R. Marchese 
601 South Las Vegas Boulevard 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
marcheselaw@msn.com 

 
For the Defendant O. SCOTT DREXLER (12):  
 

TODD M. LEVENTHAL, ESQ. 
Leventhal and Associates 
626 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
leventhalandassociatescmecf@gmail.com 

 
For the Defendant Richard Lovelien (13): 
 

SHAWN R. PEREZ, ESQ. 
Law Office of Shawn R. Perez 
626 South Third Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
shawn711@msn.com 

 
For the Defendant Steven A. Stewart (14): 
 

RICHARD E. TANASI, ESQ. 
601 South Seventh Street, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
rtanasi@tanasilaw.com 
 

Also present:   
 

Sharon Gavin, Special Agent FBI 
Joel Willis, Special Agent FBI 
Chris Allen, Bureau of Land Management 
Mike Abercrombi, FBI 
Mamie Ott 
Nona Dodson 
Brian Glynn 

 

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 24 - 3

(Tuesday, August 22, 2017, 2:20 p.m.) 

--oOo-- 

P R O C E E D I N G S 

(Jury out.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  This is time set for jury

trial in Case No. 2:16-cr-046-GMN-PAL, United States of America

versus Eric Parker, O. Scott Drexler, Ricky Lovelien, and

Steven Stewart.

Counsel, please make your appearances.

MR. MYHRE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Steven

Myhre, Erin Creegan, and Nadia Ahmed on behalf of the United

States.

THE COURT:  Good morning.  I'm sorry.  Good

afternoon.

MR. TANASI:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Rich Tanasi

for Steven Stewart who is present.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. MARCHESE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Jess

Marchese on behalf of the Eric Parker.  

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Todd

Leventhal on behalf of Scott Drexler.

MR. PEREZ:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Shawn Perez
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on behalf of Ricky Lovelien.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.  All right.  Well, we

have received a jury note.  I believe, Aaron, this is No. 145.

Is that right?

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, this is Jury Note No.

145.  It's not a question.  It's a statement.  So, I did want

to get together with the parties to find out if you think that

there's any need to respond.  

Generally, we respond to jury notes, but generally

they are questions.  This is not a question, but obviously they

wanted us to know this.

So, what is the government's position?

MR. MYHRE:  Your Honor, our position is, is that it

would prompt further inquiry as to whether they are, in fact,

deadlocked, or whether they've reached partial verdicts as to

some defendants as to some counts.

THE COURT:  And what's the defense position,

Mr. Tanasi or Mr. Marchese?

MR. TANASI:  Court's indulgence, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sure.  Whoever wants to go first.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I think, at this point, we

would ask for the Allen charge.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, you want me to ask -- you
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want me to give an Allen charge before they say they are

deadlocked, or you want me to ask if they have deadlocked

and if they say "Yes," give them an Allen charge?

MR. TANASI:  Yes, Your Honor.  

MR. MARCHESE:  Yes, Your Honor.

MR. TANASI:  I jumped to the conclusion, and I

apologize.  Yes.

THE COURT:  I know what you are doing, and I think

that that's reasonable, in light of everything, of all of our

experiences, not just with this case but in many cases, that

the note seems to indicate that's the direction, but they don't

actually say that.

So, I'm trying to be careful in jumping too far ahead

without making sure why it is that they are sending us this

note.  So, you know, they do have the right to know there's a

partial verdict.  We don't usually include it in the -- in

the -- you know, the original set of instructions, because we

don't want to encourage them from trying to deliberate on all

counts.

But, Rule 31 is clear, and the law is clear that they

do have the right to be made aware of their options, and that a

partial verdict is an option.  But they also need to be made

aware of what a partial verdict means, and that it's not just

something that they temporarily filled out, a placeholder,

tentatively, but rather that it is a real verdict, an
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irrevocable verdict.

So, I think that would probably be the best way, you

know, baby steps.  I think maybe if I called them in and just

make them aware of that option, and then let them know that

they should go back and continue discussions until they decide

that it's necessary to send another note.  Because they are not

telling us that they do have a verdict.  They are saying they

haven't been able -- they are not done yet.

Does that mean they want to go past 5:00?  You know,

we could read a whole lot of things into this note.  It's very,

very vague and scant.

So, is there anything else you want me to ask them

when they -- when we bring them in, so that they are aware that

we are not ignoring them, because that was also my concern is

if we don't respond -- don't want to be -- don't want to be

rude about it, but I don't want to put things into their head

either.

So, I think just -- that's what I'm inclined to do is

just let them know what their option is and leave it at that,

and let them figure it out.  Or do you think that that's not

enough?  That we need to -- they are not saying they are

deadlocked.  They might be.  They might not be.  They are not

saying they are.

Do we want to give them that word or not?

MR. MYHRE:  Your Honor, the government's position is
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they wrote it for a reason.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. MYHRE:  And, so, I think we don't know, based on

what this says here, what the precise and full meaning is about

what they wrote.  So, I think the inquiry that the Court has

initially indicated, I think, would be appropriate at this

time.

I don't think -- if we are going to take it in

increments, that's fine.  But I think we need to ask whether

this -- if they are telling us that they are deadlocked as to

all counts or if they -- if they intend to further deliberate.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, the inference from this

jury note seems to be that they do have verdicts and have

reached unanimous decisions on something.  I don't know if --

it doesn't say whether it's on just a particular count, or a

particular defendant, or a particular question that -- it

just -- so, other than just making the jury aware of their

option to return a partial verdict, is there anything else that

defense wants me to say or not say?

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, again, I -- I think it's

obviously a fine line here, and so I don't think anything more

than that.  I would still go back to our original request which

would be just for the Allen charge at this point.

I understand the Court's ruling and wanting to go

that -- go the avenue of letting them know, essentially, that a
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partial verdict is an option.  But again, I think it's -- it

can be read a couple different ways, so that's the issue.

THE COURT:  Well, and by -- by making the option

known to them, I'm certainly not saying that that rules out an

Allen charge.  If -- if they do say that they want to return a

partial verdict, you know, in another note later, we can

certainly discuss what that -- you know, what we want to do

next.  

So then we would ask them as to the other counts

where you didn't provide a verdict, are you helplessly

deadlocked?  Is there anything we can do?  Is there any

instruction we can clarify, and make sure that they are really

hopelessly deadlocked, and, you know, unanimously don't want to

continue the deliberation?

I guess the question is whether there's a reasonable

probability that the jury can reach a unanimous verdict if sent

back to the jury room for further deliberation.

So, if the foreman says there's nothing else, and

then I ask each of the jurors is there anything, and they all

say, "No, we are done," then I could go into the Allen charge.

So, we could discuss that after -- you know, while

they are continuing their discussion after I just make them

aware of the option, the Rule 31 option and sort of leave it at

that.  Is that okay?  Anything else?

MR. TANASI:  Nothing from the defense, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  All right.  So, let's bring them in.

I'll make them aware, and then I'll let them retire back to the

room to continue discussions.

I think we all expect there will be another note, but

we are not going to tell them what we think they are thinking,

because we don't want to plant that seed.  We want them to tell

us what they are thinking.

(Jury in.)

THE COURT:  The jury may go ahead and be seated and

everyone else may be seated as well.

All right.  We do have a jury note that we received.

This is Jury Note No. 145, and it is signed and dated.  It is

not a question.  It's a statement.  So, I didn't provide a

response in writing, because, as I say, it's not a question.

So, I did meet with counsel.  We discussed the jury

note.  And I think it's an appropriate time to make the jury

aware of an option that you do have.

I want to make it clear that I am not encouraging you

nor discouraging you from using this option, but you can be

made aware that pursuant to Rule 31 of the Criminal Rules of

Civil -- of Criminal Procedure, the jury may return a partial

verdict.  

If there are multiple defendants, the jury may return

a verdict at any time during its deliberations as to any

defendant about whom it has agreed; or, when there are multiple
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counts, if the jury cannot agree as to all counts as to any

defendant, the jury may return a verdict on those counts in

which it has agreed or any combination thereof.

So, that is an option that you have.  I'm going to

dismiss you and ask you to continue your deliberations and

discussions, and if you want to send out another note, you are

welcome to.  But I think that's the extent of what we're going

to be addressing at this point.

All right?  So, thank you for coming in.  We'll go

ahead and excuse you.

(Jury out.)

THE COURT:  All right.  We are still on the record,

but the jury has left the courtroom.  So, I noticed one of the

jurors did have the verdict envelope, the manila envelope that

says "verdict" on it, and then has a little -- it's like a

pocket, really.  Well, it's like an envelope pocket.

One of the jurors carried that in, so maybe they

thought they were going to be rendering a verdict.  But I think

it's safer this way for them to let us know if they have a

verdict.  Because -- the Jury Note 145 doesn't say they have a

verdict.  It certainly implies that, but they don't actually

say it.

So, in light of the fact that they did bring --

someone did bring out the envelope, I think it's appropriate

for us to consider whether or not we want to provide an Allen
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charge, if they come back and say, "We're deadlocked."  Either

all the way, they are deadlocked on everything, or deadlocked

on some things but have a partial verdict on another.

So, do you want to take some time to think about this

or do you want to discuss it now?

MR. TANASI:  Court's indulgence, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sure.  The Deadlock Jury Instruction in

the Ninth Circuit Model Jury Instructions is number 7.7.  If

you don't have it, I can read it.  It's the same one that we

always use, and I don't modify it.  I just give the model.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, the CSO says that the

jury asked if they could have 15 minutes.  They can have all

the time they want, you can tell them.  I think we are all in

agreement with that.  I think they weren't clear about how long

they are supposed to take, but they can have as much time as

they want.

(Recess 2:35 p.m.  Resumed 3:05 p.m.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Another jury note.

THE COURT:  146.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  146, yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  We do have another note.

It's No. 146.  I'm going to go ahead and give to it Aaron so

that he can share it with counsel.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  I will run and make copies,
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Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we are on record, and we

have received a jury note that I have numbered 146

sequentially.  And I believe that both counsel now have

received copies and all the defense counsel have received

copies.  Is that right?

MR. TANASI:  That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, the jury does wish to

render a partial verdict.  Therefore, the next question that I

have for you is whether you agree or disagree or have another

suggestion as to how we should proceed.

I can ask them -- well, I can receive the -- the

special verdict, announce it, and then ask them, without

telling me how they stand numerically, whether there is

anything else that the Court can do to assist them in their

deliberation process.  

Whether there's any clarification of an instruction

or a further instruction and so forth, and if -- these

questions are directed to the foreman and the foreperson, and

if the foreperson says that there's nothing else we can do, I

can ask, "Does that mean you are hopelessly deadlocked?"  If

the foreperson says "Yes," I can ask, "Is there a reasonable

probability that the jury can reach a unanimous verdict if I
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send you back to the jury room to deliberate?"

And if the foreman says, "No," then I can poll the

jurors individually to see if they feel that there is a

reasonable probability that the jury could reach a unanimous

verdict if they were given more time to deliberate.

And then if they say "No" -- obviously, if anyone

says "Yes, I think more time would be helpful," then we would

let them have more time.  But if -- if nobody thinks more time

would be helpful, then I can either provide an Allen charge, or

I can balance the factors and determine whether a mistrial

should be ordered.

So, what are the parties' positions as to these

options or any other options you want to suggest?

MR. MYHRE:  Your Honor, the government would concur

with the Court's option to take the partial and then determine

whether the -- as to the remaining charges, they are

deadlocked, and then give an Allen charge if they indicate that

they are deadlocked.

THE COURT:  All right.  And what's the defense

position?  

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I --

THE COURT:  You each can have a different position.

You don't have to have the same position.  I keep referring to

the defense and looking at Mr. Tanasi, because he's always

looking at me and ready to respond.  But, obviously, you don't
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have to respond with a unified voice.  You can have different

ideas.

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor, I think that the use of the

word "believe" would lend itself to maybe Your Honor asking if

they need more time; right?  

Because I don't think they have even come in and said

conclusively, "We have a partial verdict, and we are ready to

give it."  There's still we believe that's what we can do.  So,

I think giving them more time short of giving them more

instruction is the way to go at this point.

THE COURT:  Mr. Marchese, agree, disagree, or another

option?

MR. MARCHESE:  No, I'd agree with that statement,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Mr. Leventhal?

MR. PEREZ:  And I would as well, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  Mr. Perez.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  And I would as well.  And just the

Court indicated that it would ask each of the jurors where they

were or if that, in fact, they were deadlocked, or not --

THE COURT:  No.  No.  Just the opposite.  

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Not the word deadlocked.

THE COURT:  That I would make sure that they not tell

me how they stand numerically on any count as to any -- no

numbers.  Nothing like that.  Just "Yes" or "No."  Do you think
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more time would be helpful, is essentially what I'm asking.  

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I misspoke.  I apologize.  But

then -- but then the Court indicated that after that, the Court

would then give them the Allen charge, which seems sort of

fruitless to me.

THE COURT:  No, if they said more time would be

helpful, then I just let them go back and have as much time as

they want.  If they say, "No, more time would not be

helpful" --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Then the Court would weigh --

THE COURT:  -- meaning that they're deadlocked, then

I could either give an Allen charge, or I could determine

whether a mistrial should be ordered.

So, if nobody wants an Allen charge, I don't have to

give an Allen charge.  If you want an Allen charge, I'm willing

to consider an Allen charge.

MR. TANASI:  Mr. Stewart's not requesting an Allen

charge at this time, Your Honor.

MR. PEREZ:  Mr. Lovelien neither.

THE COURT:  Is or is not?

MR. PEREZEZ:  Is not.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MARCHESE:  Mr. Parker is not asking for an Allen

charge.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I would agree.  We are not requesting
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an Allen charge at this time.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And does the government still wish

to have an Allen charge in light of the fact that the defense

is no longer requesting an Allen charge?  

I know Mr. Tanasi earlier said that he was, but they

are not asking for one now.  So, does the government want an

Allen charge or not?

MR. MYHRE:  Yes, Your Honor, we would.  If the

Court's taking the partial verdict, as to the remainder of the

charges, we would still wish for an Allen charge.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well --

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I see no point to take a partial

verdict if we are going to give an Allen charge.  That's my

issue.  If we are going to give them the Allen charge, then

give them the Allen charge, and tell them to go back there, and

read the language to them, which I believe is already

incorporated in the jury instructions at this point, but that's

either here nor there.

But if the Court's going to take a partial verdict

and then, after that, find out whether or not they are

hopelessly deadlocked on the -- on the rest, I don't see the

need to do an Allen charge at this point either.

So, I think there's two options there.  I'm just not

sure which one the Court needs to follow or just becomes -- to

take a partial and then to give an Allen charge seems a waste
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of time.

THE COURT:  All right.  Well, in reviewing all the

options that we think we have, the Court is not inclined to

give an Allen charge if the defense is not going to be

requesting it.

I'll let you know that I have written down -- I

doublechecked some facts here for you.  If the verdicts that

they do have unanimously entered into the verdict form -- and,

of course, as always, I will first read the verdict form.  Then

I will individually poll them -- if they are for an acquittal

as to one or any of the defendants on all charges, or if they

are for an acquittal on the defendants with no verdict on the

remaining charges -- in other words, no convictions -- then as

to the defendants, I am going to set a detention hearing,

assuming that the -- that the defense makes a motion pursuant

to Title 18 of the United States Code, Section 3142(f), for a

reopening of the detention hearing.

It does state -- I swore I had that -- in the very,

very last section -- very last sentence of paragraph (f) as in

Frank, "The hearing may be reopened" -- referring to the

detention hearing -- "before or after a determination by the

judicial officer at any time before trial if the judicial

officer finds that information exists that was not known to the

movant at the time of the hearing and that has a material

bearing on the issue whether there are conditions of release
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that will reasonably assure the appearance of such person as

required and the safety of any other person and the community."

So, the determining factor there for me to even

entertain reopening the detention hearing would be the factor

in Section (g) of that same statute, 18, USC 3142.  And one of

those factors is (g)(2), the weight of the evidence against the

person.  

And obviously, I would hear argument about any of the

other factors as well, but that would be the reason why I would

go ahead and set the hearing.  It could be as early as tomorrow

or at the defense convenience if you want to provide written

information.  

So, if the jury does come back with a partial verdict

that does include convictions for any one or more of the

defendants, then we will set a sentencing date for any of the

convictions that are returned as guilty verdicts.

As for any verdicts that cannot be rendered, if they

are hopelessly deadlocked, which it appears is the case because

of the partial verdict that they wish to return -- if they

indicate that they could use more time in determining the

remaining counts, I will obviously let them do that.

If they say that they are deadlocked and they cannot

reach a verdict on the remaining counts, then the Court needs

to determine whether manifest necessity exists to terminate the

proceedings and order a mistrial, or do the ends of justice --
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public justice, would they otherwise be defeated.

So, the considerations include the jurors' opinions

that they cannot agree.  So, obviously, that's the first thing

is to ask them whether or not they think they need more time.

Also, the length of the deliberation.  Up until now,

it has been a few hours on Tuesday, after closing, and then

three full days, with a weekend in the middle of there.  So,

not counting that weekend, but three actual full days of

deliberation and then today half a day of deliberation, maybe a

little more considering it's already 3:00 p.m.

And I also have to consider the length of the trial,

which, in this case, has been 24 trial days.  That does include

the two days of voir dire, so it's really more like 23.  No one

was here for the full 24.  They were all here for the 23,

because they either came in on day number one or day number two

but not both.  

And the complexity of the issues presented to the

jury.  With four defendants, 10 counts, there's a minimum of 40

different verdicts, minimum that they have to enter, because if

there's a guilty verdict on any of those, then there's other

questions that are asked.

And the Court is also considering the effects of

possible exhaustion or any coercive effect on the jurors to

continue the deliberation process.  We have been in trial for

full days as opposed to half days, so it's been full days from
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9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., which is eight hours of trial time.

The jury is here also during lunch, which is brought in for

them, and, you know, those eight hours don't count traffic time

and travel time and such downtown.

So, that is a considerable amount of time to be in

trial all day long, more than 20 days, and to have almost four

full days of deliberation with a restful weekend in between.

It still is clear to the Court that there would exist manifest

necessity to terminate the trial and that the ends of justice

would be met by declaring a mistrial if the jury is deadlocked

on any remaining counts.

Now, if -- okay.  So, those are the -- if we've got

some -- so, we'll set the 3142 hearing if there are some counts

for a defendant that are mistrialed, with either all of them

mistrialed or some mistrialed and some acquittal.  If there's

any convictions, then we set a sentencing date.

If there are acquittals across the board, which means

that there's no remaining counts, so there would be no reason

to reset for a trial date, then I would vacate the detention

orders.  And they are for Mr. Parker, the detention order from

Idaho is number 117 on the docket.  I know there's over 2,000

documents on the docket.  

So, for Mr. Parker, it's number 117.  For

Mr. Drexler, it's number 585.  For Mr. Lovelien, the detention

order from Oklahoma is number 100, and for Mr. Stewart, the
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detention order is number 232.

So, obviously, you could make that motion if it's

appropriate, and I'll grant it, but I wanted to make sure

everybody was on the same page for what all the options appear

to be.

All right.  Let's bring the jury in.  I'll go ahead

and read their partial -- well, I will ask them -- I will ask

the foreperson when he wrote the word "believe" in that note,

does that mean that there is a verdict, a partial verdict that

they want me to accept, or did the word believe mean they want

more time.

MR. TANASI:  That's my read of it, Your Honor, is

that they would need more time.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, let's go ahead and ask them

that.  And, obviously, if they say, "No, we don't need more

time.  We want you to read it," then I will go ahead and read

it.

MR. TANASI:  Okay.  Thank you.

(Jury in.)

THE COURT:  The jury may go ahead and be seated.

Everyone else may be seated as well.

All right.  So, we're on the record in the presence

of the jury, and the jury has returned a note that we have

numbered numerically as No. 146.  And it does state that they

have revisited the issues and believe that we wish to render a
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partial verdict.

So, my question is to the foreman, which I think is

Juror No. 11?  When you use the word "believe," that you

believe that we wish to render a partial verdict, remember.

You're talking to a bunch of lawyers; right?

FOREPERSON:  Sorry.

THE COURT:  So, we just want to make sure.  Does that

mean you do want me to read and enter and accept a partial

verdict, or that you want to continue to consider the option of

a partial verdict?

FOREPERSON:  We want you to read, render, and record

the verdict as we have it.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you very much, sir, for the

clarification.

FOREPERSON:  Sorry.

THE COURT:  That's all right.  So, we'll go ahead

then and have you pass up the partial verdict.  I will read it

into the record.

After I read the verdict, I'm going to ask the

foreman if this is a correct reading of the verdict, and then I

will poll each of you -- do you have a microphone?  I will poll

each of you to tell me whether or not this is your verdict.

And I'll just ask you by number, "Juror No. 1, is this your

verdict?"  And you say "Yes" or "No."

All right.  So, the verdict form in the case of
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16-cr-46, United States of America versus O. Scott Drexler,

Ricky R. Lovelien, Eric J. Parker, and Steven A. Stewart.  

"Verdict.  

"We, the jury, in the above-entitled case, upon our

oaths, do say:  

"As to Count One of the superseding indictment

charging conspiracy to commit an offense against the United

States, we, the jury, unanimously find as to:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.

"As to Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.

"As to Eric J. Parker, not guilty.

"And as to Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"As to Count Two of the superseding indictment

charging conspiracy to impede or injure a federal officer, we,

the jury, unanimously find as to:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.

"As to Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.

"As to Eric J. Parker, not guilty.

"And as to Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"And as to Count Five of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of assault on a federal officer, we, the jury,

unanimously find the Defendant:  

"O. Scott Drexler," and then it's blank on both of

the -- there's a line for guilty and not guilty, and both of
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those are blank.

"For Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"For Eric J. Parker, no verdict.

"And for Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"As to Count Six of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of use and carry of a firearm during and in relation

to a crime of violence, which is Count Five, assault on a

federal officer, we, the jury, unanimously find as to:  

"O. Scott Drexler, no verdict.

"As to Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.

"As to Eric J. Parker, no verdict.

"And as to Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"As to Count Eight of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of threatening a federal law enforcement officer,

we, the jury, unanimously find the defendant:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.

"Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.

"Eric J. Parker, no verdict.

"And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"Then as to Count Nine of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of use and carry of a firearm during and in relation

to a crime of violence, Count Eight, threatening a federal law
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enforcement officer, we, the jury, unanimously find as to:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.  

"As to Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"As to Eric J. Parker, no verdict.  

"And as to Stewart A." -- I'm sorry.  "Steven A.

Stewart, not guilty.

"Count Twelve.  As to Count Twelve of the superseding

indictment charging that the defendants committed or aided and

abetted the commission of obstruction of the due administration

of justice, we, the jury, unanimously find the defendant:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.  

"Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"Eric J. Parker, not guilty.

"And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"Count Fourteen of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of interference with interstate commerce by

extortion, we, the jury, unanimously find the defendant:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.  

"Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"Eric J. Parker, not guilty.  

"And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"As to Count Fifteen of the superseding indictment

charging that the defendants committed or aided and abetted the

commission of use and carry of a firearm, during and in
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relation to a crime of violence, Count Fourteen, interference

with interstate commerce by extortion, we, the jury,

unanimously find as to:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.  

"As to Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"As to Eric J. Parker, not guilty.  

"And as to Steven A. Stewart, not guilty."

And last, "Count Sixteen.  As to Count Sixteen of the

superseding indictment charging that the defendants committed

or aided and abetted the commission of interstate travel in aid

of extortion, we, the jury, unanimously find the defendants:  

"O. Scott Drexler, not guilty.  

"Ricky R. Lovelien, not guilty.  

"Eric J. Parker, not guilty.  

"And Steven A. Stewart, not guilty.

"So say we all.  Dated this 22nd day of August 2017

and signed by the jury foreperson."

So, first of all, Mr. Foreperson, did I read that

correctly?  Is this your verdict, sir?

FOREPERSON:  You did, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  And now let's go ahead and

poll the jury starting with Juror No. 1.

All right.  Juror No. 1, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 1:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Juror No. 2, is this your
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verdict?

JUROR NO. 2:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 3, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 3:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Juror No. 4, is this your

verdict?

JUROR NO. 4:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Juror No. 5, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 5:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Juror No. 6, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 6:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 7, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 7:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 8, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 8:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Bring it down to No. 9, please.

Juror No. 9, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 9:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 10, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 10:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 11, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 11:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Juror No. 12, is this your verdict?

JUROR NO. 12:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you very much.  We are
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going to ask you to hold on for a minute.  I do need to enter

an order here, and then you are invited to stay if you'd like

to.  You don't have to.  This would terminate your jury

service, and you're excused if you want to.

But if you do wish to stay, you are invited to stay

and meet with myself and the attorneys in the case, in the back

room, or one of those back rooms back there somewhere, so that

quietly you can ask us any questions you have.  The attorneys

can ask you any questions you have -- they have.  

If there's anything you do not want to discuss, you

don't have to.  If there's anything you want to ask, you are

free now finally to discuss the case, not only amongst

yourselves, but with everyone.

Likewise, I will provide to you in the mail an

evaluation form with a different page for each attorney and a

page for the staff and a page for the facility.  There will be

an envelope that is self-addressed with the postage on it, with

stamps on it.

All you need to do is fill it out, put it in the

envelope, and mail it.  You don't need to give me your name if

you don't want to, and it just helps us to know how we're doing

with the facility, the food, my staff.  The attorneys like the

feedback as well, constructive criticism, good or bad.  Believe

me, they -- they appreciate it very much to know anything that

you want to share confidentially.
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I only provide the one page to each attorney that

refers to them.  So, the one page that asks about Mr. Tanasi

will only go to Mr. Tanasi.  The one page that asks about

Miss Ahmed, will only go to Miss Ahmed.  So, they will only

receive information about themselves.  So, be honest is what

I'm saying.  Feel free to be honest about anything you want to

say.

All right.  So, Aaron, help me here, because I think

that Mr. Lovelien was all unanimously not guilty, but --

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  That's correct, Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  -- I want to make sure I am right.  

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  That's correct, Your Honor,

as well Mr. Stewart.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, the Court does vacate

then Mr. Lovelien's detention order.  Number 100 is vacated.

And as to Mr. Stewart, number 232 is also vacated.

And as previously discussed with counsel, I did find

a setting for a hearing that we can discuss in moment.  So, I

do need to ask you about the remaining counts that were blank

where there's no verdict.

So, for Juror No. 11 -- does he have the microphone?

I'm sorry.

FOREPERSON:  I probably have a loud enough voice,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  You probably do, but I don't think it
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will be recorded, so let's just get you the microphone.  There

you go.

FOREPERSON:  Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, is there anything else

that the Court can do for you to assist the jury in

deliberations so that you may render a verdict on the remaining

counts?

FOREPERSON:  I do not believe so, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And would an additional instruction

assist you in your deliberations?

FOREPERSON:  I do not believe so, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And would additional clarification of a

preexisting instruction assist you?

FOREPERSON:  I do not believe so, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And in your opinion, is the jury then

hopelessly deadlocked as to the remaining counts?

FOREPERSON:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And is there a reasonable probability

that the jury can reach a unanimous verdict if sent back to the

jury room for further deliberation?

FOREPERSON:  There is not, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Now, I do need to poll the

jurors individually again, and I'm not asking you for how you

stand numerically.  Please do not tell me any other information

than "yes" or "no" in response to this.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



Vol. 24 - 31

All right.  So, Juror No. 1, do you feel that there

is a reasonable probability that the jury can reach a unanimous

verdict if I sent you back to the jury room for further

deliberations?

JUROR NO. 1:  No, I do not, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

Juror No. 2, do you feel there is a reasonable

probability that the jury can reach a unanimous verdict if I

permit you to continue deliberations?

JUROR NO. 2:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Juror No. 3, do you feel that there is a reasonable

probability that the jury may continue?

JUROR NO. 3:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Juror No. 4, same question.

JUROR NO. 4:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.

Juror No. 5, same question?

JUROR NO. 5:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Juror No. 6?

JUROR NO. 6:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 7?

JUROR NO. 7:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 8?

JUROR NO. 8:  No.
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THE COURT:  Bring the microphone back down to No. 9.

Juror No. 9?

JUROR NO. 9:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

Juror No. 10?

JUROR NO. 10:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Juror No. 11?

JUROR NO. 11:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  And Juror No. 12?

JUROR NO. 12:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  So, as to Mr. Drexler, the

remaining Counts No. Five and Six, the Court does enter a

mistrial as to those counts.

And as for Mr. Parker, the remaining counts are Five,

Six, Eight, and Nine, and the Court does enter a mistrial as to

those remaining counts.

Aaron, do you have a date for me -- well, I guess I

should first ask as to Mr. Drexler and Mr. Parker, is there a

motion to be made?

MR. TANASI:  Yes, Your Honor.  As to Mr. Parker, we

would make a motion to reopen his detention hearing.

THE COURT:  All right.  And do you have a

suggested -- can we do it tomorrow morning or do you want to do

it today?

MR. MARCHESE:  I would imagine, without asking him, I
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think he would like it as soon as possible.

THE COURT:  All right.  And Mr. Leventhal?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Yes, Your Honor.  The same on behalf

of Mr. Drexler.  We would like to reopen his detention hearing,

and today would be great.

THE COURT:  Is the government ready to proceed today

or tomorrow morning?  What is your preference?

MR. MYHRE:  Our preference would be tomorrow morning,

Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  I'm going to go ahead and

reopen the detention hearing with a temporary order that

Mr. Drexler and Mr. Parker are to be released to the halfway

house until tomorrow morning.

So then tomorrow morning, we can have the detention

hearing.  I don't think that it's necessary for them to be

taken back to Pahrump tonight, although they probably need to

go back and get their things, but I will let the attorneys

figure out the details, but we will have the detention hearing

first thing tomorrow morning.

Aaron, do you have a --

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Time for tomorrow, Your

Honor?

THE COURT:  Yes.  I do need to get a pretrial release

updated report, but I don't expect there will be anything

different, because they'll be in custody.  I could set this for
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the magistrate judge, but I don't see any point in doing that,

because I was here and not the magistrate judge.

So, I'm sorry.  What time did you say?  9:00 a.m.?

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Tomorrow, Your Honor, we

can do 9:30 a.m. for Mr. Parker and 10:30 a.m. tomorrow for

Mr. Drexler.

THE COURT:  All right.  So 9:30 and 10:30.

Mr. Parker at 9:30 and Mr. Drexler at 10:30.  And does that

date and time work for you, Mr. Leventhal?

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Mr. Marchese.

MR. MARCHESE:  I will make it work.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  I assume the Court doesn't need

anything in writing, since they have been in detention all this

time.  Nothing is changed from the first detention; is that

correct?

THE COURT:  I don't require anything in writing, but

I'm sure I'll need to hear some argument.  But I am releasing

them to the halfway house until tomorrow morning, for them to

be brought into court, and then I'll consider, at that time,

what conditions or set of conditions could be fashioned for

them to be released to pretrial supervision.

As counsel is well aware, because these folks are

from out of town, they may not be eligible to leave first thing

tomorrow from the halfway house.  There might need to be a home
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visit conducted by the pretrial service in their home state and

so forth, and you know the way that that works.

But you can at least tonight start getting those

things in motion and contacting the pretrial office -- officer

who's assigned to this case, so that they can begin phone

calls, and checking on whatever they need to check on, and

contacting their counterpart in the other districts so that

that person can start checking on their background.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Very good.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Is that clear enough?  I mean, I

am not trying to be vague.

MR. MARCHESE:  No, it's fine.  I think it's something

we are probably just going to have to coordinate with the

marshals.  We'll figure it out.

THE COURT:  Well, I don't know how much you have to

coordinate with the marshals.  I think you need to coordinate

with the pretrial office.

MR. MARCHESE:  Well, that, too.  I just meant getting

them to the halfway house.

THE COURT:  The pretrial office is the one that has

the contract, though, for the beds, so that they would need to

make the arrangements and call and do that.  

Right, Aaron?  I mean, am I --

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Do you know offhand who is the pretrial
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officer who is assigned?

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  I don't.  I'm trying to get

in touch with pretrial as we speak.

THE COURT:  Yeah.  All right.  So that will be the

order.  And obviously, it's a different situation for each

defendant, because it depends on where you are living and all

these other considerations.  It's not always the same pretrial

officer either.  So, we will try to get that information for

you as soon as possible.

All right.  So, I think that that concludes our

hearing for today.  Anything else that I forgot to mention?

I mean, obviously, a judgment of acquittal is entered

for Mr. Lovelien and for Mr. Stewart.  Anything else?

Well, and a judgment of acquittal on the counts that

Mr. Drexler and Mr. Drexler were -- Parker and Drexler.

Anything else?

MR. MYHRE:  Nothing from the government, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, we are going --

MR. TANASI:  Your Honor.  

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Yes.

MR. TANASI:  Overabundance of caution.  

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. TANASI:  You did vacate 232; correct?

THE COURT:  I did.  232, yes.

MR. TANASI:  Thank you.
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THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So, we are going to go

ahead and recess.  And I do invite the jury to stay if you want

to.  Like I said, if you don't want to, you don't have to.  But

we do appreciate it.  You've provided us with a lot of time and

attention and patience, so don't feel obligated, but we would

really like it if you could stay.

And with that, we'll go ahead and recess.  And

counsel, you do what you need to do, but if you can join us in

the back room, you are welcome to do that.  It's just for

counsel.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Your Honor, one last point.

The alternates are also excused; correct?

THE COURT:  Oh, yes.  So, Mike, I will order that the

alternates are excused and welcome to join us in the conference

room as well if they'd like to.

All right.  Thank you everybody.  And thank you to

the public.  You showed a very respectful amount of patience,

and I appreciate it.  I know it's an emotional case, but we

will -- I will leave it at that.  

So, thank you to everyone, and we are off record.

(Recess, 3:46 p.m.  Resumed 5:13 p.m.  Sandra Bustos,

Pretrial Services, present.)

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  All rise.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  You may be seated.

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  This is the time set for
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the hearing in Case No. 2:16-cr-046-GMN-PAL, United States of

America versus Eric Parker and O. Scott Drexler.  

Counsel, please make your appearances for the record.

MR. MYHRE:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Steven

Myhre, Erin Creegan, and Nadia Ahmed on behalf of the United

States.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. MARCHESE:  Good evening, Your Honor.  Jess

Marchese on behalf of Eric Parker.

THE COURT:  Good afternoon.

MR. LEVENTHAL:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Todd

Leventhal on behalf of Scott Drexler.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, I did order that the

defendant be released to the halfway house.  I am told that the

halfway house bed is not yet available, but it will be

available.  And when it is available, I need to say magic words

for it to be paid for by pretrial, so that it can be part of

the contract.

So, I am going to release both Mr. Parker and

Mr. Drexler on bond.  They are to reside at the halfway house

on lockdown and be subject to pretrial supervision.

I'm not going to order any conditions at this time,

but we will still have the hearing on for tomorrow morning.  

It was 9:30.  Was it Parker first?

COURTROOM ADMINISTRATOR:  Yes, Your Honor.
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THE COURT:  9:30 for Parker.  10:30 for Mr. Drexler.

Obviously, if anybody has an alternative place to stay, that

would be something that you should consider bringing up

tomorrow.  And please work with the pretrial office so that

they have an opportunity to have someone visit the location,

and make sure that it's adequate, and appropriate, and so

forth, and they can be a condition that would satisfy the

requirements.

All right.  So, that is the order.  Anything -- any

other magic words from the pretrial officer that I need to say

on the record?  

PRETRIAL SERVICES OFFICER:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  So, that will be the order.

We will see you back here tomorrow morning.  Thank you for your

patience.

MR. MARCHESE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

(Recess, 5:15 p.m.)  
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 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25


